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ADDRESSES AND PROCEEDINGS.

A BSprcraL MEerriNG of the Society was held in the Hall
on Monday evening, December 12, 1892, in memory of the
late Brinton Coxe, Esq., the President, Charles J. 8tillé,
LL.D,, in the chair. A large and sympathetic audience
was in attendance.

The President introduced David W. Sellers, Esq., who
read the following Memorial Address:

MR. PRESIDENT AND FELLOW-MEMBERS :

In receiving the invitation of ¢ The Council of the His-
torical Society of Pennsylvania” to deliver an address be-
fore the Society in memory of the late President, Mr.
Brinton Coxe, I recognized the desire to have personal and
civic worth recorded. The proof of noble and honorable
traits in the living has no better expression than the just
appreciation of honor and nobility in the departed, and in
the effort to portray the character of your late President I
shall hope to place in your archives a memento of one who
adorned every relation, and left this world better because
of his life.

You have justly said in the minute already passed,! that
you “mourn his loss as that of one who was not only a man
of wide culture, but of the highest honor and purity of

1 PENNSYLVANIA MAGAZINE, Vol. XVI. p. 871.
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character, a gentleman of unfailing liberality and courtesy,
a worthy representative of the Society in upholding the
purposes for which it was established, a trusted counsellor,
and a faithful friend.”

As the late President reflected in his life the qualities
and mental traits of an ancestry illustrious in their genera-
tion, a sketch of his lineage, with some quotations from
publications, now rare, applicable to them, will be appropri-
ate, as well for the consideration of his individuality as for
historical uses.

The first of his line who holds close relation to this country
was Dr. Daniel Coxe, of London. He became possessed in
1687, by purchase, of all the rights granted by the Duke
of York to Edward Byllinge, of government and property
in West New Jersey. In 1688 he yielded his claim to the
Crown. In 1691 he resumed it, and conveyed all his
rights to the West Jersey Society. In December, 1689, Dr.
Coxe received a grant of the Province of Carolana, in
North America, by conveyance and letters patent passed by
King William IIIL. in council of that date. To his eldest
son, also named Daniel,' he gave all his American posses-
gions. This gentleman was the first of the family who
resided in America, having arrived in New Jersey in 1702.

I believe one of the first suggestions of a union of
States, and of a plan for a general government for such
union, is found in & book edited by him, and published in
London in 1727, entitled ¢ A Description of the English
Province of Carolana, by the Spaniards called Florida, and
by the French La Louisiane, as also of the great and
famous river Meschacebe or Missisipi, the five vast naviga-
ble lakes of fresh water and the parts adjacent.” After

1 ¢ Memoir of Slater” and “ History of Manufactures,” second edition,
published in 1886, pp. 858, 859.
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speaking of colonial difficulties, and of constant perils from
the Indians and French, he says,—

“The only expedient I can at present think of, or shall
presume to mention (with the utmost deference to his
Majesty and his Ministers) to help and obviate these ab-
surdities and inconveniences, and apply a remedy to them,
is that all the colonies appertaining to the Crown of Great
Britain on the northern continent of America, be united
under a legal, regular, and firm establishment, over which
it is proposed a lieutenant, or supreme governour, may be
constituted and appointed to preside on the spot, to whom
the governours of each colony shall be subordinate.

“It is further humbly proposed, that two deputies shall
be annually elected by the council and assembly of each
province, who are to be in the nature of a great council or
general convention of the estates of the colonies; and by
the order, consent, or approbation of the lieutenant or
governour general shall meet together, consult and advise
for the good of the whole, settle and appoint particular
quotas, or proportions of money, men, provisions, &c., that
each respective government is to raise, for their mutual
defence and safety, as well, as, if necessary, for offence and
invasion of their enemies; in all which cases the governour
general or lieutenant is to have a negative, but not to enact
anything without their concurrence, or that of the majority
of them.

“The quota or proportion, as above allotted and charged
on each colony, may, nevertheless, be levied and raised by
its own assembly in such mannuer, as they shall judge most
easy and convenient, and the circumstances of their affairs
will permit.

¢ Other jurisdictions, powers, and authorities, respecting
the honour of his Majesty, the interest of the plantations,
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and the liberty and property of the proprietors, traders,
planters, and inhabitants in them, may be vested in and
cognizable by the above said governour general or lieuten-
ant, and grand convention of the estates, according to the
laws of England, but are not thought fit to be touched on,
or inserted here; this proposal being general, and with all
humility submitted to the consideration of our superiors,
who may improve, model, or reject it as they in their
wisdom shall judge proper.

¢ A coalition or union of this nature, tempered with and
grounded on prudence, moderation, and justice, and a
generous incouragement given to the labour, industry, and
good management of all sorts and conditions of persons
inbabiting, or any ways concerned or interested in the
several colonies above mentioned, will, in all probability,
lay a sure and lasting foundation of dominion strength and
trade, sufficient not only to secure and promote the pros-
perity of the plantations, but to revive and greatly increase
the late flourishing state and condition of Great Britain,
and thereby render it, once more, the envy and admiration
of its neighbours.

“Let us consider the fall of our ancestors, and grow
wise by their misfortunes. If the ancient Britons had been
united amongst themselves, the Romans, in all probability,
had never become their masters. For, as Ceesar observed
of them, ¢ Dum singuli pugnabant, universi vincebantur’—whilst
they fought in separate bodies, the whole island was sub-
dued. 8o if the English colonies in America were con-
solidated as one body and joined in one common interest,
as they are under one gracious sovereign, and with united
forces were ready and willing to act in concert, and assist
each other, they would be better enabled to provide for and
defend themselves against any troublesome ambitious neigh-~
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bour or bold invader. For union and concord increase and
establish strength and power, whilst division and discord
have the contrary effects.”

This plan® Franklin recommended to the convention at
Albany in 1754, for the purpose of forming a league with
the Six Nations, and after the independence of the colonies
has a very close rendering in the Articles of Confederation
and the Constitution of 1789.

Daniel Coxe married Sarah Eckley, a daughter of John
Eckley, a judge of the SBupreme Provincial Court of Penn-
sylvania. One of the children by this marriage was Wil-
liam Coxe, who married Mary, the daughter of Tench
Francis, Attorney-General of the Province of Pennsylvania.
Of this marriage Tench Coxe was born in Philadelphia, in
May, 1755.

Tench Coxe was a distinguished man of his time. He
was Assistant Secretary of the Treasury in 1789, under
Washington, and was appointed in 1792 Commissioner of
the Revenue of the United States. In 1794 he published
“ A View of the United States of America, in & series of
papers written at various times between the years 1787 and
1794.” This book is replete with information upon popu-
lation, agriculture, exports, imports, fisheries, navigation,
ship-building, and manufactures. In the ¢ Memoir of S8am-
uel Blater, the Father of American Manufactures,” edited
by George 8. White, the following reference to him is made
(page 856):

“The growth of cotton in the Southern States was an
original idea in the mind of Tench Coxe, who always said
that the manufacture of a redundant staple must be the
foundation of commerce and manufactures. Thus laying

1 Field’s “ Provincial Courts of New Jersey,” pp. 184-187. McMastér’s
- Life of Franklin” (American Men of Letters Series), p. 163.
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agriculture in its proper place, as the basis for manufactures
and commerce to build on; and not allowing it to be de-
pendent on contingencies.

“ Mr. Coxe was an harbinger of light on this subject: he
urged the subject with a force and energy peculiar to him-
self; always stating most explicitly that America was desti-
tute of a redundant staple. England had long nursed the
growth of wool; and it was their staple, the importance of

which their Chancellor was ever to remember by hisseat on

the woolsack. America has now produced an article which
has superseded the wool staple of England. . . . Before
a field of cotton was planted, and while we had nothing to
manufacture, but were obliged to import even the raw ma-
terial for their incipient measures in manufacture, Tench
Coxe, with the eye of a political economist, who understood
the true means of the wealth of nations, knew that the

growth of cogton would enrich the Bouth; that it would

give vigor and energy to the North; and that both East and
West would be mutually interested in the unity of agricul-
ture, commerce, and manufactures. These unite all the vast
resources which are combined in the vast capabilities of
various climes, and of the immense variety of the industry,
skill, and enterprise of mankind. . . . The writings now
extant of Tench Coxe prove, emphatically, that these were
his great and enlightened views as a statesman, who was
advocating principles that were to be the foundation of new
empires ; and of ameliorating the condition of mankind.
It is not saying too much when we claim for him the appel-
lation of The Father of the Growth of Cotton in America.”
Tench Coxe married Rebecca, daughter of Charles Coxe,
of New Jersey. Of this marriage Charles Sidney Coxe was
born in July, 1791. He was admitted to the Bar of Phila-
delphia in 1812. In 1826 he was appointed a judge of the

-~

- —
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District Court for the City and County of Philadelphia, and
reappointed in 1882. 'While in this position he delivered,
in 1830, a judgment in the case of Torlade vs. Barozzo, sus-
taining the privileges of a diplomatic officer, which has be-
come an accepted authority.! In 1832 he married Ann M.
Brinton. At the expiration of his commission, in 1885, he
retired from the practice of his profession and devoted his
time to the cultivation of letters and the management of his
estate, which was perhaps the largest in anthracite coal held
in private ownership. During his life he was noted for his
profuse hospitality and his charity. He died at a ripe age,
leaving surviving several children, of whom the eldest was
Brinton Coxe, who was born in Philadelphia, August 3,
18838.

After the usual preparation, the subject of our memoir
entered the Freshman class of the University of Pennsyl-
vania in 1848, and graduated in the July commencement of
1852, with the B. A. degree and fifth honor, delivering an
oration on ¢ Garrick.” He was the eighth of his name and
blood claiming the same Alma Mater.

On May 81, 1852, he became a student of law, under the
direction of the most accomplished of preceptors, the late
Judge John Cadwalader, and was admitted to the Bar on
May 80, 1855. In the following July he received the de-
gree of M. A.

During this period he was a close student and evinced in-
terest in topics of political economy and history, which (as
has been shown) were inherited traits.

Bhortly after his admission to the Bar he went to Europe,
and there was engaged in researches which he utilized in
subsequent writings. In 1857 he writes from Paris to a
friend in Philadelphia,—

11 Miles, 366.
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“ Mr. Coxe was an harbinger of light on this subject: he
urged the subject with a force and energy peculiar to him-
self; always stating most explicitly that America was desti-
tute of a redundant staple. England had long nursed the
growth of wool ; and it was their staple, the importance of
which their Chancellor was ever to remember by his seat on
the woolsack. America has now produced an article which °
has superseded the wool staple of England. . .. Before
a field of cotton was planted, and while we had nothing to
manufacture, but were obliged to import even the raw ma-
terial for their incipient measures in manufacture, Tench
Coxe, with the eye of a political economist, who understood
the true means of the wealth of nations, knew that the
growth of cotton would enrich the South; that it would
give vigor and energy to the North; and that both East and
West would be mutually interested in the unity of agricul-
ture, commerce, and manufactures. These unite all the vast
resources which are combined in the vast capabilities of
various climes, and of the immense variety of the industry,
skill, and enterprise of mankind. . . . The writings now
extant of Tench Coxe prove, emphatically, that these were
his great and enlightened views as a statesman, who was
advocating principles that were to be the foundation of new
empires ; and of ameliorating the condition of mankind.
It is not saying too much when we claim for him the appel-
lation of The Father of the Growth of Cotton in America.”

Tench Coxe married Rebecca, daughter of Charles Coxe,
of New Jersey. Of this marriage Charles Sidney Coxe was
born in July, 1791. He was admitted to the Bar of Phila-
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District Court for the City and County of Philadelphia, and
reappointed in 1882. While in this position he delivered,
in 1830, & judgment in the case of Torlade vs. Barozzo, sus-
taining the privileges of a diplomatic officer, which has be-
come an accepted authority.! In 1832 he married Ann M.
Brinton. At the expiration of his commission, in 1885, he
retired from the practice of his profession and devoted his
time to the cultivation of letters and the management of his
estate, which was perhaps the largest in anthracite coal held
in private ownership. During his life he was noted for his
profuse hospitality and his charity. He died at a ripe age,
leaving surviving several children, of whom the eldest was
Brinton Coxe, who was born in Philadelphia, August 3,
1888.

After the usual preparation, the subject of our memoir
entered the Freshman class of the University of Pennsyl-
vania in 1848, and graduated in the July commencement of
1852, with the B. A. degree and fifth honor, delivering an
oration on ¢ Garrick.” He was the eighth of his name and
blood claiming the same Alma Mater.

On May 81, 1852, he became a student of law, under the
direction of the most accomplished of preceptors, the late
Judge John Cadwalader, and was admitted to the Bar on
May 30, 1855. In the following July he received the de-
gree of M. A.

During this period he was a close student and evinced in-
terest in topics of political economy and history, which (as
has been shown) were inherited traits.

Shortly after his admission to the Bar he went to Europe,
and there was engaged in researches which he utilized in
subsequent writings. In 1857 he writes from Paris to a
friend in Philadelphia,—

11 Miles, 366.
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“I spent some four months in Central and Southern Italy,
and am satisfied that it is the most memorable portion of
my tour abroad. The contrast between America and Italy
is greater than that between America and any other Eu-
ropean country. Old ideas and influences dominate in Italy
to an extent that is not approached in any other land.
The spirit of modern times has hardly an existence there.
Besides this, Italy is the land of art in a sense in which you
can assert that there is no art in any other country. It
is the fashion to say, America is much behind all other
countries in art. This is not true, for in the first place
America contains innumerable lovers of the beautiful, and
the American school of sculpture is one of the most prom-
ising. Anmerica, it is true, is far behind Italy, but is so just
as England and France are. The fact is, painting and
sculpture are mere hot-house plants outside of Italy, and
the non-Italian schools are mere colonies from Italy. You
must not include Germany in my remarks, which I shall
speak of to you when I gothere. Its exclusion from pres-
ent consideration will not interfere with the general accu-
racy of my remarks, as it is but special circumstances that
its consideration would affect.”

After referring to some social and political matters, he
concludes,—

“ God bless you and keep you to serve your country,—the
country which my travels teach me is the land where human
greatness, human good, and human truth are most devel-
oped and developing, which promises to do more than any
other for the glory of God and the good of man.”

In 1862, Carl Giiterbock, professor of law in the Uni-
versity of Konigsberg, published his work on ¢ Bracton.”
This was translated by Coxe in 1866, and in the preface he
remarks,—
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“ Bracton’s relation to the Roman law has long been
considered a question of much importance. In 1787, Mr.
Reeves expressed the opinion that it should be thoroughly
investigated by some competent jurist. Although a ques-
tion constantly recurring, it, however, remained in England
unsolved, and even 8o recent a writer as Professor Maine
holds Bracton’s relation to the Roman law to be among the
most hopeless enigmas of jurisprudence. The investigation
of Bracton’s relation to the Roman law has, however, at
length been undertaken by Dr. Giiterbock, one of the su-
perior judges of the Btadt-Gericht of Konigsberg, and
professor of law in the university of that city; and the
translator has felt that an English version of the work of
a jurist so eminently qualified was called for.

¢« It is proper to call attention to the difference in motives
which have impelled the author and translator to their re-
spective tasks. The former entitles his work a ¢ Contribu-
tion to the History of the Roman Law in the Middle Ages,’
and the purpose of his investigation is to throw light upon
the mediseval history of the doctrine and dogmas of the
Roman law. The object, however, with which the transla-
tion has been made is to add to the sources of information
concerning the history of the English law.”

This translation, and the notes, are a marvellous instance
of labor and research. 8o much so, that Sir Travers Twiss,
the erudite editor of “In the Chronicles and Memorials of
Great Britain and Ireland during the Middle Ages, pub-
lished under the Direction of the Master of the Rolls,” in
1878, in acknowledging the sources of his information of
Bracton, remarks, page xxv., Vol. I.,—

“ Professor @iiterbock’s work has been translated into
English, from the German, by Mr. Brinton Coxe, of Phila-
delphia, who has appended some valuable notes from his
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own pen in addition to those from the pen of the learned
professor.”

This reference, alone, places Coxe upon the list of juridi-
cal writers shedding honor on our State.!

Thereafter Coxe was constant to his studies in politics,
jurisprudence, and history. He gathered sterling books on
the original sources on these subjects, his library being rare,
full, and various. A bibliopole, who had acted for him
many times in the purchase of books, lately remarked that
he was distinct from all others he had ever known, in that
he never sought the facetie of letters.

In October, 1872, he was married to Maria Middleton
Fisher, at 8t. Peter’s Church of this city, by the now Bishop
of Michigan.? This lady was a daughter of the late Joshua
Francis Fisher, a gentleman well known to all lovers of let-
ters, and a former Vice-President of this Society.

The late George Sharswood, afterwards Chief-Justice of
our State, about 1861 instituted a club for the study of po-
litical economy. The writings of Smith, Ricardo, Mill,
Walker, and others were read and discussed fortnightly at
the houses of its members. Coxe became a member of
this in 1873, and was constant in his attendance up to the
last year of his life. He would usually show at these meet-
ings a reading upon the topic of the evening, and his dis-
cussion was always earnest and accurate. His mind was
receptive of the suggestions of others, and he was pleased
to have an old view on rent and prices shown in a new
light. Accompanying this culture of abstract principles, he
made application of them to the measures in our Congress
which divided the passions, the interests, and the intellect
of our people,—on our legal-tender notes, our customs for

1 And see further reference in Vol. IL. Introduction, p. Ixxxvii. |
? Rev. Thomas F. Davies,
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the sake of protection and of revenue, and of bimetallic
standards in money. Indeed, he has left several volumes of
manuseript notes, the outgrowth of his reflections upon
political economy.

In October, 1870, he read before the American Social
Science Association a paper claiming to be “a condensed
but faithful review of the treatise of the eminent German
publicist, Von Mohl, upon the different modes of filling the
offices of the civil service.””! This paper of twenty-one
octavo pages will fully repay the citizen interested in this
question, which may now be considered a most absorbing
one, if the tone of official life is to be maintained on an
elevated plane. In this his power to condense the views of
a foreign writer for use in his own land is apt, and his re-
flections are interspersed in harmony with the author, and
with a lofty appreciation of the advantages and disad-
vantages arising upon the different modes of official
tenure.

He was the first president of ¢ The Commonwealth Club,”
which was organized? in 1881 to ‘advance Democratic
principles.” He sought in this club to translate into party
action the highest ideals of its literature. In September,
1882, in a reception given by that club to its nominee for
Governor,® he impressively censured the exercise of political
power in creating districts for representation for party suc-
cess, viewing this as a tyranny of brute force and breeding
distrust in the law-making power. Just and true represen-
tation he held to be absolutely essential to good self-govern-
ment. Again, in January, 1884, at a reception given to the

1 Journal of Social Science, containing the Transactions of the Amer-
ican Association, No. 4, p. 74 (1871).

! Charter-Book of Philadelphia, No. 5, p. 389.

® Robert Emory Pattison.
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Hon. J. G. Carlisle, he expressed the hope that the power
to tax in Congress would be assimilated to like powers in
the States and cities, and that it should be limited to rais-
ing money for purely public purposes. He resigned in
December, 1886, and in acknowledging the expression of
regret made by its board, he said, ¢ I shall always treasure
it among my most valued records, among those which I
preserve for my children as well as for myself.”

He was elected a member of this Society on May 14,
1855, and, although he always manifested an interest in its
existence, it was not until 1880 that he showed a disposition
to take an active partin its management. His interest in his-
torical matters had been growing for several years, and when
the second part of the great collection of books relating
to America, made by George Brinley, Esq., of Hartford,
Connecticut, was offered for sale, he found the collection
contained a number of rare tracts relating to Pennsylvania
and New Jersey which had never come under his notice.
Mr. Brinley had left a certain sum of money to the Society
to be expended at the sale of his library, but Coxe felt that
the sum at its disposal was not sufficient to enable it to
secure some of the works that it should have, and if the
opportunity to acquire those was lost it would be years be-
fore another one would be offered. To accomplish this he
authorized the committee of the Society to largely increase
their bids at his expense, and insisted that high prices should
be offered for some lots that the committee had felt were
so valuable as to make it useless for them to compete for
them. 8o satisfied was he with what was purchased at this
sale, that he doubled the subscription for which he had
rendered himself liable, and from that time forward he was
a devoted friend of the Society. He frequently made valu-
able additions to its collection.
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When, in the winter of 1882 and 1883, the Society was
using every effort to secure the building it now occupies, he
put himself heart and soul into the work ; contributed him-
self munificently and encouraged others to do the same.
After he was elected President, in January, 1883, he made
its rooms a second home, and aided in every way in his
power to forward its objects. When in feeble health, noth-
ing appeared to distress him more than his inability to spend
the time he had been accustomed to do in its service, and
but few days passed while he was in the city that he did not
make the effort to call, if only for a few moments, to ask if
everything was going on as it should, or if he could be of
any assistance. But it was not by such devotion as this, or
by his contributions, that Mr. Coxe rendered his greatest
aid to the Society. It was the moral support he gave which
was 80 effective. If he felt that a thing should be done and
there was a fair prospect of its success, he did not hesitate
to assume the responsibility of guaranteeing its accomplish-
ment, and with his support, those intrusted with the execu-
tion of the task seldom failed in their object.

As a collector he professed not to care for first editions, but
no one has been more generous than he in gifts of this
character to the Society. The acquisition of the Tower
Collection caused him unbounded delight.

Manuscripts were always attractive to him, and their
collection and arrangement he always considered should be
one of the chief objects of this Society. Indeed, when we
consider how active a competition exists for the same books
among the numerous libraries, and how constant is their
duplication, it may be well for this Society to adopt his
thought in this, which was, that it should seek to acquire a
copy of every manuscript not published that applied to the

civilization of this continent, and so to arrange them that
2
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its museum would be the first, if not the only one, to which
the student should have recourse.

In this connection it may be well to mention two inci-
dents showing how thoroughly familiar he was with the
customs and proceedings of the English courts and offices
of record of the seventeenth century, a familiarity that en-
abled him to turn to the proper source where the informa-
tion he desired could be obtained. In studying the history
of West Jersey, in the settlement of which his ancestry
mentioned bore an important part, he noticed that the deed

-from Lord Berkeley to Fenwick was missing, and that it had
eluded the search of all the historians of the State. After
considering the matter, he sent word to his correspondent
in London to search the “ Close Rolls” for 1678 and 1674,
and almost the next steamer brought him a copy of the
longed-for document. 8o, too, it was with the charter of
New Albion. The evidence of the existence of that grant
was 80 slight, and the romance woven around it was so un-
real, that the whole matter had been looked upon as doubt-
ful. He, however, thought that such a grant had been
made, and ordered that the papers of the time of Charles I.,
in the public record office of Ireland, be searched, and from
that office in a few weeks he received a copy of the charter.!

We of the Historical Society may say of him, as he with
others said of the late Townsend Ward,? ¢ We perpetuate
the testimony of his long, able, and devoted service, with
gratitude for his deeds, and with affection and esteem for
his character. This hall of ours is devoted to the memory
of the past. When our successors here shall read this

! T am much indebted to Mr. F. D. Stone, Librarian of the Historical
Society, for the views expressed upon the connection of Mr. Coxe with
that Bociety.

3 PENNSYLVANIA MAGAZINE, Vol IX, p. 450.
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memorial, they will know that we cherish and ought to
cherish the memory of ”” [Brinton Coxe].

In the last ten years he had prepared for publication the
learned and wise judgments of his preceptor rendered while
judge. This will be a lasting monument to that great law-
yer. During the same time he prepared a manuscript which
he entitled, in his last illness, “ An essay on judicial power
and unconstitutional legislation.” This, when published,—
in its erudition, in its reasoning, in its original conception
and rendering,—will establish him as an author of whom our
State shall be proud, and one who shall give wide renown to
this city of his birth.

As an individual, he was the soul of uprightness and of
honor. Toleration of opinion revelled in his mind. To all
who aided others in their efforts to excel he gave the sym-
pathy of a generous admiration. No jealousy of others—
though possessed of similar tastes and acquirements—ever
was felt by him. Loyal to truth on all lines, he lived only
to be useful, and he had no fear except for ignorant and
unjust blame.

He died at Drifton, in Luzerne County, on the 15th of
September, 1892, and was buried in the church-yard of St.
Mary’s at Burlington, where the remains of his emigrant
ancestor repose. There, in a quiet spot, under a bending
willow, he awaits the solution of that mystery of being, as
to which the affections and the religions of all time and of
all races have created the hope that death is not the final
and only end, but the approach to an ever-improving and
blessed immortality.

Mr. Joseph G. Rosengartedsaid,—

Mr. President, in moving a vote of thanks to Mr. Sellers
for his able and eloquent memorial address, and that a copy
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be placed in the records of the Society and that it be printed
in its Proceedings, I feel that I am expressing the sense of
this large and sympathetic audience. Among them I see
some of those who with me were classmates of Mr. Coxe in
the University, so that our friendship is older even than that
of Mr. Sellers, for that began when they were fellow-stu-
dents in the law office of Judge Cadwalader. That learned
scholar was himself an example and inspiration for his
students, yet we who knew Mr. Coxe in his college days
anticipated his fauture achievements. Indeed, much as he
accomplished, it fell short of our reasonable expectations, for
continued ill health prevented his completing much of the
work he had begun, and even arrested his labor as an author
in many directions in which his studies had been exhaustive
and thorough and conscientious.

Mr. Coxe was essentially a student, living in retirement,
happy in his family, in his books, and in his congenial com-
panionship of those who shared his love of study and of
independent thought. His position as President of this
Society brought him at times before the public, yet his fre-
quent and generous benefactions to this Society and to other
institutions and associations were never known outside the
narrow circle of those immediately connected with their ad-
ministration. During the ten years of his office, his constant
care was to enrich the Historical Society by gifts and pur-
chases of the original material for history which he knew so
well how to use. Interested in local history by his descent
from a long line of distinguished men, he aimed at a very
high order of studies. His own contributions to legal and
historical literature were few, but that was largely due to
the lofty standard of excellence which he set for himself.
His edition of Giiterbock’s Bracton is full of that sugges-
tion of learning and knowledge which characterized every
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subject that he took in hand. The treatise on the Consti-
tution of the United States, which he leaves, will, I trust,
soon be published, for I am sure that it will gain him an
honorable place among those who have made that great
charter the subject of careful study. This large audience
testifies by its presence, better than any words of mine can,
the strong personal affection which Mr. Coxe inspired in all
who had the privilege of his friendship. Mr. Sellers has
told us not only what he did, but what he was, and the warm
sympathy which began in their student days is clearly mani-
fested in his admirable eulogy, tempered by that modesty
which characterized Mr. Coxe, so that even now it is difficult
to speak of him with that fulness of admiration which he
80 well deserved. The Historical Society was fortunate in
having Mr. Coxe for its President, and in having Mr. Sellers
to make up the record of his life and services, and I am sure
that his memorial address will bring home to all who heard
it and read it a better knowledge of Mr. Coxe and of his
services to learning and history.

John Samuel, Esq., said,—

I would be untrue to the memory of my friend, untrue to
myself, were I to remain silent on this occasion.

Mr. Horace Binney, in the opening paragraph of his ad-
dress, at the meeting of the Philadelphia Bar, on the death
of his eminent confrére, the late John Sergeant, declared
that “ This is the age of indiscriminate adulation.” If this
were true then, how much greater the evil is to-day, when
the whole vocabulary of commendation has been exhausted
over commonplace performances and worse than common-
place men! This habit has rendered difficult the recognition
and appreciation of solid worth, and has cheapened the
value of merited praise. No one was more in accord with
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Mr. Binney’s sentiment than your late President. He
thought that the magnifying and advertising of petty
achievements was an exhibition of ignorance, and tended
directly to an inferior culture. Respect, therefore, for him,
as well a8 my own inclination, leads me to be careful of the
language I shall employ in speaking of him.

Our late President was a man so distinct from the ordi-
nary crowd, so apart from ¢ the average man,” so idiosyn-
cratic, that it was impossible that an acquaintance with him
should not create a profound impression, and leave on those
who were associated with him a flavor of his very marked
individuality. His chief characteristic was an intense con-
scientiousness, and flowing out of and resulting therefrom
a most serious earnestness. This was so pronounced as, I
think, to make life for him, if not in some degree painful,
at leagt difficult. There were not enough trifles in his life.
Every action, every written, every spoken word had for him
some deep and solemn meaning. He found weight and im-
portance in circumstances and expressions that to many
would have been indifferent. To such an extent did this
habit of his mind affect him as to give sometimes an ap-
pearance of vehemence to his manner which was most
opposite to his quiet nature. He had in him in his views
of life something of the strain of the old Biblical prophets;
he took hardly the prevailing evils of his age, and felt, as
it were, a personal accusation against himself for their ex-
istence. In nothing was this trait of his mind more visible

than in its effect upon his studies. Special, and chiefest

among them, was the Constitution of the United States.
He revered the written words of that instrument with the
same absolute obedience that the children of Israel had to
the Ten Commandments. He habitually spoke of it as
they were directed to speak of the Tables of the Law,—
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‘“ when thou sittest in thine house, and when thou walkest
by the way, and when thou liest down, and when thou risest
up.” He had studied it from his early manhood to the
time of his death, continuously, persistently, and minutely.
He applied to it strictly the Horatian precept, *“ Nocturna
versare manu, versare diurna.” The best years of his life and
the best power of his intellect were given to its study and
to the study of the times and the men, and all that led up
to it and could illustrate it. His feeling towards it and its
authors was more than the result of an intellectual appre-
ciation of it. It was a passion; he was possessed of it, and
he mourned almost as a personal calamity whatever he
looked on as an impairment of its sacred obligation. What
he has left behind him on this subject will show how care-
ful, how exact, how laborious he has been in its study, and
his intense anxiety for the preservation of its powers and
limitations. He was versed in both the canon and civil
law, and his application of the decisions of those courts to
constitutional questions is original and curious.

Mr. Coxe’s general historical knowledge was large, and
his method of using it scientific. He was a comparative
historian, who strove to comprehend the effect of legislation
and social forces, in modern society, by the operation of
gimilar laws in the past. In the mere curiosities of his-
torical inquiry—those conundrums over which countless
students have puzzled, and whose solution as the evidence
becomes more indistinct becomes more difficult—he had
but slight interest. But he was deeply absorbed in those
apparently ordinary, but really fateful, occurrences which
mark the progress of civilization. “ Who was the man in
the iron mask ?”’ or ¢ Have we a Bourbon among us ?”” were
questions affording him a temporary diversion ; but Andrew
Hamilton arguing Zenger’s case, or the case of Trevett vs.
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Weeden, were vital performances whose contemplation en-
thralled him. In the by-paths of historical literature where
lurks the gossip of courtiers and valets, and in whose ob-
scure mazes are hidden those chronigues scandaleuses that re-
veal the unhistoric side of great personages, he wandered
carelessly. Mr. Sellers has mentioned the entire absence of
facetiee in his library. In his management of the affairs of
this Society he was guided by the same fastidious spirit.
On one occasion during his presidency he preferred to en-
counter some criticism, by urging the rejection of a prof-
fered trust, rather than subject the Society, no matter how
unjustly, to any imputation as to the manner of its acqui-
sition. He made no distinction between corporate and
individual honor, and would preserve the escutcheon of any
society with which he was connected, as untarnished as his
own.

80 much for that part of his character which is associ-
ated with our Society. This is not the time, nor here the
place, to dwell on those personal qualities which riveted to
him those who had his confidence. He is gone. Nothing
we can say can affect him now,—the most elaborate eulogy,
or the decorous platitudes of conventionality. Yet it may
not go uneaid that, so long as a deep love of humanity, a
searching intellect, a great purity and simplicity of heart,
an inflexible steadfastness of purpose, and noble aspirations
are to be considered worthy of admiration by men, so long
should the memory of Brinton Coxe be cherished.

President Stillé said,—

I am sure there is no friend of Mr. Coxe,in or out of the
Historical Society, who is not grateful to Mr. Sellers and
the other gentlemen who have spoken, for the admirable
delineation they have given us of our late President. I beg
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leave to tender to them, in the name of the Society, our sin-
cere thanks for the manner in which they have expressed
our feelings as well as their own.

The officers of the Society, however, cannot allow this
occasion to pass without saying a few words concerning Mr.
Coxe’s special relations to them during the past eight years.
We here ought to know something of his inner life, and we
cannot be silent, even if what we shall say may only be the
echoes of what has been already so well said of him.

Mr. Coxe led the ideal life of a scholar. He was not, in
the modern sense, a man of affairs. His pleasures were
wholly intellectual. He believed earnestly in principles
which he thought, at least, he had evolved by a strict pro-
cess of induction, and he earnestly strove to bring those
principles into the control of practical life.

He was a genuine historical student. He studied history
not to gratify the curiosity of an antiquarian, or to fill his
mind with pictures of the great deeds of illustrious heroes,
or even to ascertain how people lived, and thought, and
acted in past ages. His great purpose was to discover what
history teaches us which we ought to know for the guidance
of the present generation. All history to him was a great
drama; through the ages of which it tells the story “an
unfailing purpose ran.” To him it was truly « philosophy
teaching by examples.” Great historical events were to him
a wonderful evolution, whose truest and fittest expression
was to be found in our American institutions. To him
“ time’s noblest offspring was its last,” and he spent the best
years of his life in trying to prove that the traditions of the
past, and the teachings of the best political philosophy, were
united in the foundations of that system which our fathers
gave us.

1t is not easy to overestimate the quiet strength of such
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a man as Mr. Coxe, at the head of an institution like this.
No one ever welcomed with more heart-felt sincerity, or en-
couraged with more active help, any one among us who
showed any disposition or capacity for historical investiga-
tion. He knew the pretender by instinct, but every true
student had his unfailing support. He encouraged every
effort to bring before the public the lost or neglected por-
tions of our own provincial history, so full of practical
instruction to those who study it aright. His failing health
did not prevent his taking the liveliest interest in the series
of papers, which were read before the Society last winter,
on various topics connected with that provincial history. He
valued highly our Tower collection of colonial laws, one of
our recent gifts. No one rejoiced more than he at our ac-
quisition of those precious family manuscripts, which came
to us while he was President, some of them through his
direct agency. Like a true historian, he believed in going
to the original and contemporaneous documents for author-
ity. He felt what a rich material we were acquiring for
the historical student when the Poinsett papers, the Peters
papers, the Johnston papers, the Pemberton family papers
(now arranged in nearly one hundred volumes), and last,
and perhaps the most precious of all, the papers of General
Wayne, were placed in our care and keeping. He had a
full sense of the value of the records of the Lords Commis-
sioners of Trade and Plantations in England, a body charged
with the control and administration of colonial affairs while
we were subjects of the English crown. - Had he lived he
would have heartily supported a project which we have now
on foot, but which cannot be carried out just now for want
of funds, to secure copies of those papers in these English
records which refer to the history of Pennsylvania. May
I venture to suggest that there could be no more fitting
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memorial of our regard for Mr. Coxe’s memory than that
we should be enabled to carry out this scheme ?

Of our more intimate relations with him here, I need say
but one word. Mr. Coxe was emphatically at home in this
hall. He felt that he was surrounded here by friends who
knew his peculiarities, who recognized his lovable qualities,
and who were filled with anxious solicitude for his health.
His last message sent to us—“ God bless you all ”’—fell on
sympathetic hearts, and was the expression of a grateful
spirit in recognition of that strong regard and affection
which he knew was felt for him by all his co-workers here.

The meeting then adjourned.
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ANDREW HAMILTON, ESQ., OF PENNSYLVANIA.
BY JOSHUA FRANCIS FISHER.

[The following sketch of Andrew Hamilton, by the late Joshua Francis
Fisher, was printed in the Historical Magazine for August, 1868. As
the circulation of that periodical was then so small as to call for a very
limited edition, but few who are interested in the career of Pennsyl-
vania’s distinguished lawyer are aware that such an article was ever
written. No excuse, therefore, is necessary for reproducing it here.
The portrait that accompanies it is from the one by Wertmuller men-
tioned in the text, now in the Historical Society.]

The name of Andrew Hamilton, it is probable, would
have sunk into oblivion, but for the place it has in the
History of Civil Rights, as that of one of the earliest and
boldest assertors of the Liberty of Speech and Writing,
to whom precedence must be given over the famous Mr.
Erskine, in the enunciation of the now universally accepted
doctrines of the Law of Libel. All who have read his
defence of the printer, John Peter Zenger, before Chief-
Justice DeLancey and the Supreme Court of New York, in
1736, will perhaps desire to know something more of this
learned and fearless Advocate.

The following pages perhaps contain all the facts of his

Vor. xvi—1 (1)
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private history and professional and political career which
it is now possible to recover. They will probably excite
regret that so little can now be known of a man whose
patriotism and public spirit were as pre-eminent in the
Province of Pennsylvania, as the legal attainments which
mark him, in all respects, as the first of our Colonial lawyers.

Andrew Hamilton was a Scotchman, born in the year
1676. Although his parentage cannot be ascertained, he
was doubtless of gentle blood; and his education must
have been very good. Of his early history nothing is
known. The family tradition is that he had been obliged
to fly from his native country in consequence of Kkilling a
person of some importance in a duel. It is more likely
that he may have been involved in some of the political
difficulties during the reign of King William. At all
events, he thought proper, for some time after his arrival in
Anmerica, to conceal his name, taking that of Trent. What-
ever the cause might have been, all danger to himself was
passed in the reign of Queen Anne; and his admission to
Gray’s Inn and call to the English Bar forbid the idea of
his emigration under a charge of felony or any disgraceful
crime.

His first residence in the Colonies seems to have been
the Eastern Shore of Virginia—afterwards in Kent County,
Maryland. He is said to have had charge of an estate, and
to have kept a classical school. He married afterwards a
lady of some fortune, Mrs. Anne (Brown), widow of Joseph
Preeson, connected with some of the first families in Mary-
land. In the year 1712 he was established in Chestertown
as a lawyer, with a handsome practice and great reputation
for ability. In that year he was first retained by the agents
of William Penn in a suit against Berkeley Codd, Esq., of
Sussex County, Delaware, who had disputed some of his
rights under the grant of the Duke of York. It may be
remarked as a curious fact that Andrew Hamilton, son of
the subject of this sketch, married a grand-daughter of Mr.
Codd—the daughter and heiress of William Till, a gentle-
man of some consequence in the Colony—obtaining with
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her, among other property, the Woodlands Estate, near
Philadelphia, afterwards so highly improved by his son,
William Hamilton.

It is supposed that the legal studies of Andrew Hamilton,
commenced in Great Britain, must have been completed in
Maryland, where there were, among the officials of the
Government, several men of considerable legal attainments,
and, amongst the gentry of the Eastern Shore, some highly
educated men. Whatever opportunities these afforded, it is
certain they were made the most of; and at the age of
thirty-six, Andrew IIamilton had already attained great
reputation and a lucrative practice. But the position of a
Colonial lawyer seems in those times to have depended on
the favor or license of the local authorities; and a call to
the English Bar, as a member of the Temple of Gray’s Inn,
was always prized as giving a rank and independence before
the Colonial Judges well worth the expense and time of a
voyage to England. So Mr. Hamilton thought, and with
this object he sailed for England in the year 1712. The
Records of Gray’s Inn show that he was admitted a
member of that learned society on the 27th of January,
1712, where he is designated as Mr. Andrew Hamilton, of
Maryland; and on the 10th of February of the same year
he was, per favor, called to the Bar, which means, without
keeping the usual Terms, though not, it is to be inferred,
without proof of character and learning in the law.

He soon after returned to America and removed to Phila-
delphia. Here his abilities gained him the first position at
the Bar and a large practice. 'When appointed a member
of the Provincial Council of Pennsylvania he accepted on
condition that his attendance should not interfere with his
practice; and he appears rarely, if ever, to have taken his
gseat in that body. He had previously been appointed, in
1717, Attorney-General of the Province, which office he
resigned in 1726, before his second visit to England, which
was of considerable length.

After bhis return, on the 5th of June, 1727, he received
from Governor Gordon the lucrative post of Prothonotary,
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made vacant by the death of Mr. Ashton, in consideration
not only of his legal qualifications, but also of ‘“the con-
siderable service he had done to the Proprietors in this
Province and country.”

In April, 1728, we find he was Recorder of the city of
Philadelphia; and, in November, 1787, he was appointed
by Governor Thomas Judge of Vice-Admiralty, which office
it is supposed he held until his death, his judicial functions
not appearing to interfere with his practice in other courts.

In the year 1727, he was elected a member of the House
of Assembly from Bucks County; and he was returned to
the same seat for twelve successive years. He immediately
took a leading part in public affairs; was Chairman of the
most important committees, the author of most of the
addresses of the Governor to the Proprietors and to the
English Government, and the draughtsman of the Acts of
Assembly.

In October, 1729, he was elected Speaker; and with the
exception of the year 1788, he filled the chair uninter-
ruptedly till his final retirement in 1789. On one occasion,
at least, he received the unanimous vote of the members.
Every mark of their confidence seems to have been be-
stowed. He was appointed a Trustee of the Loan Office,
and entrusted with the building and disbursements for the
State House—sacred to us, and to all Americans, as the
Hall of Independence. It appears that, although Messrs.
Lawrence and Graeme were of the committee, the designs
were furnished and entirely carried out by Mr. Hamilton.
This appears to have been to the public satisfaction; and
although the interior cannot boast of much architectural
grandeur,! the exterior, especially the entrance hall and
staircase, have been much praised by good judges. The
other apartments might be, if their original panellings
and decorations had not been many years ago barbarously
removed—unluckily before Colonel Trumbull’s picture of
the Signers of the Declaration was sketched—or we might

! The original fagade, with the arcades connecting the wings, had a
much better effect than the present unsightly offices of * The Row.”
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have a representation of the Hall as it was in July, 1776.
The tradition is, that it was richly carved and in the finest
style. An attempt was made to restore it, about forty years
ago, and some little fragments of ornamental work were
found in the cellars of the building, which may be seen over
the smaller doors, but give little idea of the pristine appear-
ance of this hallowed apartment—the dignity of which is
departed, and the proper associations nearly effaced.

The respect and confidence of his colleagues were not
purchased by any unworthy compliances. While at all
times advocating every inherited and chartered right, and
promoting every measure of public utility, he never was
ranked in the soi-disant popular anti-proprietary party; and
his constant opposition to Sir William Keith was justified
by the developments of the character and objects of that
mercenary and factious man. Such was the verdict of
public opinion in Pennsylvania.

On taking leave of the Assembly of Pennsylvania, in the
year 1739, when, owing to his growing infirmities, he
declared his intention of declining all further public service,
he said :!

“ GENTLEMEN,—As the Service of the Country should be
the only Motive to induce any man to take upon him the
Country’s Trust, which none ought to assume who find
themselves incapable of giving such a constant Attendance
ae the nature of so great Trust requires; and as you are
Witnesses of the frequent Indispositions of Body I have so
long laboured under, particularly during the winter Season
(the usual Time of doing Business here) and being appre-
hensive that, by Reason of my Age and Infirmities, which
daily increase, I may be unable to discharge the Duty

! The Records of the Assembly, under date of “6th Mo. 11, 1789,” are
as follows:

“And the House being about to adjourn, the Speaker addressed him-
self to them in the following Speech, a Copy whereof, on Request, he
delivered to the Clerk, and it was Resolved, upon Motion, that the same
be inserted in the Minutes of the House.” Voles and Proceedings, iii.
849,
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expected from a Member of Assembly; I therefore hope
that these Considerations alone, were there no others, will
appear to you sufficient to justify the Determination I am
come to, of declining the farther Service of the Province in
a Representative Capacity.

“As to my Conduct, it is not for me to condemn or com-
mend it: Those who have sat here from time to time during
my Standing, and particularly these several Gentlemen
present, who were Members when I first came into the House
(whom I now see with Pleasure) have the Right to judge
of my Behaviour, and will censure or approve of it as it has
deserved. But, whatever that may have been, I know my
own Intentions, and that I ever had at Heart the Preserva-
tion of Liberty, the Love of which, as it first drew me to, so
it constantly prevailed upon me to reside in, this Province,
tho’ to the manifest Prejudice of my Fortune.

“But (waiving all Remarks of a private Nature, which
Reflections of this kind might naturally, and justly lead me
into) I would beg Leave to observe to you, That it is not
to the Fertility of our Soil, and the Commodiousness of our
Rivers, that we ought chiefly to attribute the great Progress
this Province has made, within so small a Compass of Years,
in Improvements, Wealth, Trade, and Navigation, and the
extraordinary Increase of People, who have been drawn
hither from almost every Country in Europe; a Progress
which much more antient Settlements on the Main of
America cannot at present boast of, No, it is principally and
almost wholly owing to the Excellency of our Constitution,
under which we enjoy a greater Share both of civil and
religious Liberty than any of our Neighbours.

“Jt is our great Happiness that instead of trienniel
Assemblies, a Privilege which several other Colonies have
long endeavoured to obtain, but in vain, ours are annual;
and for that Reason, as well as others, less liable to be prac-
tised upon, or corrupted, either with Money or Presents.
‘We sit upon our own Adjournments, when we please, and
as long as we think necessary, and are not to be sent a
Packing, in the Middle of a Debate, and disabled from
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representing our just Grievances to our Gracious Sovereign,
if there should be Occasion, which has often been the hard
fate of Assemblies in other Places.

% 'We have no Officers but what are necessary; none but
what earn their Salaries, and those generally are either
elected by the People, or appointed by their Representatives.

¢ Other Provinces swarm with unnecessary Officers, nom-
inated by the Governors, who often make it a main Part
of their Care to support those Officers, (notwithstanding
their Oppressions). At all events, I hope it will ever be
the Wisdom of our Assemblies to create no great Offices
or Officers, nor indeed any Officer at all, but what is really
necessary for the Service of the Country, and to be sure
to let the People, or their Representatives, have at least,
a Share in their Nomination or Appointment. This will
always be a good Security against the mischievous Influence
of Men holding Places at the Pleasure of the Governor.

“Qur foreign Trade and Shipping are free from all
Imposts, except the small Duties payable to his Majesty by
the Statute Laws of Great Britain. The Taxes which we
pay for carrying on the Publick Service is inconsiderable;
for the sole Power of raising and disposing of the Publick
Money for the support of Government is lodged in the
Assembly, who appoint their own Treasurer, and to them
alone he is accountable. Other incidental Taxes are assessed,
collected and applied by Persons annually chosen by the
People themselves. Such is our happy State as to Civil
Rights.

“Nor are we less happy in the enjoyment of a perfect
Freedom as to Religion. By many years Experience, we
find that an Equality among Religious Societies, without
distinguishing any one Sect with greater Privileges than
another, is the most effectual Method to discourage Hypoc-
risy, promote the Practice of the moral Virtues, and prevent
the Plagues and Mischiefs that always attend religious
Squabbling.

“This is our Constitution, and this Constitution was
framed by the wisdom of Mr. Penn, the first Proprietor and
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Founder of the Province, whose Charter of Privileges to
the Inhabitants of Pennsylvania will ever remain a Monu-
ment of his Benevolence to Mankind and reflect more
lasting Honour on his Descendants than the largest Posses-
sions. In the Framing of this Government, he reserved no
Powers to himself or his Heirs to oppress the People; no
Authority but what is necessary for our Protection, and to
hinder us from falling into Anarchy; and therefore, (sup-
posing we could persuade ourselves that all our Obligations
to our great Law-giver, and his honourable Descendants,
were entirely cancelled, yet) our own Interests should
oblige us carefully to support the Government on its present
Foundation, as the only Means to secure to ourselves and
our Posterity the enjoyment of those Privileges, and the
Blessings flowing from such a Constitution, under which
we cannot fail of being happy, if the Fault be not our own.

“Yet I have observed, that in former Assemblies there
" have been Men who have acted in such a Manner as if they
utterly disregarded all those inestimable Privileges, and
(whether from private Pique and personal Dislike, or thro’
Mistake, I will not determine) have gone great Lengths in
risking our Happiness, in the prosecution of such Measures
as did not at all square with the Professions they frequently
made of their Love to our Government.

“ When I reflect on the several Struggles which many
of us, now present, have had with those Men, in order to
rescue the Constitution out of their Hands, which, thro’
their Mistakes (if they were Mistakes) was often brought
on the Brink of Destruction; I cannot help cautioning you,
in the most earnest Manner, against all personal Animosity
in publick Consultations, as a Rock, which, if not avoided,
the Constitution will at some Time or other infallibly split
upon.

¢ But there is no Room for Applications of that Kind at
present. It is with Delight I see this Session of Assembly
end in a Manner very different from what was expected in
the Beginning of the Year. The principal Business has
been carried on with so good an Agreement among the
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Members of the House, and so little Difference in Senti-
ments between our Governor and the People, that it cannot
but yield a sensible Pleasure to all who wish well to this
Province.

“As this, Gentlemen, is likely to be the last Time I may
trouble you with anything in this Place, I hope you will
the more easily pardon the Liberties I have taken; and that
you will farther permit me here to acknowledge my Obli-
gations to that County, which has so often elected me for
one of their Representatives; and at the same time to assure
you, that I shall always retain a grateful Sense of the great
Confidence so long resposed in me, and the Honour so
frequently conferred upon me by many successive Assem-
blies, in calling me to the Chair of this honourable House.”

Contemporaneously with his occupancy of his seat in the
Pennsylvania Assembly, as its Speaker, Andrew Hamilton
filled, for one or more years, the same place in the Three
Lower Counties—now the State of Delaware. This has
been only ascertained from the published Laws of Dela-
ware, printed by Franklin, in 1741. Some of the most
elaborate and important of these Statutes have the sig-
nature of Andrew Hamilton, as Speaker; but these are
without date or year of the King’s reign, but, being executed
under the administration of Governor Gordon, must date
before the year 1787, when he was superseded by Governor
Thomas. Among these Acts are those for regulating Elec-
tions, for securing the administration of Estates, for the
confirmation of Titles to land, and for establishing Courts
of Law and Equity; and these were all, without doubt,
drafted by Mr. Hamilton, and have been cited as evidence
of his great ability by eminent lawyers.

The Records of Delaware, however, of that period, have
not been preserved at the public offices; and the search for
the name of Andrew Hamilton in their legislative and
Judicial proceedings has been entirely fruitless.

The following letter from the Speaker of the House of
Assembly of the Three Lower Counties gives evidence of
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his having been employed in similar services at a much
earlier date :

“81r,—The Representatives of this Government in As-
sembly met, being truly sensible of the Services you have
this session done, have commanded me to return you
their hearty Thanks for the same—which in their names &
my own I most sincerely do—and at the same Time lay
hold of the Opportunity to subscribe with Pleasure,

“Y"* most humble Serv*
“JoHN FFRENCH, Speaker.

“ March 15th, 1726.

“To Anprew HamiLroN, Esq.
“These.”

Of his professional attainments and ability only tradi-
tional and fragmentary evidences remain to this day, except
his celebrated argument in the Zenger Cuse, which has
procured for him a place in the History of Liberty and has
been called by Gouverneur Morris the “Day Star of the
Revolution,” as it unquestionably awakened the public
mind throughout the Colonies to a conception of the most
sacred rights as citizens and as subjects of a free country.

The speech, which was repeatedly printed in England as
well as America, may be commended more for the bold
enunciation of principle than for the accumulation of learned
citations and for its arguments from precedents; but it uses
its authorities with masterly skill, and deals crushing blows
to the Prosecution and the Court. It justly establishes its
author’s fame as the first lawyer of his time in the British
Provinces; and we have besides the abounding evidence of
his high consideration by his professional brethren in the
neighboring Provinces, where his opinions were constantly
sought for.

He was in the employ of the Proprietary family, from his
removal to Philadelphia till his death ; and in the difticulties
with Lord Baltimore he was particularly useful. At every
step taken in this tedious controversy, he seems to have
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been consulted, and served in various Commissions to meet
the Maryland authorities in framing the Terms of Agree-
ment, in 1782, upon which the case was brought before the
Privy Council by Mr. Murray, afterwards the celebrated
Lord Mansfield; and in preparing the materials of the
Brief upon which it was finally submitted, after his death,
to the Court of Chancery, Mr. Hamilton not only exerted
the most untiring industry, but exhibited marked ability;
and the gratitude of his employers was shown by their more
than ordinary remuneration for his services. The Estate of
Bush Hill, forming part of the present city of Philadelphia,
and comprising the whole space from Vine Street to Coates
Street, and from Twelfth Street to Nineteenth Street, was
carved out of the manor of Springettsbury, and granted
by the advice of James Logan to the great lawyer. On this
he erected a spacious and stately mansion, in which he died.
Here his son, Governor Hamilton, long exercised a generous
hospitality; and here, too, John Adams resided during his
Vice-Presidency. It was burned about sixty years ago; but
the walls, still standing, were restored on a sadly debased
shape, forming part of a floor-cloth manufactory, and since
converted to other uses. There is a poorly engraved view
of it in the Universal Magazine, December, 1787, with its
out-houses, giving a higher idea of its magnitude than of
its architectural beauty.

Andrew Hamilton also acquired a noble estate in Lan-
caster County. The town plot of the city of Lancaster was
laid out on this property, in 1728; and the ground-rents
reserved, yielded, for a long time, an income to his descend-
ants, till popular policy was roused against that kind of
tenure ; and, although the appeal of the tenants to an incor-
rupt and unterrified judiciary was in vain, the family were
induced to cede their established rights on liberal terms of
compromise. The parts of the Bush Hill Estate sold have
enriched several members of the family, who still retain a
considerable portion of it. Besides these estates, they had
lands in New Jersey; and the valuable city property bounded
by Chestnut and Third Streets and the Dock Creek, where
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a mansion, described in Watson’s Annals of Philadelphia, as
Clarke’s Great house, was the birth-place of Governor
Hamilton. It was afterward sold to and inhabited by
Israel Pemberton, the leading member of the Friends’
Meeting at the time of the Revolution; and, under the
Administration of General Washington, it was occupied by
Alexander Hamilton, as the Treasury Department of the
United States.

Andrew Hamilton’s visit to England, between the years
1724 and 1726, was probably connected with the great Penn
and Baltimore case; but no trace can, it is believed, now be
found of his appearance as a Barrister at the English Court,
though this is not impossible. The opportunity was, how-
ever, given for an acquaintance with Mr. Murray and the
other great lawyers of the day; and was no doubt the occasion
referred to, in his defence of Zenger, when he “saw the
practice of very great Courts.”! 8ir Philip Yorke, after-
wards the great Lord Hardwicke, was then the leader of the
English Bar; and Mr. Hamilton might have been present
at the famous trial of Lord Chancellor Macclesfield.

In America, we find traces of his employment in the
Courts of several Colonies; and his opinion was often
sought for by different Provincial Governors, in matters of
political or pecuniary importance. At home he probably
had a part in every important case. His great success
excited envy and stimulated calumny. The party leaders
he opposed and frustrated, the rival lawyers whose igno-
rance and incompetence he exposed, the unfortunate liti-
gants whom he disappointed, all were his enemies, or at
least, ready to listen to his detractors. There exist in print
some most abusive attacks upon him, the scurrility of which
is alone fatal to their credit—which contain no definite
charges, and which are contradicted by all we know of
him. The chief accusation was a grasping spirit and dis-
honesty in his practice. The latter charge is impossible,
for he had the respect of all the best men of the Colony.

1 Zenger’s Report of his Trial, p. 25.
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As a contradiction to the latter, we may invoke his noble
disinterestedness in the case of Zenger, when ‘he offer’d
to go to New York without fee or reward, under the weight
of many years & great infirmities of body,” to advocate the
great cause of Civil Liberty. With a professional reputation
already established, a fortune already acquired, he appeared
before a Court which had already prejudged his case and a
provincial jury very likely to be intimidated by the frowns
of authority, to assert the great right of Freedom of the
Press, without which most other rights would be valueless.

Preceding, by fifty years, the great English lawyer who
finally established this principle of Liberty, he had used
the same course of argument, and we may justly claim for
him the larger share of honor—an honor also to be given
to the honest jury. In those days there was no small
courage required to oppose the authorities in a King’s
Colony, where so much depended on royal favor.

Andrew Hamilton died at Bush Hill, in the summer of
1741, and was buried in the family graveyard on the estate;
but on its sale, his remains, with those of his children, were
removed to a spacious mausoleum in Christ Church-yard,
which was closed on the last of his name in 1848,

His children were James Hamilton, who, by two appoint-
ments, and for many years, was Lieutenant-Governor of
Pennsylvania: a gentleman of great dignity and private
worth ; distinguished for liberality and independence; the
only native Governor before the Revolution, and probably
the most esteemed by his countrymen as well as the Pro-
prietary family. He was one of the early patrons of Ben-
jamin West, by whom there is a very fine full-length portrait
now in the possession of his collateral descendant, Mr.
Hamilton Beckett, who married a daughter of Lord Chan-
cellor Lyndhurst and resides in England. He patronized
and encouraged all public enterprises ; and was the President
of the American Philosophical Society before its union with
the Society for the Diffusion of Useful Knowledge, under
the auspices of Dr. Franklin. James Hamilton died in the
year 1782. His brother, Andrew Hamilton, married a
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daugbter of William Fell, Esq.; and their son, William, was
distinguished as probably the earliest collector of pictures
and cultivator of ornamental gardening. In his day there
was no country-seat equal to the Woodlands, for trees and
shrubbery and plants imported from every region; for
pictures, many of them selected by West ; and other objects
of taste. In the cemetery, to which it is now converted,
there are few remains of its picturesque beauties; and the
gloomy appropriation makes a sad contrast to the hospi-
talities and gayeties of which it was the scene, within the
recollection of the writer. William Hamilton, the younger,
like his uncle, the Governor, never married. His brother
Andrew, married to Miss Abigail Franks, daughter of
David Franks, of New York, had a numerous family, who
had descendants; but there are none of the name now
living. A fourth Andrew Hamilton in succession lived in
Eungland; and his daughter married a Captain Palairet, of
the British Army, whose children have in their possession
the gold box in which the freedom of the city of New York
. was presented to their ancestor ¢ for his learned and gen-
erous defense of the Rights of Mankind and the Liberty of
the Press.”

The only daughter of Andrew Hamilton, the elder, was
married to William Allen, who filled the office of Provincial
Chief-Justice with great respectability. e probably owed
his professional education to his wife’s accomplished father,
and his official promotion to the influence of Mr. Hamilton.
He was a man of great wealth, and his children had the
most prominent places in our provincial society. One of
his daughters married John Penn, son of Richard, the last
Proprietary Governor of Pennsylvania, who built and re-
sided at Lansdowne, one of the finest seats on the river
Schuylkill. He died at Philadelphia, and is buried at
Christ Church. He had no children, and his widow went
to England soon after the Revolution. The sons of Chief-
Justice Allen were all supposed to take the part of England
in the War of Independence, and some of them were se-
riously implicated. Those who survived the war abandoned
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their native country, and left, I believe, no sons; and the
name of Allen, as that of Hamilton, is now extinct. The
Borough of Allentown, in Northampton (now Lehigh)
County, takes its name from them, as it was the centre of
their immense family possessions. It is believed there is
nothing left of this great estate to the descendants, in the
female line, still among us.

The foregoing are all the facts that can now be col-
lected of the first Andrew Hamilton. After the space of
four generations traditions of character are rarely preserved ;
but there i8 happily in existence an obituary notice, attrib-
uted to Dr. Franklin, printed, at all events, in his paper,
which, if it errs on the side of eulogy, can hardly be with-
out a substantial basis of truth. Such a character would
else be only satire in disguise.

The Obituary referred to appeared in the Pennsylvania
Gazette, of August, 1751, as follows:

“On the Fourth instant, died Andrew Hamilton, Esq.,
and was next day interred at Bush Hill, his Country Seat.
His Corpse was attended to the grave by a great number of
his friends, deeply aftected with their own but more with
their Country’s loss. He lived not without enemies; for,
as he was himself open and honest, he took pains to unmask
the hypocrite, and boldly censured the knave, without
regard to station or profession. Such, therefore, may exult
in his death. He steadly maintained the Cause of liberty;
and the laws made during the time he was Speaker of the
Assembly, which was many years, will be a lasting monu-
ment of his affection to the people, and of his Concern for
the welfare of this Province. He was no friend to power,
as he had observed an ill-use had been frequently made of
it in the Colonies; and therefore was seldom on good terms
with the Governors. This prejudice, however, did not
always determine his conduct towards them, for, when he
saw they meant well, he was for supporting them honour-
ably, and was indefatigable in endeavoring to remove the
prejudices of others. He was long at the top of his profes-
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sion here; and had he been as griping as he was knowing,
he might have left a much greater fortune to his family
than he has done. But he spent much more time in hearing
and reconciling differences in private, (to the loss of his
fees,) than he did in pleading cases at the bar. He was just
when he sat as Judge, and though he was stern and severe
in his manner, he was compassionate in his nature, and
very slow to punish. He was a tender husband and a fond
parent. But these are virtues which fools and knaves have
sometimes, in common with the wise and honest. His free
manner of treating religious subjects gave offence to many,
who, if a man may judge from their actions, were not them-
selves much in earnest. He feared God, loved mercy, and
did justice. = If he could not subscribe to the Creed of any
particular Church, it was not for want of considering them
all, for he had read much on religious subjects. He went
through a tedious sickness with uncommon cheerfulness,
constancy and courage. Nothing of affected bravery or
ostentation appeared ; but such a composure and tranquility
of mind as results from the reflection of a life spent agree-
ably to the best of man’s judgment.! He preserved his

1 The reference to Andrew Hamilton’s want of religious faith in the
above Obituary suggests a quotation from a MS. satirical production of
the year 1727, in which many of the more eminent of that day in the
Province are catalogued with considerable ironical humour.

It is called Advice and Instruction to the Palatines newly arrived in
the Province of Pennsylvania, by their countryman, H. J. Z., a Freeholder,
translated from the High Dutch.

The list terminates with the three following :

“If you are staggering in your Faith and desire to be confirmed in
the Belief of the Christian Religion, seek ghostly counsel from A—w
H n.

“If you would desire strict Justice in your Lawsuits let Aonest D——d
L———d be your Judge.

“If you would learn the art of Dissimulation to impose on the Igno-
rant, make fine Speeches and promise without any meaning ; borrow of
everybody without any intention to pdy; cheat all you deal with, and
nevertheless be a fine Gentleman, follow the example of 8ir W—m.

“If you desire to possess a perfect calmness of thought—to sleep
sound and enjoy a good measure of health—drink hard, laugh loud and
run deeply in debt.”




Andrew Hamilton, Esq., of Pennsylvania. 17

understanding and his regard for his friends to the last
moment. What was given asa rule by a poet, upon another
occasion, may be justly applied to him upon this:

...... Servetur ad imum
Qualis ab“incepto processerit, et sibi constet.”

Finding himself unable to do justice to the professional
and public services of this great lawyer and statesman,
Andrew Hamilton, the writer applied to his friend the
learned Judge Cadwalader, as, of all our jurisconsults, the
one most familiar with the judicial history of the Province,
and, at the same time, best able to estimate at their true
value the professional ability and attainments as well as the
public services of this almost forgotten patriot and states-
man; and he is permitted to extract from Judge Cadwal-
ader’s answer the following pages. In those preceding,
Judge Cadwalader had given some memoranda for the
private and family history of Mr. Hamilton, to which the
composition of the above imperfect biographical sketch is
partly indebted.

Judge Cadwalader writes: ¢After the above hasty out-
line of the little biographical knowledge of Mr. Hamilton
which I possess, I proceed to answer directly your inquiry
what is my opinion of him as a lawyer.

¢ This opinion is formed solely upon consideration of his
argument in Zenger’s case. This trial, we are told, ¢ made a
great noise in the world.” [17 State Trials, 675 (n.).] That
which principally made it remarkable was the argument of
Mr. Hamilton and its effect. The novelty, in his day, of
some of his propositions and of the reasoning by which he
supported them, explains the ill-natured contemporaneous
criticisms of his argument in certain publications inserted
in the State Trials. The authors of great reformations are
always thus censured by the short-sighted of their own day.

The whole may be found inserted in a folio volume of tracts and
broadsides of great rarity, belonging to the American Philosophical
Society. It may be presumed that the “Advice to the Palatines” was
never printed. Its authorship has been attributed to Franklin.

Vor. xvi.—2
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These criticisms were written before the impression of his
views had been stamped, as it has subsequently been, upon
the institutions of a nation. Reform, through legislation,
may be effected with little difficulty as compared with ad-
ministrative reformation of jurisprudence without legisla-
tive aid. The Advocate who can effect the latter, especially
where political considerations are involved, must be a
mental giant. One great excellence of the system of trial
by jury is, that it affords the means of gradually producing
such reformations without revolutionary perils. Propositions
in this argument, which were, strictly speaking, untenable
a8 points of Anglo-American Colonial law, prevailed, nev-
ertheless, at that day, with the jury. These propositions have
been since engrafted permanently upon the political juris-
prudence of this Continent. If that speech to the jurors
who acquitted Zenger had never been uttered, or had not
been reported, the framers of the Constitutions of the several
States might not have been prepared for the adoption of
provisions like that of the S8eventh Section of the Declara-
tion of Rights in Pennsylvania. This provision is ¢ that the
printing presses shall be free to every person who under-
takes to examine the proceedings of the Legislature, or any
branch of Government; and no Law shall ever be made to
restrain the right thereof. The free communication of
thoughts and opinions is one of the invaluable rights of
man; and every citizen may freely speak, write, and print
on any subject, being responsible for the abuse of that lib-
erty. In prosecutions for the publication of papers inves-
tigating the official conduct of officers or men in public
capacity, or where the matter published is proper for public
information, the truth thereof may be given in evidence;
and in all indictments for libels,’the jury shall have a right
to determine the law and the facts, under the direction of
the Court, as in other cases.” I thus quote the Constitution
partly in order to introduce a remark upon the well-known
British Act of Parliament, of the year 1792, which is the
same in effect as the last sentence of the Constitutional
provision. This British Statute was passed in consequence
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of the effect upon public opinion produced in England by
the speeches, in two previous cases, of a celebrated English
barrister, afterwards Lord Chancellor. In one of the cases,
this English lawyer had set himself in opposition to the
Court, and to its ruling of the law as previously laid down
in books of Reports, quite as earnestly as Mr. Hamilton in
Zenger’s case, and no less pugnaciously.

“ Mr. Hamilton argued three propositions. One, that the
jury bave, in prosecutions for libels, the same right as in
other criminal prosecutions, to determine the law as well as
the facts under the direction of the Court, has already been
mentioned. Another was, that as the alleged libel con-
cerned the official conduct of persons acting in public
capacities, the publication was justifiable if the statements
were true. The other was that whether they were true or
false, the limits of fair discussion of subjects of general
public interest had not been exceeded. But the last propo-
sition, though argued, was not stated by him. It was
blended with the other; and he rested the case profession-
ally on the question of truth or falsehood. Whether this
was a defect in his argument should be decided with a
cautious reference to its date. The two propositions which
he stated were, in his day, thought innovations. To have
stated the third proposition distinctively might then have
been an imprudence. It might have been thought dema-
goguism, and have injured the case of his client. The lights
of after-born wisdom have been since cast upon this part of
the subject. Its distinct development was not a duty of the
Advocate unless necessary to the success of the defence.
His immediate function was not that of the Statesman or
political philosopher.

“I do not think that the argument was improved by the
references near its close to occurrences of Roman history.
But these are spots of the sun. I have stated every question
which a fault-finding critic of the present day could suggest
in order to qualify the praise due to this argument. As'a
simple forensic effort it is not surpassed by anything of the
kind which is in print as having been uttered by Webster,
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Erskine, or Pinckney. The remark of Mr. Hamilton (17
State Trials, 708), that he had ‘seen the practice in very
great Courts,” might suggest the notion that he had schooled
himself upon the observation of some great English models
of his day, perhaps one of the Yorkes, or a Murray.

“ But it is not merely a great forensic effort. It displays
accuracy of scientific learning, and the result of severe self-
discipline as a lawyer. The speech is a sufficient biography
of him as a student of legal science. His method of refer-
ring to authorities tests the depth of his research and the
clearness of his judgment not less than the copiousness of
his intellectual development. Ordinary lawyers work from
authorities as their only source of professional knowledge.
They thus work, as it were, from below upwards. But
great lawyers look upon the same precedents from above
downward, using them as the tests, or as examples, of rules
or principles deduced from independent and higher sources
of thought. Of this class was Mr. Hamilton. His learning
must have been profound. But he made no parade of it.
He stated his propositions in such a form as to dispense
with citations from books; and yet such citations were
obviously at his command; and he seems to have stated no
proposition which he had not previously subjected, in the
course of private study, to the standard of a rigid compari-
son with precedents. It is obvious that he had educated
himself in general public law, and was familiar enough
with its principles to incorporate them with his argument
without pausing to state them. If short-sighted men of his
own day thought him a demagogue, which I do not believe,
those of greater forecast must have recognized the traits of
a statesmanlike lawyer, whose works would produce their
memorials to be appreciated in a future generation.

“T have thus given my opinion of him as a lawyer. You
agk also my opinion of him as a legislator. He was, I
think, of the class of lawyers who usually make the most
judicious legislators. But I am not able to form any opinion
of his actual capacity in this respect. I do not know what
Laws he may have written, or assisted in writing ; and have
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not sufficient means at hand of obtaining the knowledge. I
am, however, under the impression that, in Pennsylvania,
the legislation of his era was much less important than that
of anterior and subsequent periods.

“All that I have written is the result of investigations
made some years ago, which are, in part, forgotten, and
which I regret that I have not, at this time, leisure particu-
larly to renew.

“Yours, very truly,
“JoHN CADWALADER.
“J. Francis Fisuer, Esq.”

To this may be added the recollections of the writer of
the above Memoir, that there were found at the Woodlands,
when that family seat was broken up, many boxes and
trunks full of legal papers, including Briefs and ‘Opinions
evincing great learning and labor, and indicating extensive
practice throughout the Middle Colonies. Much that was
interesting and valuable might have been rescued; but the
writer was at that time too young to estimate their worth,
and they were left to the ordinary fate of worm-eaten
family papers. Among the books which had been inherited
by Mr. William Hamilton, were a few with the name of his
grandfather in various departments of literature, some of
them with annotations in English and Latin, indicative of
deep and curious learning. The law books had probably
passed into the possession of Chief-Justice Allen, who mar-
ried Andrew Hamilton’s daughter, some of whose sons were
also members of the legal profession. There was not much
learning of any kind among the later representatives of the
Hamilton name.

It bas not been thought necessary to quote at length the
great Argument in the Case and Trial of John Peter Zenger,
which is to be found in the British State Trials and in several
pamphlets printed at the time, in England and America—
the rarest of which is that, in folio, from the press of Zenger
himself—New York, MDCCXXXVI. The peroration,em-
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bodying the noblest sentiments, and exhibiting some of his
peculiar powers as an advocate, is worthy of being repro-
duced at this time, and is as follows:

“But why do I go to heathen Rome to bring instances of
the love of Liberty? The best blood in Britain has been
shed in the cause of Liberty; and the freedom we enjoy at
this day may be said to be,in a great measure, owing to the
glorious stand the famous Hampden and other of our coun-
trymen made against the arbitrary demands and illegal
impositions of the times in which they lived; who rather
than give up the rights of Englishmen, and submit to pay
an illegal tax of no more, I think, than three shillings, re-
solved to undergo, and for the liberty of their country, did
undergo the greatest extremities, in that arbitrary and ter-
rible Court of Star Chamber, to whose arbitrary proceed-
ings, (it being composed of the principal men of the Realm,
and calculated to support arbitrary government) no bounds
or limits could be set, nor could any other hand remove the
evil but a Parliament. Power may justly be compared to a
great river, which while kept within its due bounds, is both
beautiful and useful; but when it overflows its banks, it is
then too impetuous to be stemmed ; it bears down all before
it, and brings destruction and desolation wherever it comes.
If then this is the nature of Power, let us at least do our
duty, and like wise men, (who value freedom) use our utmost
care to support Liberty,—the only bulwark against lawless
power, which in all ages has sacrificed to its wild lust and
boundless ambition the blood of the best men that ever
lived.

“T hope to be pardoned, Sir, for my zeal upon this occa-
gion. Itisan old and wise caution— That when our neighbour’s
house is on fire, we ought to take care of our own. For tho’ blessed
be God,I live in a Government where Liberty is well under-
stood and freely enjoyed; yet experience has shown us all
(I’'m sure it has me) that a bad precedent in one Gov-
ernment is soon set up for an authority in another; and
therefore I cannot but think it mine and every honest
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man’s duty, that, while we pay all due obedience to men
in authority, we ought at the same time to be upon our
guard against power wherever we apprehend that it may
affect ourselves or our fellow-subjects.

“I am truly very unequal to sach an undertaking on
many accounts. And you see I labor under the weight of
many years and am borne down with great infirmities of
body; yet old and weak as I am, I should think it my duty
if required, to go to the utmost part of the land, where my
service could be of any use in assisting to quench the flame
of prosecutions upon informations, set on foot by the Gov-
ernment to deprive the people of the right of remonstrating
(and complaining too) of the arbitrary men in power. Men
who injure and oppress the people under their adminis-
tration, provoke them to cry out and complain; and then
make that very complaint the foundation for new oppres-
sions and prosecutions. I wish I could say there were no
instances of this kind. But to conclude: the question
before the Court and you, Gentlemen of the Jury, is not
of small nor private concern; it is not the case of a poor
printer, nor of New York alone which you are trying. No!
it may in its consequence affect every freeman that lives
under a British Government on the main of America. It
is the best cause. It is the cause of Liberty, and I make
no doubt but your upright conduct, this day, will not only
entitle you to the love and esteem of your fellow-citizens;
but every man who prefers Freedom to a life of Slavery,
will bless and honor you, as men who have baffled the
attempt of tyranny; and by an impartial and uncorrupt
verdict, have laid a noble foundation for securing to our-
selves, our posterity, and our neighbors, that, to which
nature and the laws of our country have given us a right—
the Liberty both of exposing and opposing arbitrary power
(in these parts of the world, at least) by speaking and
writing Truth.”

At the close of this remarkable speech there was consid-
erable sharp discussion between ¢ Mr. Attorney,” the Judges
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of the Court, and Mr. Hamilton, the latter of whom main-
tained his position with that manly dignity by which he was
ever characterized.

The jury then retired; but after a short absence, re-
turned. When asked for their verdict, the foreman, Thomas
Hunt—whose name deserves to be remembered—said ¢ Not
guilty.”

As soon as the verdict was announced, the people, who
crowded the hall where the court was held and were fully
aware of the magnitude of the question at stake, and strongly
sympathized with Zenger, gave ¢ three Huzzas in the Hall,”
doubtless to the great chagrin of the Judges, who bad con-
fidently anticipated a different result.

To this pamphlet are appended the proceedings of the
Corporation of the City of New York, conferring the Free-
dom of the Corporation. The grant, which was voted on
the 16th of September, 1735, by the Mayor, Deputy Mayor,
Recorder, Aldermen and Assistants, is in the following words
and form, viz. :

Paul Richards, Esq. ; the Recorder, Alder-

“ City of men and Assistants of the City of New

88. York, convened in Common Council, To

New York, all to whom these Presents shall come,
) Greeting.

“ WHEREAS, Honour is the just Reward of Virtue and
publick Benefits demand a publick Acknowledgment. We
therefore, under a grateful Sense of the remarkable Service,
done to the Inhabitants of this City and Colony, by Andrew
Hamilton, Esq., of Pennsylvania, Barrister at Law, by his
Learned and generous Defence of the Rights of Mankind,
and the Liberty of the Press, in the case of Jokn Peter Zenger,
lately tried on an Information exhibited in the Supreme
Court of this Colony, do by these Presents, bear to the said
Andrew Hamilton, Esq., the publick Thanks of the Freemen
of this Corporation for that signal Service, which he chear-
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fully undertook under great Indisposition of Body, and
generously performed, refusing any Fee or Reward; And
in Testimony of our great Esteem for his Person and Sense
of his Merit, do hereby present him with the Freedom of
this Corporation. These are therefore to Certify and Declare,
that the said Andrew Hamilton, Esq., is hereby admitted,
received and allowed a Freedom and Citizen of the said
City, To Have, Hold, Enjoy and Partake of all the Benefits,
Liberties, Privileges, Freedoms and Immunities, whatsoever
granted or belonging to a Freeman of the said City. In
Testimony whereof the Common Council of the said City,
in Common Council assembled, have caused the Seal of the
said City to be hereunto affixed this Twenty Ninth Day of
September, Anno Domini, One Thousand Seven Hundred and
Thirty Five.
“ By Order of the Common Council.
¢ WiLLIAM SHARPAS, Clerk.”

At the same time, as is recorded, * Sundry of the Mem-
bers of the Cofporation and Gentlemen of the City volun-
tarily contributed sufficient for a Gold Box of five Ounces
and a half for inclosing the Seal of the said Freedom,”
which being completed as desired, Alderman Bayard, on
bebalf of the Corporation, proceeded to Philadelphia and
delivered to Mr. Hamilton the Diploma with the Seal
enclosed in the Gold Box, which is still preserved as an
heirloom by the children of Captain Palairet, who married
a daughter of Andrew Hamilton—the fourth of that name
in direct descent, and the last in the line of males.

Round the lid of the box there is engraved, not only the
Arms of the City of New York, but also this Motto, in a
Garter:

DemMers® Lraes — TIMEFACTA LIBERTAS — H&c TANDEM
EMERGUNT.

On the inner side of the lid of the box, showing itself at
the same time with the Certificate of the Freedom, there
are engraved, in a Flying Garter, these words :
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Nox NuMMIB—VIRTUTE PARATUR.

As an incentive to public virtue, on the front of the rim
of the box, there is engraved a part of Tuilly’s wish:

Ira Cuique EvenNiat, ur pE RepusLica MERuUIT.

In conclusion, it may be mentioned that there exists a
portrait of Andrew Hamilton, a fine picture by Wertmuller,
copied from a rude original which was destroyed—a hand-
some shrewd face, in the wig, gown, and bands of an En-
glish barrister. The original was in the possession of Mr.
Becket ; and a copy is preserved in the Hall of the Histori-
cal Society of Pennsylvania.

NOTE.

Zenger had employed as his counsel James Alexander, Esq., and
William Smith, Esq., two of the most eminent lawyers of New York.
On the 16th of April, 1785, and during the progress of the trisl, the
Judges, in & most summary manner, struck their names from the list of
attorneys, because they had put in exceptions, in Zenger’s name, to the
Information, denying the legality of the Judges’ commissions.

The following letter shows that they were not soon forgiven ; and that
they, instead of Zenger, were the sufferers—a rather unusual result, in
legal matters, at least at this day :

“NEwW YORK, July 16th, 1787.

““81r,—We think the state of publick affairs here afford some Proba-
bility that we may have relief in a course of Justice for that act of
silencing us in the case of Zenger, and as you were so kind as to offer
us your assistance, we beg leave to send you herewith a draught of a
Declaration for your perusal and amendment.

““ We send you also some authorities that we have read on that head
which seem generally to look against us. There are two distinctions
which we think may support our action, malo animo and coram non
Judice. There appear some faint traces of these distinctions in the
authorities. We wish we had them more plain.

“Our Judges have valued themselves upon a Dilemma, they thought
they had us in, viz: If they were Judges, then what they did was in
that capacity, and no relief is against them for it as such. If they were
not Judges, then what they did was void and did not hinder us from
being attorneys, &c. The first draught of the Declaration inclosed, and
second conclusion we thought would not well enough bring us within
the distinctions named in that Dilemma. The third conclusion inclosed
is an endeavor to amend in those points. All which we submit to you,
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and we desire your opinion whether we ought to pay any regard to their
quibble or not.

‘“We send now a like copy to Mr. Kinsey. We beg you would com-
pare your observations and amendments with his, and agree upon one
of the Declarations to send back to us if conveniently you can by the
Post after this, because our Supreme Court begins the last Tuesday of
this month, and ends the first Tuesday of August, in order that we may
file the Declaration_ on the Monday before the end of the Term.

“We are
“Your Humble Servants,

“ JA. ALEXANDER

“ WM, SMITH.
“To ANDREW HAMILTON, EsQ.”
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THE CAMP BY SCHUYLKILL FALLS.

READ BY WILLIAM 8. BAKER BEFORE THE HISTORICAL BOCIETY OF
PENNSYLVANIA, JANUARY 11, 1892,

The movements of the Continental army around Phila-
delphia in the campaign of 1777, and the efforts of the Com-
mander-in-Chief to preserve the integrity of the city, make
this period of our Revolutionary annals extremely interest-
ing, although the picture as presented is somewhat sombre
in character; the shadows many and heavy, the lights scat-
tered and few.

As we consider it through the medium of history and
tradition, the picture seems to be finished, every incident
related, every locality set forth; but a more careful exami-
nation reveals a neglected corner, a bit of canvas uncovered,
a story untold.

Let us, then, fill in this corner, cover the canvas, and tell
the story.

In the Itinerary of General Washington for the year 1777
(PENNA. Mag., Vol. XIV.), I stated, on the authority of
Colonel Pickering, adjutant-general,! that the main Conti-
nental army encamped the first week of August and for two
days in September, before and after the battle of Brandy-
wine, between Glermantown and the Schuylkill River, near
the Falls of Schuylkill, five miles from Philadelphia; but
was not able to designate with any certainty the ground
occupied.

A letter from the Commander-in-Chief to Edward Rut-
ledge, of South Carolina, dated Fiskkill, 5 October, 1778
(Sparks, VI. 82), which escaped my notice at the time, in

! Timothy Pickering was appointed adjutant-general June 18, 1777,
and served until January 30, 1778, when he left the camp at Valley
Forge, to enter upon his duties a8 a member of the Board of War.
During his connection with the army, Colonel Pickering kept a journal
of events, which is printed in Volume I. of his Life, published at Boston,
in 1867. As arecord of the movements of the army it is invaluable.






-----
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which he says, “In the month of August last year [1777],
from the house of Mr. Hill near Germantown, where I was
then encamped, I wrote you a long letter,”’! enables me,
after having made the necessary examinations, to fix the
exact location of this encampment, an historical fact, which,
so far as I know, has never been noted.

Henry Hill, at whose house or country-seat this letter was
written, was the owner, in 1777, of a large tract of land,
partly in Roxborough Township and partly in Penn Town-
ship, Philadelphia County,? situate and forming part of an
elevated plateau of several hundred acres east of the Schuyl-
kill River, bounded on the north by School Lane, on the east
by a road dividing Roxborough Township from Germantown
Township, known as the Township Line Road, and sloping
sharply on the west to the river, or to what may be properly
termed its boundary on that side, the Manatawny or Ridge
Road ; on the south, the plateau gradually fell away to lower
land on a line with the Schuylkill Falls.

The Falls, in consequence of the construction in 1821 of
the dam at Fairmount, three miles lower down the river, are
no longer visible. Their location, however, is marked by a
rock just below the Falls village, on which a part of the
eastern abutment of the railroad bridge is built; this rock
extended about two-thirds of the distance across the river,
forming a complete natural dam, a part of it overhanging
on the lower side. In high freshets the water flowed over it
and made a beautiful cascade; at other times it forced the
river into a narrow channel on the western side, through
which it ran with great rapidity and much noise, falling
some five or six feet in a distance of about one hundred and
fifty yards. The backing up of the water from the dam has
changed all this, and the Falls of Schuylkill are a thing of
the past.

1 This letter is not printed either in Sparks’s or Ford’s “ Writings of
George Washington,” and as there is no transcript of it in the Washing-
ton correspondence in the Department of State, the exact date cannot
be furnished.

? Now in the Twenty-eighth Ward of the City of Philadelphia.
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Mr. Hill’s land, extending southward from School Lane,
lay on both sides of Indian Queen Lane (termed in early
deeds a road leading from Geermantown to Schuylkill Falls,
alias Roberts Ferry), the house and farm buildings being in
Roxborough Township, on the upper side of the lane, a short
distance west of the Township Line Road,' about one mile
from the Falls, and the same distance from Germantown,
which at that time consisted of but a single long street or
road.

It was therefore about this old Roxborough farm-house,
and on this and adjacent land of the plateau, that the main
Continental army, commanded by Washington, encamped
during the first week in August, and for two days in Sep-
tember, 1777, before, and immediately after, the battle of
Brandywine.

Subsequently, in 1780, Mr. Hill erected a more imposing
structure on the site of the old farm-house; this is still
standing, owned and occupied by the heirs of Cornelius 8.
Smith, who purchased, in 1840, eighty-five acres of the land,
including the mansion. Situated on a slight elevation, well
back from the lane, with graceful portico, primeval trees, and
ample lawn, it presents a picture of peace and rest not in
the least suggestive of the tented field or hideous war.

Upon the occupation of Philadelphia by the British (26th
September, 1777), the left wing of their army under Gen-
eral Knyphausen was stationed on these grounds until
October 19, and a stone building situate on that part of the
Hill estate south of Indian Queen Lane, erected in 1782, was
used as a smithery for the cavalry. In recent years the
building was several times enlarged, and is still standing;
it is well known as having been the country-seat of the late
Dr. Horace Evans, son of Griffith Evans, who purchased the
property in 1818.

Henry Hill,son of Dr. Richard Hill, was born in 1782 on his
father’s Maryland plantation. He was educated as a mer-
chant and settled in Philadelphia, engaging extensively in
the Madeira wine trade, his father having removed to that

! Now known as Wissahickon Avenue.
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island in 1789, where he established a prosperous business.
“ Hill’s Madeira” was widely known as one of the choicest
brands in the Philadelphia market. He was justice of the
peace in 1772 ; member of the Carpenters’ Hall conference
of the committees of safety, 1776, and of the Constitutional
Convention of 1776. He commanded a battalion of Asso-
ciators in 1776,! and in 1780 subscribed five thousand
pounds to the Pennsylvania Bank, an institution organized
for the purpose of procuring provisions for the use of the
Continental army. Mr. Hill was also one of the original
subscribers to the Bank of North America and a director
from 1781 to 1792. From 1780 to 1784 he was a member
of the Assembly, and of the Executive Council from 1785
to 1788.

Henry Hill married a daughter of Reese Meredith, whom
he survived. He died of yellow fever, September 15, 1798,
leaving no issue. His town house, which he built, was at
the corner of Fourth and Union streets. This house is still
standing, and in after-years was the residence of Dr. Philip
Syng Physick.

The movement of the army to this camping ground,
which was reached on Friday, the first day of August,? and
its purpose is best described by Washington himself in a
letter written from the old Roxborough farm-house to his
brother, John Augustine Washington, and dated August 5,
1777.

“Since General Howe’s remove from the Jerseys [June
80], the troops under my command have been more har-
assed by marching and countermarching than by any other
thing that has happened to them in the course of the cam-
paign. After Gen' Howe bhad embarked his Troops, the

! Henry Hill was one of the original members of the “First Troop
Philadelphia City Cavalry,” organized November 17, 1774, and an hon-
orary member of “The Bociety of the Friendly Sons of 8t. Patrick,”
organized in 1771, the parent of the present “ Hibernian Society.” He
was also a member of the “ American Philosophical Society,” elected
January 18, 1771.

? ¢ August 1st. 1777.—The army arrived at its encamping ground
between Germantown and Schuylkill River.”— Pickering’s Journal.
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presumption that he would operate upon the North River,
to form a junction with General Burgoyne was so strong,
that I removed from Middle Brook to Morristown, and from
Morristown to the Clove (a narrow passage leading through
the Highlands), about eighteen miles from the river. Indeed,
upon some pretty strong presumptive evidence, I threw two
divisions over the North River. In this situation we lay till
about the 24th ult., when receiving certain information that
the fleet had actually sailed from Sandy Hook (the outer
point of New York Harbor) and the concurring sentiment
of every one (tho’ I acknowledge my doubts of it were
strong), that Philadelphia was the object, we counter-
marched and got to Coryell’s Ferry on the Delaware [now
New Hope], about thirty-three miles above the city, on the
27th, where I lay till I received information from Congress
that the enemy were actually at the Capes of Delaware.
This brought us in great haste to this place for the defence
of the city.! But in less than twenty-four hours after our
arrival, we got accounts of the disappearance of the Fleet on
the 81st; since which, nothing having been heard of them,
we remain here in a very irksome state of suspense; some
imagining that they are gone to the Southward, whilst a
majority (in whose opinion upon this occasion I concur),
are satisfied they are gone to the Eastward. The fatigue,
however, and injury, which men must sustain by long
marches in such extreme heat, as we have felt for the
last five days, must keep us quiet till we hear something of
the destination of the Enemy.”

The army at the camp by Schuylkill Falls, composed of

1 Washington left Coryell’s Ferry on July 81, in advance of the army,
and arrived at Philadelphia about 10 o’clock the same evening, stopping
at the City Tavern, Second above Walnut street. On the following day,
August 1, he examined the defences of the Delaware, and passed the
pight at Chester. He returned to the city on the 2d, and remained until
the afternoon of the 4th, when he joined the army at the camp by
Schuylkill Falls, making his head-quarters at the house of Henry Hill.
These quarters were retained until the morning of the 10th, when, after
writing a lengthy letter to Congress, relative to the defences of the Dela-
ware, he left for the army, then on its march to the northward.
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troops from New Jersey, Pennsylvania, Maryland, Virginia,
and North:Carolina, was the second one raised for the
cause of independence. It was the successor of that of 1776,
which, enlisted in front of Boston, had fought at Long
Island, Harlem Heights and White Plains, at Trenton and
at Princeton.

It is thus described by the Marquis de Lafayette, who
had just offered his services to Congress:' ¢ About eleven
thousand men, ill armed and still worse clothed, presented
a strange spectacle to the eye of the young Frenchman:
their clothes were parti-coloured, and many of them were
almost naked; the best clad wore hunting shirts, large
grey linen coats which were much used in Carolina. As to
their military tactics, it will be sufficient to say that for a
regiment ranged in order of battle to move forward on the
right of the line, it was necessary for the left to make a con-
tinued counter march. They were always arranged in two
lines, the smallest men in the first line ; no other distinction
as to height was ever observed. In spite of these disadvan-
tages, the soldiers were fine, and the officers zealous; virtue
stood in place of science, and each day added both to expe-
rience and discipline.” *

“ Tl armed, still worse clothed,” without discipline; it is,
unfortunately, too truthful a picture. But they were the
soldiers of the Continental army of 1777-78; the army that
fought at Brandywine and Germantown ; the soldiers whose

1 The Marquis de Lafayette set sail on a vessel fitted out at his own
expense (“ La Victoire”), from Passage, a Spanish port, 26 April, 1777,
with De Kalb and eleven other officers, and landed 16 June, at George-
town, South Carolina, whence he proceeded to Charleston. After a
journey of more than a month on horseback, he arrived at Philadel-
phia on the 27th of July. Congress at that time was beset with so
many applications from foreign officers in quest of adventure, that
Lafayette at first met with a rather cold reception; but, after declaring
his wish to serve as a volunteer and at his own expense, he was
appointed major-general, July 81. He was invited by Washington to
become a member of his military family, and joined the army at the
““ Neshaminy Camp,” on the 20th of August. At this time Lafayette
was not quite twenty years of age.

3 Memoirs and Correspondence of General Lafayette, page 18.
Vor. xvi.—3
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sufferings have made the bleak hills of Valley Forge sacred
soil for Americans.

And who were the commanders ? let us group them for a
moment! Greene, of Rhode Island; Knox, of Massachu-
setts ; Stirling and Maxwell, of New Jersey; Wayne and
Moylan, of Pennsylvania; Stephen, Muhlenberg, Weedon,
and Morgan, of Virginia, and Nash, of North Carolina.

As they stand by the old Roxborough farm-house, how
familiar they all seem; their faces are as well known as
their deeds, and they cannot be forgotten. But another
draws near! We see a figure, noble and tall, a face of
strength, of sincerity, a face of command. All turn with
respect. It is the chief! it is WasHINGTON, second to none.

The records of the encampment present the usual routine
of an army at rest.

Divine services were held on the afternoon of Sunday, the
8d; courts-martial sat at Palmer’s Tavern, at the Falls, on
the 6th, and at Leech’s Tavern in Germantown, on the fol-
lowing day; on the 7th, a board of general officers to make
inquiry why the pay-abstracts were not made out, and for
the consideration of other matters, was convened at the
quarters of General Stephen, near the Falls;' and on the
8th, returns were made to the Commander-in-Chief of a
court-martial held on July 18 and 19, when head-quarters
were at Suffern’s Tavern, in New York. Some offenders
were pardoned, others were punished.

At ten o’clock on the morning of the 8th, the troops of
the whole line were reviewed, and in the afternoon, under
the belief that the enemy had abandoned all designs against
Philadelphia, the army was started back on its march to
the Hudson.?

! General Stephen’s quarters were at the house of the Rev. William
Smith, D.D., between Indian Queen Lane and the Ridge Road, about
two hundred yards from the Falls. Dr. Smith, the first provost of the
“College and Academy of the Province of Pennsylvania,” afterwards
(1791) the “ University of Pennsylvania,” died in 1803. The house,
erected in 1778, is still standing, although materially altered.

14 August 8th.—The army was reviewed, and in the afternoon
marched about nine or ten miles back from Germantown. But it wasa
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On the evening of the 10th, however, information having
been received that a fleet had been seen on the 7th off Sin-
epuxent Inlet, about sixteen leagues southward of the
Capes of Delaware, the troops were halted, and went into
camp on the Old York Road near the Neshaminy Creek,
about half a mile above the present village of Hartsville,
Bucks County, formerly known as the Cross-Roads.!

A general order issued the day after the arrival of the
army at the Neshaminy, would indicate that the soldiers
had been unusually careful in the use of the fences in the
vicinity of their late encampment, an uncommon occurrence
in the history of armies. It is, however, a matter of record
that the weather at the time was extremely hot, a fact
which may have had something to do with this unwonted
morality. The order is as follows:

“ Cross Roads, Augt. 11th, 1777.—That few complaints
were made for damage done to fences and other property
while the troops lay at or near Germantown has given much
satisfaction to the well disposed Inhabitants of that Neigh-
borhood, and such peculiar pleasure to the Gen! that he
thinks it an act of Justice to express his approbation of their
conduct in a General Order.”

The house occupied by Washington as head-quarters at

hot day ; the troops fatigued by being uader arms from six o’clock in
the morning till one or two in the afternoon; and the march afterwards
hurt many of them, especially as some did not arrive at their ground till
late in the evening. But the General did not intend they should have
moved so far by four or five miles. The Deputy Quartermaster-General
miscalculated the distance; and, besides, did not take the route which
led most directly to Coryell’s Ferry, so that the army marched, this and
the following day but one, five or six miles for nothing.”— Pickering’s
Journal.

14 August 8th.—At 4 P.M., we marched from the plains’and proceeded
thro’ Germantown to White Marsh, where we encamped . . August 9th,
—Early we marched into Upper Dublin township where we encamped.
I am nearly sick of marching . . August 10th.—At dawn the General
beat, when all tents were struck. We passed Wells's tavern, the Crooked
Billet [now Hatborough] and reached Cross Roads where we en-
camped.”—MS. Journal of Captain James McMichael, Pennsylvania
Line.
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the ¢ Neshaminy Camp,” a substantial stone dwelling, is still
standing on the Old York Road near the northeast end of
the present bridge over the Little Neshaminy Creek, at the
foot of a long and rather steep elevation known as Carr’s
Hill. At the time of the Revolution it was one of the best-
finished houses in the neighborhood.’

A letter to Robert Morris, written at this house, is so
suggestive of Washington’s invariable attention to detail and
innate love of accuracy, that it is well worth transcribing:

“QOross Roads near Neshaminy Bridge, Aug. 14th, 1777.
Dear Sir: In looking over my private acct. with the
Public, I find a credit to it of a blank number of Silver
Dollars sent me by you whilst I lay at Trenton about the
first of Jan’—for want of the Sum, I cannot Bal* the Acct.
and shall thank you for information on this head.”

These were days of anxiety and doubt; of weary waiting
and vexing delay, yet the Commander-in-Chief, sitting in
the house * near Neshaminy Bridge,” quietly examines his
accounts, discovers the omission, and seeks a solution. The
account was balanced, as appears by the following entry:
« January, 1777. By Cash of Robert Morris in specie per
acc . . . £124. 7. 8.” The life of Washington reveals many
accounts that were balanced; we need not say how well they
were balanced.

A week later, August 22, news of the brilliant victory
at Bennington, on the 16th, the first stroke at Burgoyne,
and the precursor of Saratoga, was announced to the army
at the ¢ Neshaminy Camp,” ? and on the same day positive

14 Washington’s Encampment on the Neshaminy,” by William J.
Buck.—Pennsylvania Magazine, 1. 275.

3 ¢« The Commander-in-Chief has the happiness to inform the army
of the signal victory obtained to the northward. A part of General
Burgoyne’s army, about 1500 in number, were detached towards New
Hampshire, and advanced with a design to possess themselves of Ben-
pington. Brigadier-General Starke, of the State of New Hampshire,
with about 2000 men, mostly militia, attacked them. Our troops
behaved in a very brave and heroic manner. They pushed the enemy
from one work to another, thrown up on advantageous ground, and from
different posts with spirit and fortitude, until they gained a complete
victory over them.”— Orderly Book, August 22.
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information that the British fleet had arrived in Chesapeake
Bay was received.

Early on the morning of the 23d, all doubts as to the
destination of the enemy being removed, the army was
again put in motion down the Old York Road, and en-
camped for the night in the vicinity of the present Nice-
town, Washington making his head-quarters at “ Stenton,”
the homestead of the Logan family.

An interesting account of this visit of the Commander-
in-Chief to “Stenton,” is given us by Deborah Norris
Logan, widow of Dr. George Logan, in a biographical
sketch of her husband, written in 1821 (the year of his
death), but still remaining in manuscript:

“ 'When the army was passing down in August 1777, to
intercept the British armament which was on the coast, and
about this time landed at the head of Elk in Maryland,
General Washington with his staff (about twenty officers
and their servants) stopped at Stenton, then unoccupied by
the family, where his guards and an aide-de-camp had ar-
rived before him and where they all took up their quarters
for that night. The General arrived about noon, and at
three o’clock they dined on a sheep they had bought of the
tenant, and killed and prepared immediately. One of the
family who was accidentally there, remarked that they were
all exceedingly civil and very quiet, and that the General
himself appeared extremely grave and thoughtful, and was
very silent.”

The house at ‘Stenton,” erected by James Logan in
1728, is still standing, but how different in its surroundings!
In 1777, the ornament of broad acres, encircled by majestic
trees, far from the city. In 1892, abutted by streets, a few
straggling old trees, in the city itself. Then, a home! now,
a relic of the past!

The following general order was issued at ¢ Stenton,” by
the Commander-in-Chief:

‘ Head.-quarters, Stenton, near Germantown, August 23, 1777.
No officer or soldier is to leave the encampment this even-
ing without leave in writing from the Major or Brigadier



38 The Camp by Schuylkill Falls.

under whom he acts, and they are desired not to give such
leave unless there is apparent cause for it. The army is to
move precisely at four o’clock in the morning, if it should
not rain. The Division commanded by General Wayne is
to join its proper place in the line, between Lord Stirling’s
and General Stephen’s Divisions, and it is strongly and
earnestly enjoined upon the commanding officers of corps,
to make all their men who are able to bear arms, except
the necessary guards, march in the ranks, for it is so great
a reflection when all orders are disobeyed, and to see such
& number of street-rollers (for they cannot be called guards)
with the wagons, that it is really shocking.

“The army is to march in one column through the city
of Philadelphia, going in at and marching down Front
Street to Chestnut, and up Chestnut to the Common. A
small halt is to be made about a mile this side of the city
until the rear is clear up and the line in proper order. . . .

““That the line of march through the city may be as little
encumbered as possible, only one ammunition wagon is to
attend the field-pieces of each brigade and every artillery
park. All the rest of the baggage wagons and spare horses
are to file off to the right, to avoid the city entirely, and
move on to the bridge at the middle ferry [Market Street]
and then halt, but not so far as to impede the march of the
troops by preventing their passing them. . .

“ The drums and fifes of each brigade are to be collected
in the centre of it, and a tune for the quick-step played, but
with such moderation that the men may step to it with ease,
and without dancing along, or totally disregarding the music,
as has been too often the case.”

On the following day, Sunday, August 24, the army
marched through Philadelphia,! encamping for the night at

“ I saw our army with the commander-in-chief at its head, pass down
Front street. It amounted to but about eight or nine thousand men, ac-
cording to Mr. Marshall ; but these, though indifferently dressed, held well
burnished arms, and carried them like soldiers, and looked, in short, as
if they might have faced an equal number with a reasonable prospect of
success.”—Graydon’s Memoirs.
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Darby,! and arriving at Wilmington on the 26th; the
heights of Brandywine were reached on September 9.

The story of Brandywine has often been told, every de-
tail brought together, carefully noted and recorded, there
is nothing new; suffice it to say, that the army, unpursued
by the enemy, passed the night of S8eptember 11 “ behind
Chester,” the Commander-in-Chief making his quarters at
the Mcllvain house (still standing), a short distance back or
north of the village of Ridley, now Leiperville, and east of
Crum Creek.

On Friday, the 12th, the day after the battle of Brandy-
wine, the troops marched through Darby, crossed the
8chuylkill on the floating bridge, at the Middle Ferry, and
returned to the camp by Schuylkill Falls.?

On the 18th the following general order was issued from
the old Roxborough farm-house: ¢ The General, with
peculiar satisfaction, thanks those gallant officers and sol-
diers who on the 11th inst. bravely fought in their country’s
cause. If there are any whose conduct reflects dishonor
on goldiership and their names not pointed out to him, he
must for the present leave them to reflect how much they
have injured their country, how unfaithfully they have

14 August 24th.—The army marched through the city, and was allowed
to make a fine appearance, the order of marching being extremely well
preserved. We advanced to Derby . . 25th.—The army marched
through Chester to Naaman’s Creek, the General and family advancing
to Wilmington, a pretty town and pleasantly situated.”—Pickering’s
Journal.

1 Head Quarters, Chester Sep® 12, 1777.—The troops are to march in
good order through Derby, to the Bridge over the Schuylkill, cross it and
proceed up to their former ground, near the falls of Schuylkill and Ger-
mantown, and there pitch their tents. Gen' Greene’s Division will move
last and cover the baggage &c. Gen' Maxwell’s light troops will remain
at Chester to collect all the stragglers they can and to-morrow follow the
army, the Directors of the Hospital will see that all the sick are sent to
Philadelphia.”— Orderly Book.

“ September 12th.—This day the army marched to the Schuylkill, part
crossing and marching to our old camp by Schuylkill Falls . . 13th.—
The rest of the army crossed, and the whole collected at the old encamp-
ment, vast numbers of stragglers coming in.”— Pickering’s Journal.
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proved to their fellow-soldiers; but with this exhortation:
that they embrace the first opportunity which may offer to
do justice to both and to the profession of a soldier.

‘“ Although the events of that day, from some unfortunate
circumstances, were not so favorable as could be wished,
the General has the satisfaction of assuring the troops that
from every account he has been able to obtain, the enemy’s
loss vastly exceeded ours, and he has full confidence that in
another appeal to Heaven, with the blessing of Providence,
which it becomes every officer and soldier to supplicate, we
shall prove successful.

““The honorable Congress, in consideration of the gal-
lant behavior of the troops on Thursday last, their fatigue
since, and from a full conviction that on every future occa-
sion they will manifest a bravery worthy of the cause they
have undertaken to defend, having been pleased to order
thirty hogsheads of rum to be distributed among them, in
such manner as the Commander-in-Chief shall direct, he
orders the Commissary-general of Issues to deliver one gill
per day to every officer and soldier while it lasts.

¢ The order of the Encampment at this place need not be
attended to, as our stay here will be short, each Division is
to encamp in as compact order as possible to-night.”

Henry Knox, Washington’s chief of artillery and trusted
friend, wrote two letters on September 18, from the camp
by Schuylkill Falls: one to General Artemas Ward, Pres-
ident of the Executive Council of Massachusetts, transmit-
ting a brief but very clear account of the battle of Brandy-
wine, and the other to his wife, assuring her of his safety.
This we transcribe.

« Camp near Schuylkill, 13 Sept., 1777.—My dear girl will
be bhappy to hear of her Harry’s safety; for my Lucy,
Heaven, who is our guide, has protected him in the day of
battle. You will hear with this letter of the most severe
action that has been fought this war between our army and
the enemy. Our people behaved well, but Heaven frowned
on us in a degree. We were obliged to retire after very
considerable slaughter of the enemy : they dared not pursue
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a single step. If they advance, we shall fight them again
before they get possession of Philadelphia; but of this they
will be cautious. My corps did me great honor; they be-
haved like men contending for everything that’s valuable.”

In a review of the life of Henry Knox, it is difficult to
determine which most to admire, his love for his country,
or his devotion to his wife Lucy. We horor him for one,
but we love him for the other.

On Sunday, September 14, the army, “ having cleaned
their arms, and received ammunition to complete forty
rounds a man,” ! marched from the camp by Schuylkill Falls,
recrossing the river at Matson’s Ford, now Conshohocken ;
when Washington, ¢ steel proof against despair,”* moved
towards the enemy again.

The years in their ceaseless course have rolled steadily
on, and from the day the soldiers of the Revolution left
their beautiful camp, we number more than one hundred,
more than a century. Officers and soldiers have gone to
their rest: the old Roxborough farm-house has long since
disappeared ; of the camp, not a vestige remains.

Other armies have encamped, other head-quarters are
known, other soldiers have lived, have fought, and have
died; the pages of history are filled with their deeds, and
the UnioN was saved. All this will be remembered : it is a
memory for all. But it is for us to remember, that the army
which fought to establish the Union, the army commanded
by WASHINGTON, rested for awhile at the camp by Schuyl-
kill Falls.

1 Pickering’s Journal.
* Edward J. Phelps.—Oration at Bennington, August 19, 1891.
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A LIST OF THE INHABITANTS OF GERMANTOWN
AND CHESTNUT HILL IN 1809.

(Concluded from Vol. XV. p. 480.)

BY THOMAS H. SHOEMAKER.

S8aml Cook E Eye g . 20 all 20
John Cook E Eye g .. 50 « 60
George Bensell M D! . . 8145 1 paid  16.72
& 7 acres of land . . . 176 “ 87
‘William Ashmead? . . 1256 83 « 6.60
James Ashmead® . . . 65 40 ¢ 72
Thomas Armatt* . . . 1606 76 « 8.27
George Bringhurst® . . 716 “ 8.57
Robert Bringhurst® . . 40 650 « 70
William Bringhurst® . . 50 « 60
Philip Warner . . . 650 « 60

1 Dr. George Bensell, born in 1767, in Germantown, and for a long
time the only physician in the place. He owned both corners of School
Lane and Germantown Avenue, having built the large house, No. 4794,
which he occupied, and which has since made way for the Germantown
Saving Fund.

* William Ashmead, first person to introduce carriage-building in the
town. He lived at No. 4790 Germantown Avenue, where his family, in
1711, took up five hundred acres of land.

$ James Ashmead, a son of William, born 1770, and lived at No. 4792
Germantown Avenue. The Ashmead houses still stand, and are occu-
pied by the family. James was a storekeeper.

¢ Thomas Armatt, born in England, in 1748, became a merchant in
Philadelphia, and later located at No. 4788 Germantown Avenue, oppo-
site Market Square. The house still stands. He was a man of means,
which he used with much liberality.

8 George Bringhurst resided at No. 4784 Germantown Avenue, still
standing, and occupied by the Rev. C. W. Schaeffer.

¢ Robert and William Bringhurst, brothers of George, and, like him,
coachmakers, and apparently living with him at this time.
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Jno & Elliston Perot! . . 1475 paid 7.87
John Ashmead?® . . . 1866 76 « 10.07
James Hooper . . . 26 « 26
Samuel Harman?® . . . 26 ¢ 25
Jacob Butcher* . . . 26 « 26
Jacob Nevil g . . . 60 all 650
George Bowers . . . 50 paid 50
Thomas Dobsons Est . . 500 “ 2.50
Jacob Emhardt® . . . 26 « 26
Christopher Shull g . 50 all 50
John Rose® . . . . 1633 40 paid 8.56
Charles Buckius? . . . 50 ¢« 50
John Alexanderg . . . 50 all 50
Christr Buckius® . . . 2126 paid 10.37
Andrew Hess® . . . 26 « 26
Andw & Chritn Hess® . . 415 2.07
Christian Hess® . . . 25 all 26

1 John and Elliston Perot, descended from a French family, mer-
chants of Philadelphia, who in 1804 purchased the old Deshler house, No.
4782 Germantown Avenue, now occupied by Elliston’s grandson, E. P.
Morris. The house was rendered historic by being the residence of
General Washington in 1798, when driven from Philadelphia by the
yellow fever, and previously by Sir William Howe during the Revolution.

* John Ashmead carried on an extensive carriage manufacturing busi-
ness at No. 4770 Germantown Avenue, still owned and occupied by his
descendants. He lived at No. 4774. Both houses still stand.

3 S8amuel Harman, shoemaker, lived at No. 4766 Germantown Avenue.

¢ Jacob Butcher lived in an old stone house on School Lane, west of
Wayne Avenue.

¢ Jacob Emhardt, tailor, who lived in a frame house which stood where
No. 4762 Germantown Avenue now does.

¢ John Rose, a butcher, whose house stood at No. 4760 Germantown
Avenue, now the site of the Friends’ Library. :

" Charles Buckius, a son of Christophel. Charles afterward purchased
the Ship House, Germantown Avenue, above Washington Lane, where
he carried on the tanning of sheepskins. The house is still occupied by
his daughters.

8 Christophel Buckius, farmer., His house stood on the west corner
of Coulter Street and Germantown Avenue, where the Coulter House
now is.

® Andrew and Christian Hess, hatters, who lived on Germantown
Avenue, just below Coulter Street.
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Daniel Hess g . . . 20 all 20
Peter Buckius . . . 416 256 paid 2.32
Catharine Keysers Est! . 240 “ 1.20
George Waterman? ., . 60 50
John Street . . . . 40 40 « 60
& for John Crouts Est . . 665 “ 8.82
Philip Fisher? . . . 606 25 3.27
Catharine Kinleys Est¢ . 845 “ 2.72
John Fry Jr e 50 « 50
John Fry® . . . 1820 “ 6.60
John Harchee poor' . . 20 all 20
William Bunner? . . 880 26 paid 1.90
Emanuel Fox® . . . 9560 88 « 5.08
Peetr Baynton™® . . . 38 « 33
Joseph Bullocks Est® . . 800 7% « 4.75

! Catharine Keyser’s estate was located just below the market-house.

? George Waterman, a hatter, and probably worked for the Hesses.

3 Philip Fisher, a carpenter, who lived on Germantown Avenue, just
above Penn Street.

¢ Catharine Kinley's estate, next to Fisher’s.

8 John Fry was located on the west corner of what is now Penn Street
and Germantown Avenue. Here he had his store, and carried on an
extensive business with the farmers, who brought their produce down to
trade off for store goods. He was a brother of Jacob, who was in the
same businees where the Germantown Trust Company is now located.

¢John Harchee, a Heasian soldier, who deserted from the British.
His grandson, William A. Ulmer, wrote quite an interesting account of
him for Hotchkins. See page 118.

T William Bunner, a carpenter, who lived on the south corner of Penn
Street and Germantown Avenue.

8 Emanuel Fox, manufacturer of lampblack. His place was about
where Trinity Lutheran Church now is. His son George continued the
business. Their product was so fine that “ Germantown lampblack” is
the title bestowed on the highest quality still.

% Joseph Bullock’s estate. This is the house now the parsonage of the
Lutheran Church, west corner of Queen Lane and Germantown Avenue.
It was in the cellar of it that Christopher Sower cast his first type.

1o Peter Baynton, known in the town as “8quire” Baynton, occupied
Joseph Bullock’s house, corner of Main and Queen Streets. Afterward
he moved to No. 4630 Germantown Avenue. His father was an eminent
merchant of Philadelphia, being of the firm of Baynton, Wharton &
Morgan.
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Michael Ritter! . . . 11560 50 paid 6.25

Robert Street? . . . 10 88 « 88
Joseph Cross .o . 50 « 50
Christopher Lawshet® . . 2082 33 « 10.74
Christian Lawshet* . . 50 « 50
Alexander Provost® . . 175 83 « 4.20
‘William Forbes Est® . . 4155 “ 20.77
John Zenno . . . . 50 ¢« 50
David Cunningham’ . . 40 60 « 70
John Harlands Est® . . 1000 “ 5.00
John Bringhurst . . . 50 50
Saml Bringhurst® . . . 985 26 « 5.17

! Michael Ritter kept the Indian Queen Hotel, at the south corner of
Indian Queen Lane and Germantown Avenue.

* Robert Street, a shoemaker, who lived just below Queen Lane.

3 Christopher Lawshet, whose proper name was Van Lauchet, lived at
about what now is No, 4660 Germantown Avenue, where Woltemate’s
greenhouse is. The old house had the regulation half-door. The upper
half had a deep cut running diagonally across it, made by a British
officer with his sword. A man, who was standing inside, offended the
officer, and had just time to pull the door to and let it receive the blow
intended for his head.

¢ Christian Van Lauchet, a carpenter and pump-maker, who lived at
about No. 46560 Germantown Avenue. He was & bachelor.

8 Alexander Provost, a stone-mason, who lived at this time in No. 4646
Germantown Avenue, now Woltemate's. He afterward lived in No.
4686, two doors below.

¢ William Forbes's estate. This is a stone house still standing, No.
4636 Germantown Avenue, which for many years has been occupied by
the Howell family.

" David Cunningham, whose proper name was David H. Conyng-
ham, lived in the stone house still standing, No. 4634 Germantown
Avenue. He was a prominent merchant in Philadelphia. I presume he
had not purchased the house at this date, but that it belonged to Wil-
liam Forbes’s estate. It has, since 1844, been the home of the Hacker
family.

¢ John Harland’s estate. This house, still standing at No. 4626 Ger-
mantown Avenue, was, at first, the summer home of the family, but has
been for many years their permanent one.

? Samuel Bringhurst, manufacturer of ironwork for carriages, No. 4622
Germantown Avenue. His house is now occupied by Mr. W. W, Wister.
It was on this property that Gilbert Stuart painted his famous portrait of
General Washington.
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William Shippen’s Est! . . 1220 paid 6.10
Daniel King’s Est ? . . 1070 “ 5.85
John Foos® . . . . 840 50 « 2.20
Jacob Smith . . . . 10 25 « 80
Jacob Sommers Sr . 1419 40 « 7.49
for Edward Shippens G R . 70 “ 85
John Burrell ¢ . . 840 25 « 1.95
& for Willm. Shippen’s G R . 7 Lo« 86
Samuel Lehman’s Est . . 465 2.27
Lewis Lehman® . . 26 « 25
& for Rudolph Regar 8 Est . 166 ¢« (K
Leonard Regar® . . . 60 83 « 63
Jacob Regar . . . 995 60 « 6.47
& for Wm. Shippen’s G R . 105 “ 62
William Regar . . . 38 « 33
‘Widow Helm’s Est . . 520 “ 2.60
John Ellison . . 50 « 50
& for Robert Whittle’s Est T . 338 «“ 1.66
& for Willm. Shippen’s G R . 187 “ 98
Saml Fleckenstein ® . . 400 83 « 2.33

! William Shippen’s estate. William was a son of Joseph Shippen,
who purchased one hundred acres of land and built a summer residence
thereon. It became known afterward as the Buttonwood Hotel, which
was torn down by Casper Heft, when he built his house, No. 4612 Ger-
mantown Avenue.

? Daniel King’s estate. This is the old house now occupied by the
Greens, hatters, Nos, 4562-64 Germantown Avenue.

3 John Foos, & music teacher, who lived in the house still standing,
No. 4568 Germantown Avenue.

¢ John Burrell lived on Manheim Street, about where Green Street
now is.

8 Lewis Lehman, a carpenter, who lived on the upper side of Manheim
Street.

¢ Leonard Regar kept a livery-stable a few doors in from Germantown
Avenue, on Manheim Street.

7 Robert Whittle kept a tavern at the south corner of Germantown
Avenue and Manheim Street.

¢ Samuel Fleckenstein lived in Spring Alley, a small street off
of Manheim, near Germantown Avenue. It is supposed, like his
son and grandson, who occupied the old homestead, that he was a
mechanic, they being noted for their ingenunity and small charges.
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Charles Colladay! . . . 386 25 paid 2.17

Thomas Cox . . . . b85 40 « 8.32
Jos Shoemaker’s Est? . . 1760 ¢ 8.76
Richard Pitt . . . . 25 ¢« 25
John German . . . . T12 33 « 3.89
Widow Wood’s Est? . . 800 ¢ 1.50
Samuel Mechlin* . . . 765 ¢ 75
Samuel Mechlin, Sr* . . 2022 88 ¢« 10.44
William Currey’s Est . . 8560 “ 4.256
John Hartley’s Est . . . 1617 “ 8.08
Thomas W. Armatt’s Est® . 1100 6 5.50
Absalom Williams? . . 5870 88 « 8.18
Emanuel Walker’s Est . . 125 ¢ 62
Joseph Taggart’s Est® . . 800 “ 4.00
Matthew Huston’s Est . . 80 o 40
Thomas Forrest’s Est® . . 4556 ¢ 2.27

We know that he held public office, as he was the collector of this tax
list.

1 Charles Colladay lived on Manheim Street near Spring Alley. He
was for a time Tax Collector.

? Joseph Shoemaker’s estate. This was the property now owned by
the Royals, No. 4506 Germantown Avenue.

3 Widow Wood’s estate. Husband’s name, Andrew, was on the site
now occupied by the Henry house, No. 4436 Germantown Avenue,
opposite Fisher’s Lane.

* Samuel Mechlin, son of S8amuel, Senior, and lived in the same house.

® Samuel Mechlin, tanner, born 1780, died 1817. His house and tan-
yard were at No. 4434 Germantown Avenue. The house served as a
hospital during the battle of Germantown, and still stands.

¢ Thomas Wright Armatt, son of Thomas Armatt, and for a time his
partner in Philadelphia. In 1801, Thomas built for him ‘ Loudon,” on
the west side of Negley’s Hill, No. 4856 Germantown Avenue. It is
still owned and occupied by his granddaughter, Mrs. G. G. Logan.

7 Absalom Williams lived on the lower side of Manheim Street.

8 Joseph Taggart’s estate. Located on Manheim Street opposite the
Betton property. On this land the British infantry were encamped
during the Revolution. Joseph Taggart was a president of the Farm-
ers and Mechanics’ Bank.

® Thomas Forrest’s estate. This, from its location on Manheim Street,
is, I presume, “ White Cottage,” purchased, probably, by Colonel Forrest
for his daughter, who married Dr, Samuel Betton. It is still in the
possession of the Betton family.
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Christian Clouse Est . . 155 25 paid 1.02
Robert Bordman!® . . . 515 83 2.90
Edward Bordman gone . . 20 all 20
Joseph Rapp’s Est.? . . 160 paid 80
Samuel Blair’s Est . . . 540 all 2.70
Levi Jones® . . . . 475 26 paid 2.62
Catharine Seller’s Est . . 70 “ 85
John Sellers*. . . . 540 25 « 2.95
George Heyle . .. 100 50 « 1.00
Lewis Clapier’s Est®* . . 2885 “ 11.67
John Gunter . . . . 120 26 « 85
& for William Shippen’s Est . 5§70 “ 2.8
James Miller gone .. 130 25 all 90
& for John Cochran’s Est . 1105 paid 5.52
Capt Dobbin’s Est . . . 40 “ 20
Jacob Kulp’s Est . . . 40 “ 20
‘William Shippen’s Est . . 1729 “ 8.64
William Reed .. 50 ¢ 50
& for Henry Frailey’s Est . 470 “ 2.86
Peter Rice® . . . . 180 “ 65
Isaac Lowden gone . . 20 « 20
Benjamin 8ay’s Est . . 40 “ 20
Henry Frailey’s Est” . . 1090 “ 545

1 Robert Bordman, carpenter, who lived on the upper side of Man-
heim Street, just beyond Dr. Betton’s, marked Thomas Forrest's estate.

* Joseph Rapp’s estate. He owned a house on Manheim Street, just in
from Germantown Avenue, where he kept a school. .

3 Levi Jones, a small farmer, who lived on the lower side of Manheim
Street, just beyond Wayne Avenue.

¢ Johu Sellers, farmer, just beyond Jones.

8 Louis Clapier, a French merchant, who came to Philadelphia in
1796. He had a country-seat containing one hundred and forty-nine
acres at the lower end of Germantown, now partially owned by H. P.
McKean.

¢ Peter Rice, farmer, who lived on Manheim Street.

7 Henry Frailey’s estate. Frailey was a manufacturer of drums and a
prominent man in the affairs of the town. He resided on Germantown
Avenue below Bringhurst Street; this property was a tract of land he
owned on Manheim Street, which now forms a part of the Germantown
Cricket Club grounds,
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Jacob Tripler!? . . . 115 83 all paid 90

John Butcher? . . . 186 25 « 1.17
Philip Smith* .. . 260 25 « 1.55
John Anneshensel . . . 20 « 20
John Nutz’s Est . . . 1140 “ 5.70
George Keel ¢ .. . 10 20 « 25
& for Joseph S8imm’s Est . 200 “ 1.00
Godlieb Cleaver® . . . 25 ¢« 26
George Tillman® . . . b05 «“ 2.62
Henry Sorber . R . 470 38 2.68
Frederick Yonker? . . 290 1.45
Wager’s Est . . . . 10 paid 5
John Sornmer’s Est . . 395 “ 1.97
Robert Brashier gone . . 26 all 26-
John Smith . . . 20 paid 20
Jacob Gardner . . . 186 “ 67
George Smith . . . 10 88 « 88
& for John Brown’sEst . -~ .. 195 « 97
James Frailey gone . . 25 all 25
William Saxton . . . 86 25 paid 67
& for Jacob Kirk’s Est . . 89 “ 1.97
Matthias Tustin® . . . 800 83 « 1.83
‘William Buckius’ Est . . 120 «“ 60
Stephen Dutilh’s Est . . 2680 “ 13.16
John Newcamp gone . . 25 all 26

1 Jacob Tripler is better remembered as the proprietor of the King of
Prussia, Germantown Avenue above School Lane, than as a resident of
this quarter. ’

? John Butcher, stone-mason, who lived on Township Line above
Manheim Street, a brother of William, who lived on Germantown
Avenue.

! Philip Smith, a small farmer, who lived next to Butcher.

¢ George Keel lived a short distance above Smith.

8 Godlieb Cleaver, a German laboring-man, who resided on the same
street.

¢ George Tillman, a farmer, who lived in a stone house, recently torn
down, on Queen Street, west of Wayne Street.

7 Frederick Jungkurth, father of the coachmaker of that name. He
lived on the lower side of Queen Street.

8 Matthias Tustin, a stone-mason, who lived on Queen Street.

VoL. xvi—4
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John Lower . . e 25 paid 25
George Bensell’s Est . .. 800 “ 1.50
Rudolph Frailey poor . . 10 26 ¢« - 80
& for Catharine Conrad’s Est . 200 1.00
Robert Hare’s Est . . . 1266 “ 6.27
James Hood’s Est . . . 80 “ 15
James Mathews . . . 1275 “ 6.37
Andrew Trullinger . . 1810 60 ¢« 7.05
Jacob Fisher . . . 26 26
Martin Brownhultz gone‘ . 26 all 26
Joseph Gorgas’ Est .. 295 paid 1.47
Owen Gillaspie . . . 250 25 « 1.50
& for William Leibert’s Est . 930 “ 4.65
Joseph Gorgas? . . . 1985 50 « 10.17
Henry Nickham . . . 26 ¢ 26
Charles Hubb’s Est . . 175 “ 87
Jacob Strucher gone . . 50 all 50
John Sharpnack . . .7 83 paid 8.91
Henry Rittenhouse® . . 6bb 25 8.62
Abraham Deavest . . . 1070 50 « 5.85
Peter Ketz gone . . . 20 all 20
Samuel Deaves . . . 1282 33 paid 6.49
Abraham Deaves’ Est . . 2285 “« 11.42
Jobn Niel gone . . 50 all 50
William Chancellor’s Est . 1640 paid 8.20
Henry K. Paul . . 50 « 60
William Huttenstein® . . 2690 40 « 18.25 .

1 The Brownhultz family lived in a small story-and-a-half house, on
the east side of Queen Street, west of Wayune A venue.

? Joseph Gorgas, a member of the old Gorgas family, who owned
property on and gave the name to the road now known as Gorgas Lane.

3 Henry Rittenhouse owned and occupied the old house still standing
an the east corner of Germantown Avenue and Gorgas Lane, It was
erected originally by a Gorgas, but since 1812 has been the home of the
Paul family.

¢ Abraham Deaves owned and occupied the old house still standing,
No. 5635 Germantown Avenue.

8 William Hottenstein built the old stone house still standing on Ger-
mantown Avenue above Mount Pleasant Avenue, about what should be
No. 6655.
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Christian Goodnight . . 26 paid 26
Bernard Shugart . . . 2000 88 « 10.80
Peter Heisler’s Est . . . 605 “ 8.02
Adam Dickhart . . . 860 83 « 4.568
William Hergesheimer . . 700 38 « 3.88
Henry Talbert gone . e 25 all 25
John Nungesser . . . 10 88 paid 38
David Hoffman . . . 1780 83 « 9.28
Isaac Benner . . . . 50 all 50
Frederick Galley . . . 670 38 paid 3.68
JacobReese . . . . 40 7%« 96
Frederick Smith . . . 1665 60 « 8.82
Henry Sweyer .. . 2780 7% « 14.65
Christian Keyser . . . 8b 38 « 50
& for Isaiah Evans Est . . 900 “ 4.50
Benjamin Gorgas?® . . . 88 « 83
Casper Foller. . . . 249 25 « 1.49
Benjamin Gorgas 8r* . . 1480 38 « 7.15
Conrad Nell . . . . 20 20
Turnpike Est . .. . 1560 “ 75
Savers Brosius®* . . . 70 “ 85
Donats Est . . . . 8785 “ 18.67
Jacob Getz* . . . . 860 33 « 4.63
Brooks Est . . . . 270 “ 1.35
Jacob Sellers . . . . 650 « 50
Peter Conrad . . . . 25 « 26

! Benjamin Gorgas, son of Benjamin, Sr., also an occupant of the old
Gorgas homestead.

* Benjamin Gorgas, 8r., built the old Gorgas house, Nos. 5728 and 5730
Germantown Avenue, now the south corner of Allen’s Lane and Ger-
mantown Avenue. A portion of the building was used as a store for
many years,

3 Savers Brosius, whose proper title was Rev. Francis Xavier Brosius,
came to America in 1792 with the prince priest Galitzin. Brosius
founded Mount Airy College in 1807, in Judge Allen’s house, Main
opposite Allen’s Lane, since torn down. The Lutheran Theological
Seminary now occupies the site.

¢ Jacob Getz was probably the person mentioned by Hotchkins as
Jacob Ketz, who, he says, built the house, still in possession of the family,
on the west side of Germantown Avenue near Allen’s Lane.
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Joseph Miller! . . . 4908 50 paid  25.04

Ludwick Shaffer . . . 5b8b 83 « 3.10
Conrad Wolf . . . . 4056 40 « 2.42
Andrew Barnet . . . 920 88 « 4.93
Jacob Roht . . . . 25 ¢« 25
Martin Fries . . . 10 25 ¢« 80
& for Widow Loshers Eat . 650 « 3.25
Jacob Mason . . . . 50 « 50
Daniel Heins . . . . 50 « 50
Samuel B. Orneg gone . . 50 all 50

Francis Bockins®* . . . 950 40 paid 5.15
Garret Rittenhouse . . 2115 38 « 10.90

Peter Mason . . . . 260 26 « 1.56
John Nace® . R . 40 88 « 58
Elizabeth Mason’s Est . . 1870 “ 9.85
Casper Geiger . . . 10 83 « 63
Jacob Nace . . . . 1420 26 « 7.35
John Burnheiter . . . 90 33 « 78
& for Levi Rex’s Est . . 1850 “ 6.75
Peter Nace’s Est . . . 705 “ 3.52
Anthony Conrad’s Est . . 866 “ 1.82
William Holgate . . . 83 « 83
William Hansberry . . 25 « 26
Jacob Holgate . . . 2620 650 « 13.10
Frederick Weiss . . . 26 « 25
John Hammer . . . 26 ¢« 25
David Dermount gone . . 25 all 25
Jacob Pennock . . 26 paid 25
‘William Stillwaggon gone . 33 all 83
Jabob File gone . .. 20 « 20

Martin Painter . . . 8b6b 83 paid 2.10

! Josepb Miller, born 1757, died 1825. Built the fine old house still
standing, No. 5769 Germantown Avenue, in 1792. The family of the
late James E. Gowen, who was his grandson, occupy it.

* Francis Bockius, who came from Germany, built the old stone house
on the east side of Germantown Avenue, second above the Swan Hotel,
Mount Airy.

3 John Nace owned the house still standing, though somewhat altered,
on Mr. John Jenks’s place, Bethlehem Pike above the Eldon.



Inhabitants of Germantown and Chestnut Hill in 1809. 63
John Wentz! . . . . 810 256 paid 1.80

John Altimose . . . 1370 88 « 7.18
Jacob Altimose . . . 50 ¢« 50
Emanuel Eyres Est. . . 760 “ 8.75
Joseph Donaldson . . . 1685 7%« 8.42
Christian Fisher’s Est . .9 “ 45
Patrick Flinn gone . 88 all 83
Jacob Mock . . . . 50 paid - 50
Casper Bechlorg . . . 50 20 all 45
Charles Nice . . . . 2192 650 paid  11.46
Cornelius Roop . . . 850 38 « 4.58
Frederick Kerper . . . 1140 83 « 6.08
Jacob Haas . . . . 26 « 26
Joshua Hollowell . . . 190 83 all 1.22
& for Andrew Crouses Est . 820 paid 1.60
Jesse Hollowell’s Est . . 120 “ 60
Jacob Kirk’s Est . . . 190 “ 95
Joseph Miller . . . . 26 « 25
& for Ann Millers Est . . 790 “ 8.95
Peter Mason’s Est . . . 500 “ 2.50
John Miller’s Est . . . 1640 60 ¢« 8.70
Charles Hinkle . . 25 25 « 37
& for Joseph Miller’s Est . 69 “ 8.47
John Beccher gone . . 40 26 all - 45
Christianna Milles Est . . 865 paid 1.85
John Nickham . e 26 « 25
Jacob Hineg . . . 10 83 all 33
& for William Stallman’s Est . 850 paid 1.76
John Rex . . . . 2207 60 ¢« 11.58
& for Wm Ashmeads GR . 121 “ 60
Jacob Nickham g . . . 26 all 25
William Stallman . . . 180 88 paid 1.28
& for Julius Kerper’s Est . 4380 b 2.156
Peter Lower . . . . bb 26 ¢« 52

George Patterson’s Est . . 2060 650 « 10.80

! John Wentz, from 1801 to 1881, owned the Log Cabin, still stand-
ing and the last in this section, at the corner of Mermaid Lane and
Germantown Avenue,
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Isaac Conrad . . . . 88 all paid 83
& for Enoch Rex’s Est . . 80 “ 40
George Rex’s Est . . . b9 “ 2.97
Enoch Rex . . . . 1802 50 « 9.61
William Rex . . . . 1985 60 « 10.17
John Peters Sen! . . . 8220 40 « 16.10
William Becher gone . . 25 all 25
George & W™ Cress’s Est . 1180 paid 6.65
Samuel Campbell . . . 60 « 60
Henry S8hermer’s Est . . 218 “ 1.09
Jacob H. Miller . . . 2 26 ¢« 87
& for Wm Hicke’s Est . . 690 “ 2.95
John Hansberry . . . 256 « 25
George Fries . . . . 848 256 « - 1.99
Casper Btrouse . . . 68 20 b4
Jacob Haas . . . . 49 88 paid 2.80
Timothy Read . . . 3b 25 « 42
Joseph Minicks Est . . 570 “ 2.80
Michael Fishers Est . . 120 “ 60
George Weinman dead . . 25 all 26
Fredk Grouskop gone . . 10 26 « 80
& for Peter Williams Est . b05 paid 2.62
Peter Pleckers Est . . 218 all 1.09
David Wampool . . 60 50 paid 60
& for William Ottingers Est . 1106 “ 5.52
John Keeley gone . . . 60 all 60
Henry Jacobs . . . 80 88 pald 48
John Detweller? . . . 1195 40 6.37
George Rahn . . . 20 « 20
Jacob Kerper? . . . 426 26 « 2.37
George Kerper® . . . 545 26 « 2.97
Frederick Kerper . .. 210 256 « 1.30

1 John Peters owned the pebble-dashed house on the west side of
Germantown Avenue below Hartwell Avenue.

* John Detweiler, butcher, owned seventeen acres of land where South-
ampton Avenue now is.

3 Jacob and George Kerper built the double houses which stand above
the Lutheran Church, George building the upper and Jacob the lower
one.
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Windle Wiant!
Peter Fast gone
John Graver . .
‘Wickard Jacoby?
Godfrey Fleger

& for Doctor Heidricks Est L

Andrew Bidding .
Elizabeth Jacobys Est
Phillip Wentz Jr .

& for Willm Rexs Est
Peter Kleins Est

Jacob Smith gone

John McBride poor
Christian Danneckers Est¢
Henry S8hermer

‘Walters gone .

& for Abrh Heidricks Est
Peter Riffert gone .

& for Christian Heldrlcks Est
George Cress . .

& for S8aml Ashmeads G R
Doctor Gregg dead

& for Fred Flegers Est
Leonard Redlion

John Peters Jun gone
Levi Rex®

Henry Cress® .

. 1126

. 1020

540

60

370

457
60

675

45

. 1060

25
485

. 1348

37
40
857
60
60

. 2210
. 2965

256 paid
50 all
83 pa.xd
50

83 «

[

25 [

[13
25 «
(13

1]

25 all

25 «
paid

25 all

[
paid
20 all
paid
650 «
(13
50 all
paid
20 [13
40
50 14
50 13

55

2.95
50
63

6.12
33

1.856
26

2.28
65

5.10

2.87
25
26

2.22
26
50

5.80
82

217

7.24
18
70

4.28
60
70

11.65
15.82

! Windle Wiant was probably the person whom Hotchkins speaks
of as the Weyant family, who lived in the old stone house second below

Graver’s Lane, on Germantown Avenue.

Wiant was a teamster.

* Wickard Jacoby, a carpenter by trade, lived in the stone house near
Graver's Lane, which has a frame dwelling at either end.
3 Dr. Christopher Heydrick studied medicine in Philadelphia, and
graduated at the University of Pennsylvania in 1792. For a time he

practised at Chestnut Hill.

¢ Christian Dannecker owned the stone house next above Andrew

Graves, on Germantown Avenue.
8 Levi Rex.

His house, erected in 1801, still stands on the Reading
Pike, next to Mr. Richard Chapman’s. '

¢ Henry Cress kept the Eagle Hotel, on Germantown Avenue, near
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Saml Ashmead G R . . paid 87
John Striker . . . . 50 « 50
John Weyman . . . 10 25 all 30
& for Abram. Heidrick’s Est . 715 paid 8.57
Jacob Cress! . .. 292 50 ¢« 1.96
& for Abram. Heidrick’s Est®. 1240 “ 6.20
Henry Rinker . . . 185 26 1.17
& for John Dillinger’s Est . 1095 “ 5.47
John Cress poor . . . 50 all 50
Nicholas Uber gone . . b0 “ 50
Jacob Nace gone . .. 2 26 « 30
& for Henry Williams’ Estate . 328 paid 1.64
Anthony Conrad . . . 256 « 25
Andrew Ardman?® . . . b42 25 « 2.96
Abraham Kern gone . . 50 all 50
John Gettinger* . . . 590 25 paid 3.20
Christr. Yeakle . . . 2578 50 « 13.39
& for Sam. Ashmeads GR . 19 “ 9
Joseph Miller’s Est . . 180 “ 65
Abrabam Rittenhouse . . 280 26 « 1.65
Christr. Yeakles Est . . 270 “ 1.75
John Gittinger Jr . . . 60 26 « 55
& for Jacob Rex’s Est . . 2821 50 « 14.60
& for Sam’l Ashmead’s GR . 56 “ 28

Evergreen Avenue. It was owned by his father, Henry Cress, 8r, It
was used as a hospital by the American troops during the Revolution,
and burned, to be afterwards rebuilt. For a long time it was known as
Cress’s Hotel.

! Jacob Crees owned the old house on the west side of Germantown
Avenue, a short distance below the Pennsylvania Railroad Depot, now
the stores of Charles Still.

? Abraham Heydrick, a son of Belthazar, married, in 1767, Susannah,
daughter of Charles Yeakle. After his marriage he kept a store at the
foot of Chestout Hill, in Springfield Township.

8 Andrew Ardman, shoe-dealer, lived in the old house still standing,
and built by his father, about the time of the Revolution, on German-
town Avenue, opposite the Pennsylvania Railroad Depot.

¢John Gittinger was probably the person intended by Hotchkins wheun
he speaks of the Kittenger family, who owned the house opposite the
Pennsylvania Railroad Depot used as an office by Dr. Cheston.
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JacobLentz! . . . .1400 50 paid  7.50

Willm. Nunnemaker . . 220 25 ¢ 1.85
John Link . .20 20
& for Michael Flsher 8 Est . 160 « 80
Jacob Qeissel . . . 80 25 ¢« 65
& for Christ. Yeakle’s Eat . 1804 ¢ 6.52
John Piper’s Est? . . . 850 “ 1.75
Michael Fisher . . 25 25 « 37
& for Chris. Yeakle’s Est . 287 ¢ 1.18
Abraham Hess . . 70 26 ¢« 60
& for Alexander Mock’s Est . 655 ¢ 8.27
William Huston . . . 285 25 « 1.67
Conrad Emery . . . 885 26 1.92
John Fox gone . . 25 all 25
& for Emanuel Fox’s Est . 605 paid 8.02
Jno. & Geo. Streeper’s Est . 120 “ 60
John Kerper . . . 460 25 ¢« 2.55
Barbara Streeper’s Est . 1405 “ 7.02
John Streeper . . . 650 « 50
John Huston? . . . 2480 75 o« 18.15
John Huston Jr . . . 50 « 50
Dennis Streeper . . . 2497 88 « 12.81
Jacob Paul . . . . 5788 75 ¢ 29.69
Samuel Paul . . . . 80 50 « 65
Samuel Hinkle . . . 10 25 « 30
Jacob Shoch . . . . 497 25 « 2.78
Henry 8heitz . . . . 50 « 50
Andrew Lace . . . . 50 ¢ . b0
Danl. McGonnagel .. 457 25 « 2.53
Jacob Adleman . . . .10 25 « 30

1Jacob Lentz probably owned and lived in the house at the intersec-
tion of the Reading and Bethlehem Pikes, which for many years was
the only store in the place.

? John Piper’s estate. This tract of land, belonging to John Adam
Piper, overlooked the Wissahickon, and is now owned by C. C. English.
Down to 1758 a remnant of the Delaware Indians lingered on it, as here
is situated their Council Rock, now called Indian Rock.

8 John Huston, a captain in the Revolution, owned a large farm at
Chestnut Hill, now Mr. J. Lowber Welsh’s,
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& for Widow Adleman’s Est . 180
Jacob Martin . .

& for Leonard Streeper’s Est . 892
James Bell . .. .
Isaiah Bell' . . . . 5825
Peter Hinkle . . . .
John Trace . 60
William Yerkes . . . 858
& for Samuel Ashmead’s GR. 22
Henry Rinker’s Est .. 229
& for Samuel Ashmead’s GR . 11
Jesse Jones poor

Frederick 8Smith . . . 208
& for Samuel Ashmead’s GR. 87
Robert Holladay gone 75
Joseph Hinkle gone

S8amuel Edwards .

& for John Hough’s Est . . 458
& for S8amuel Ashmead’s G R. 47
William Streeper? . 518
& for Samuel Ashmead’s G R 47
John Freed Jr . . .

John Freed . 459
& for Saml Ashmead’s G R .21
Patrick Filden gone . .
Michael Slaughter’s Est . 5561
& for Samuel Ashmead’s GR. 19
John Connor gone .

John Burnheiter Jr gone

& for John Thompson’s Est 81
& for Sam]l Ashmead’s G R 21
George Berger’s Est . 198
& for Samuel Ashmead’s G R 87
Woolery Sheetz . . . 452

25 [13

75 ¢
75 g3
25 ¢
25 {3

20 all
25 paid
[13

20 all

25 [

20 paid
[{3

[

26 ¢
{3
650 «
25 «
[13
20 all
paid
[

25 all
25 [4
paid
[{1
[

[13

25 [13

90
26
1.96
75
29.87
26
56
1.79
11
1.14
5

20
1.26
18
57
25
20
2.26
28
2.84
28
60
2.64
10
20
2.75
9

25
256
40
10
96
18
2.51

1Issiah Bell owned and ran a grist-mill situated on the Wissahickon

Creek, at Bell’s Mill Road, now Thorp’s Lane.

? William Streeper had a farm on the Bethlehem Pike, opposite the
Eldon, now the Bohlen place. His house was below the Toll-Gate.
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George Nice

Michael Brownholtz

& for John Reinick’s Est
Henry Bilyard

& for Jacob Sheetz’s Est
Jacob Sheetz .

Samuel Buzby gone
James McCorkle gone
Leonard Kulp gone
John Johnson’s Est
John Wood . .

& for Widow Wood’s Est‘
Mary Kulp’s Est

Henry Snyder

Phipps Est .
Nicholas Rapine’s Est
Henry Hinkel

John Himmelright.
John Arthur .

Daniel Thomas?

John Rapine .

Henry Streeper .
Jacob Hallbewle gone
John Crister gone .
John Dubarry’s Est
John V. Beutel gone
Anthony Miller gone

& for John Peter’s Est
William Streeper .
& for John Cammell’s Est
Joseph Paul Jr

Jacob Rapine’s Est
Joseph Paul’s Est .

440

290
. 70
. 1519
636

10
918
10
288
198
. 860
. 625
750
1530
. 185
. 1115
. 5910
45
940

. 5180
. 60
. 1210
10
255
390

. 87
. 8260

paid 2.20
26 ¢ 25
«“ 1.45

2 « 60
“ 7.59

26 « 8.42
25 all 25
50 « 50
20 « 25
paid 4.59
26 « 80
“ 1.44

13 96

88 « 4.68
25 « 8.87
“ 8.75

2 « 7.90
26 ¢ 1.17
25 « 5.82
75 80.80
25 « 47
25 ¢ 4.95
25 all 25
20 « 20
“ 25.90

25 « 25
25 « 55
paid 6.05
25 30
“ 1.27
75« 2.70
€ 18

“ 16.30

! Widow Wood’s estate. This old house stood about opposite where
Gold’s Hotel now is, and was built in 1744 by a Mr. Schwenck. In 1809
it was owned by Mrs. Elizabeth Wood.

! Daniel Thomas owned and ran a grist-mill on the Wissahickon at

the foot of Thomas’s Mill Road.
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John Linnensheet . . . 10
John Hinkle . . . . bbd
David Hinkle! . . . 1295
Joshua Hollowell poor . . 40
John & D. Hinkle’s Est . . 2472

Francis Brownholtz . . 295
John Detweiller’s Est . . 450
Henry S8hermer . . . b0

John Gorgas . . . . 70
Benjamin Gorgas’s Est . . 1480
Henry Paul . . . . 1285
Samuel Becker . . i
Elizabeth Hinkle’s Est . . 9
Christopher Koon gone . . b0
& for Hezekiah Hopkin’s Est . 1585
Peter Bechtel * . . . 2440
William Smith . . .
Daniel Light . . . . 160
John Johnson . .. 40
ForJohn & Jos Livezey’s Est®. 17656
John 8mith . . . . 1485
John Shaffer .

Adam Dace . . . . 4856
Ernest Felty . . . . 458
Peter Dace . . . .

Jonathan Scott . . 8560

Jno & Jacob Geiger’s Est . 115
William Rittenhouse’s Est . 90

25 paid

83
88

({3
(13

88 all

25

25
60

25

paid

[
[
{3
({3
[{]
[
[
{3

50 all

50
60
26

50

paid

(13

[{3

({3

13

40 all

25 paid

83
50
25

88

[{3

14

{1

[13

30
60
6.80
58
12.86
1.72
2.25
50
85
7.40
6.42
25
45
75
7.67
12.70
50
1.05
20
8.82
7.67
40
2.67
2.62
50
2.00
57
78

! David Hinkle owned and ran a grist-mill situated on Cresheim

Creek west of Germantown Avenue.

* Peter Bechtel was a paper-maker ; he ran two mills ; both were located
on Cresheim Creek. His dwelling, a large yellow house, and one mill
were situated at the intersection of Cresheim Creek Avenue and Old
Cresheim Road, the dam being afterward known as Carr’s.

$ John and Joseph Livezey were millers, and owned and ran the Livezey
mill at the foot of Livezey Lane and Wissahickon. This property they
are taxed for lay to the north of Allen’s Lane and Township Line, and

the house is still occupied by the family.
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Thomas Weisser’s Est . . 185 paid 67
George Berger . . . 750 83 « 4.08
Philip Swartz. . . . bbb 88 « 8.10
Widow Graffley’s Est . . 810 “ 1.55
Peter Simon . . . . 225 20 « 1.32
Thomas Rogers’s Est . 800 “ 1.50
William Weaver gone . . 20 all 20
Daniel Swartz . . . 50 paid 50
Thomas Hurley’s Est . . 1405 “ 7.02
Jacob Shaffer . . . . 25 « 26
Henry Book . . . . 26 « 25
George Fight . . . . 955 25 « 5.02
Jacob Moyer . . . . 1215 26 « 6.32
George Moyer . .

Jacob Moyer’s Est . . . 195 “ 97
Jacob Moyer Jr . . . 60 26 « 50
Samuel Hay's Est . . . 1150 “ 5.76
John Johnson Sr . . . 1990 50 ¢« 10.45
Isaac Huntzberry . . .20 26 « 85
& for Michel Brownholtz Est . 342 “ 1.7
Michael Rittenhouse . . 60 2 « 55
Paul Bishop . . . . 465 38 « 2.65
Isaac Benner . . . . 640 88 « 8.568
Henry Benner . . . 605 25 « 8.27
George Unruh . . . 1185 88 paid 6.00
Nicholas Unruh! . . . 2010 88 « 10.88
Christian Benner . . . 325 20 « 1.82
John Leibert’s Est . . . 200 “ 1.00
Christian Brooker gone . . 20 all 20
Andrew Paul . .. . 180 25 paid 90
Joseph Paul . . . . 88 « 33
Abraham Paul . . . 1625 20 « 8.32
William Unruh . . 1700 25 8.75
& for John Oldnixon’s Est . 1275 « 6.37

John Unruh®*. . . . 2320 25 « 11.85

! Nicholas Unruh, farmer. His land was situated on the east side of
Gorgas Lane and west of the railroad. The old stone house, which
served as a hospital during the battle of Germantown, still stands.

* John Unruh, farmer. His house and land were on the northwest
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50 paid
43

Isaac Benner Jr . .
Rush & Stoneburner’s Est . 1085

David Kelter . . . . 1805
Jacob Kelter . . . .

JesseLarge . . . . 70
& for Shaw’s Est . . 8506
Abraham Kulp . . . 560
Isaac M. Kulp . .

Gabriel Boyer . . . 110
Widow Bloyd’s Est . . 2560
Christian Dillman . . . 190
John Kephart . . . . 825
Abraham Kelter . . . 480

Thomas Armatt’s Est . . 82
Amos S8haw gone .
John Peoples . . .

John Nelson .

James McMullen .
William Davey . . . 8177
William Henry gone

Andw Buckhannon gone

William Dawson
James Lees gone

John Bicknell gone
Jacob Yarne . ..
Nicholas Larwood gone . .
William Boyd gone

James Holt gone

Samuel Ellison gone

Samuel Bradshaw gone .

William Rusher gone

Robert Steward . . .
Martha Robert’s Est . . 475
George Hank’s Est . . . 184
Matthias Stroup . . . 45
William Steward . . . 1720

88
50
83

88
50
26

20
25

({3
(13
[
[
[
[
[
«
[{3
{3
(13

[13

25 all

25
26
7%

256 paid
[Y4

[13

“

25 all

25

25 paid

{3

50 all

60
50
50
50
60
50
50
50
50

20
50

(13

(13

“

[

{3

(13

(13

paid

[13
[13

[

50
5.17
6.85
50
68
17.52
3.18
50

80

12.80

95
1.82
2.65

41

25

25

25

25

16.68

25

25

25

50

60

50

50

50

60

50

50

50

50
2.87

67

42
9.10

side of Washington Lane, east of Chew Street. He emigrated to the

West in 1816.
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Robert Armstrong gone . . - 50 all 50
Edward Armstrong . . 50 paid 50
Abraham Dannenhower . . 25 ¢ 25
Martin Rittenhouse’s Est . 526 “ 2.62
Christr Yeakle’s Est . . 210 ¢« 1.05
James Buckley gone . . 83 all 38
John Balty gone . . . 88 « 38
Jacob Sommers Jr . .. 88 paid 33
William Sommers . . . 40 « 40
Joseph States gone. . . 50 all 50
John Thompson . . 877 83 paid 2.21
& for S8aml Ashmeads G R . 8 “ 17
Samuel Sanders cooper per-} 95 925
sonal . . . .
David Steel . . . . 25 « 25
John Street Est . . . 575 2.87
Peter Goodman . . . 2 « 20
John M. Price e e 7w« 7%
John Sadlers Est . . . 710 “ 8.556

Nicholas Jordan . . . 2566 20 « 1.82
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QUAINT VIRGINIA RECORDS.
BY THOMAS T. UPSHUR, NASSAWADOX, VA.

The Court Records of Northampton County, Virginia,
are probably the oldest in the United States. They are
unbroken since 1682, and are curiosities. The Clerks, or
Clarks, as they were then called, copied not only the indict-
ments, but the evidence also, much of which, given in the
quaint phraseology of the Colonial period of Virginia, is
very amusing, though doubtless anything but pleasant to
the prisoners standing their trials.

The Court consisted of a presiding officer, styled at first
the Commander of the PlantaGon of Acchawmacke, and
seven Commissioners, who were his coadjutors. In the
absence of the Commander, one of the Commissioners pre-
sided. In 1642 the whole peninsula became Northampton
County, and in 1668 the county was divided into North-
ampton and Accomac Counties.

In these old books I find the names of many persons,
‘the ancestors, doubtless, of those who have become famous
in our country’s history,—Captain Thomas Cornwallis, the
celebrated navigator and trader, Hancock Lee, and Benja-
min Harrison ; the latter appeared as a witness on the 16th
day of May, 1686, in a case where corn was forcibly taken
and sold after it had been levied upon by the sheriff, who
was Captain William Stone, afterwards the first Colonial
Governor of Maryland. On the 5th day of S8eptember, 1686,
appears the name of Jacob Washington, who was granted
an execution upon the goods and chattels of one John Ffur-
bush. This is the first record of the Washington name
probably in any book in existence, written in America.
‘Whether this old patriarch was allied by blood to our
General George Washington or not, I leave for others to
find out, if they choose.

In 1615 the region now known as the Eastern Shore was
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first settled by colonists from Jamestown, Virginia. Our
books contain the petition of Henry Williams, dated May
4, 1635, which is as follows: “Ffor as much as Henry
Williams doth make appeare by sufficient testymonie to
our Cor* y* he hath remayned in this lande 20 yearcs doing
much serviss for the Countrie, we therefore certifye the
same ffor a truth to the Gov* & Counsell att James Cittie
under the title ofe Cor*. Itt lyeth Estinto the Woods, West
on to the Mayne Creeke, North on Henry Charlton’s lande.”

“To all Cr*, I Cap* John West Esq* Gov* doe with the
consent of the Counsell of State, accordinglye give and
grant unto Henry Williams One hundred & fliftie acres ofe
lande, situate in the County of Acchawmacke, Lying on the
Old Plantation Creeke, North on the Jande of Henry Charl-
ton, Southwest on the flishing poynt: being dew as ffollow-
eth, vig'.,, One hundred acres as being an ancient planter in
the tyme ofe 8ir Thomas Dale, and ffiftie acres ffor the
transportation ofe Susan Andrewes.”” This grant is dated
6th day of Sept, 1686.

The date of 1615 is sustained by other authorities also,
as that of the colonization of this peninsula. Each immi-
grant received fifty acres of land for his transportation from
England, unless he was an indentured servant or a slave, in
which cases the master received the land to indemnify him
for expenses incurred. Very many persons, however, for
whom land was granted as being servants, were not such
in menial capacities; for instance, Francis Stockley paid
for the transportation from Eng? of his brother John, and
entered John as his servant in his list, when he applied for
a grant of land, but John does not appear to have worked
for his brother a day; he was employed by Daniel Cugley,
Gen', as secretary and business manager.

Among the servants mentioned in the list of Ensign Thomas
Savage, I find the names of John Seaverne, Chirurgion, and
Bridgett his wife. Now, John Seaverne (S8evern) practised
his profession, and brought suit many times to collect his
bills; consequently he was not a servant in the present ac-
ceptation of the word.

Vor. xvi.—5
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Contempt of Court was an offence never ignored. The
Commanders and Commissioners were too jealous of the
dignity of their positions, and of that pertaining to their
own august persons, to suffer the least infringement upon,
or diminution of their meed of reverence.

Obedyance Robins, Gen', was first Commander for several
years; he was succeeded by Captain William Roper, Gen',
and he by Colonel Nathaniel Llyttleton, Gen*, who, after -
presiding over the Court for several years, was in turn
succeeded by Obedyance Robins, Gen', again. Among the
Court Orders is the following: ¢ Itt is thought ffitt & soe
ordered by this Cor* that John Paramore for his unlawful
swearing in a contemptuous manner in the flace of the Cor*
shall set by the heeles in the stockes for the space of one
Complete houre;” and on June 9, 1638, it was ¢ Ordered
that John Paramore shall sett by the heeles in the stockes
att the tyme ofe Devyne Serviss upon the next S8aboth daye
ffor being drunke in the ftace of the Cor'.” Mr. Paramore
was no worse than many others in that Colony ; not so bad,
in fact, as far as the Records go, but he appears to have
been unfortunate in his selections of audiences.

The first Clark of the Court was Henry Bagwell, Gen*.
He was succeeded by Thomas Cooke, Gen*, who wrote the
most peculiar handwriting, and the most difficult to decipher
I have ever seen. He was followed by Edwyn Conaway, a
scribe of the same school. They seem to have been very
proud of their intellectual acquirements, and particularly so
of their knowledge of Latin. They frequently interlarded
their copies of manuscripts with Latin words, and nearly
all of them abbreviated, which adds to the difficulty in
reading the old books. ‘

The punishments inflicted by the Court were quite orig-
inal, it seems. Upon the 2d day of August, 1641, Goody
Curtis was trying to milk her cow in the cowpen of the
‘Widow Taylor, but as her cow was unused to being milked
in that pen and moreover was not very gentle, she refused
to stand still. Goody lost her temper, and the widow’s
milking having been disturbed by Goody’s cow, she got
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fretted also. Cross words and bad names were soon ex-
changed, and then the widow proceeded to slap Goody’s face,
for which breach of the peace the Court ¢ ordered that the
Widdowe Taylor shoall pay unto John Curtis or anie other
for his use, one potte of milk per daye, at the cowpen of the
Widdowe Taylor until the last of S8eptember next, and pay
all charges expended in this suite.”

The Indians on this peninsula were very poor. They
subsisted mainly on fish and oysters, apparently were peace-
ably inclined, and not without gratitude. In 1651, Tepia-
biavon, King of the Great Nuswattocks, gave Jonkin Price
three hundred acres of land from his reservation, because
Price had shown him kindness. About the same year
- appears the following entry:

«Itt is thought flitt and soe ordered by this Cor* that Mr.
Phillipp Taylor nor anie other pson or psons unto him the
8y® Taylor in aniewise belonging should presume to disturbe
or molest the Indyans formerly seated at Mattawomes
Creeke, neither for anie cause or reson by them supputated,
to cleare or worke upon the ground whereon they are now
seated, by reson that Nathaniel Leyttelton Esq", Argall
Yeardley Esqr, Cap* W= Stone, Mr. William Andrews &
Cap* W= Roper, have taken an espetial review of the place
and situation thereof, & doe finde that if the Indyaus be dis-
placed of the 200 acres of land which the sy® Mr. Taylor doth
laye claim to, they in noe wise can subsist, & further more
that the plantation of Phillip Taylor cannot be impaired
thereby, he being seated on the one side of the Creeke &
they on the other, and not hitherto to have either bought or
cleared on that side the Indyans are appointed to dwell.”

But although as late as 1651, the Indians were on reser-
vations and actually an object of care and solicitude to
the colonists, yet on the 28th day of April, 1643, the colony
had been in a great state of fear and excitement, as is shown
by the followiug :

«“Itt is ordered by this Cor* and soe thought ffitt by
reson of the greate and sudden daynger which is like
to come upon the Plantaton by the Indyans, that the



68 Quaint Virginia Reoords.

powder and shotte which is in the handes of Mr. John
Nuthall shall be seized on by the Sheriff and delivered unto
the handes of the Commander to be disposed of to those
of the inhabitants who are necessitated & that the sy* Mr.
Nuthall shall have a valuable consideration in monie or anie
other goods payd unto him by the Commander, for the sy*
powder & shotte soe taken and disposed of.”

The way of the slanderer and scandal-monger was a hard
one in those days. They always received the particular
attention of the Court. On February 19, 1684, “John
Wattham aged 24, Randall Revell aged 21 years, and John
Ford aged 25 years or thereabouts, sworne and examined,
saye they hard Henry Charlton saye, that if he had had
Mr. Cotton without the Church yeard he would have kickt
him over the pallyzados, calling of him black rotted raskoll.
Upon the complaynt of Mr. Cotton ags the sayd Charlton,
and the depositions above expressed, it is ordered that the
sy* Charlton shall for the sy® offence buyld a pare of stockes
and sett in them three sevral Saboth dayes in the tyme of
Devyne serviss, and there ask Mr. Cotton forgiveness.”

Mr. Cotton was the Rector of the Parish, but it seems he
did not leave vengeance to the Lord. On 8th of September,
1684, is written: * At this Cor* Edward Drew preferred a
petition against Joane Butler for calling of his wife ——
and upon dew examination & the depositions of John
Halloway and W™ Baseley who affirmeth the same on oath to
be true, that the sayd Joane Butler used these words. Upon
dew examination it is thought ffitt by this Board, that sy*
Joane Butler shall be drawn over the Kinges Creeke at the
starn of a boat or kanew from one cowpen to the other, or
else the next Saboth daye in the time of Devyne serviss
between the first and second lessons present herself before
the minister and saye after him as followeth: I Joane
Butler doe acknowledge to have called Marie Drew
& hereby I confess I have done her manifest
wronge, wherefore I desire before this Congregation that the
said Marie Drew will forgive me, and also that this Congre-
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gation will joyne and pray with me that God may forgive
me.”

At the very next Court, Thomas Butler, the husband of
Joane, “turned the tables” on Edward Drew by causing
Marie Drew to be ordered to repeat the same peniten-
tial formula verbatim upon the following Sunday. They
were evidently a naughty pair and deserved all the punish-
ment they received.

On the 8d of June, 1642, I find another case of slander
recorded as follows:

“ Whereas Rob* Wyard hath in a most disgraceful and
barbarous manner blemisht the reputation of Alice Trav-
eller the wife of George Traveller in the most base and
ignominious language, by which defamation hath taken
away the reputation of the sy® Alice. It is therefore thought
ffitt and requisite and accordingly ordered that the sy* Rob*
‘Wyard shall stand three several Sundayes in the time of
De~yne serviss before the fface of the whole Congregation
in a white sheete with a white wann in his hande which
are to be provided by the Church wardens of this County
and there shall aske the sy? Alice forgiveness in form and
manner as shall be dictated unto him by the minister of this
County of Northampton.”

The following letter, although not issued by the Govern-
ment of Great Britain directly, was issued by authority
granted to Cap* W= Claiborne by the Crown, and may
therefore, I think, be considered a letter of marque and
reprisal, and is probably the first one issued in America.

¢« Phillipp Taylor, I understand y* the Marylanders have
taken my Pinnyce the Long Tayle with her company and
some other of my men trading in other places. Now
whereas his Mat'* Commission to myselfe warranteth mee
in the trade with the natives and ffor as much alsoe as his
Ma“* Gratious Lords in America doe declare his express
pleasure to bee agst this their violente and exhorbitante pro-
ceedings and contrary to justice and the true intent of his
Ma®* Grant to y* Lord Baltimore. These are to desire you,
that you would with the first opportunitye, with such Com-
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pany as are appoynted for you, sett sayle to Patawomack
and Patuxant Riv™ or elsewhere and to demande of them
my sy* Pinnyce and men, and if you can obtayne them to
take possession of them for my use and bring them again
unto this place. Or missing of them, make staye of such
boates of theirs as you can light on. Wherein I beseech
you proceede without violence unlesse y* bee in lawful neces-
sary defence of yo®selfe espetially alsoe toavoyd any bloodshed
or making any assault upon any of them and to this end I
require all your Company to bee obedyente and assistant
unto you as if I were there myselfe. Given att the Isle of
Kent under my hande & seal this eleventh of May Anno
Die 1635.
W. CraiBorNE.  The Seal.
Recordat decimo quinto die mensis July 1642.

Until November 80, 1657, Virginia claimed the whole
Eastern Shore to the Delaware line. Many difficulties
had arisen owing to conflict of authority between the Gov-
ernor and Council of Virginia and Lord Baltimore of Mary-
land ; but upon that day an agreement was signed in London
which defined the lines of the two Colonies.

These old Records, besides the Deeds, Wills, Orders of
Court, Powers of Attorney, etc., usually found in Court
Records, contain many items of miscellaneous business.
Under date of February 15, 1688, I find: ¢ Thomas Butler,
aged 27 yeeres; William Payne, aged 27 yeeres, sworne and
examined as followeth: These deponents sayeth that, Mr.
George Scovell did laye a wager with Mr. Mountney, 10®
starlinge to 5° starlinge, calling us to witness the same,
that Mr. W=, Burdett should never mach in wedlocke
with the Widdowe Sanders while they lived in Virginia.
Soe the sy! Scovell, not contented, but would laye 40" star-
linge more to 10" starlinge that the syd Mr. W=, Burdett
should never have the Widdowe Sanders.”

Mr. Weller’s caution to his son Samuel might have been
profitably followed by Mr. Burdett, it seems, if he lost his
wager and the widow, too.
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Mr. Thomas Stanton, who was one of the agents of the
Lady Elizabeth Dale in this Colony, after her husband’s
death, and she had returned to England, gave to Thomas
Cooke a Power of Attorney to attend to his affairs while he
went to England, appended to which is the following letter:

“ Mr. Cooke, my kynd love attend you, sirrah,—I am, by
God’s grace, bound for England this daye ; therefore I would
desire you lett me therefore heare from you, together with
some retorne of my goods, and what you will have or have
occasion for send me word and I will furnish you att my
return, an it please God. Therefore be Loyal unto me, as
I may ffurther make use of you. I reste your loving friend
till death, THO8. STANTON.”

“Jan’y 13*, 1641. We are under sayle. I can right no
more. Send to Fernstreete to Townsend lande, London. To
his loving ffriend, Mr. Cooke, at Ackowmacke, these I pray
you.
“ Recordat y* Die Aprilis, Ao 1642. -

“Yme, Tros. CookE, Cleri.”

Before closing this article, I will give the copies of two
wills, the first of peculiar brevity, the second for quaintness
of style probably unrivalled in any records :

“Iff itt please God I do dye, my debts being discharged,
what debts remayne I give to Goodman Ffisher, and he to
see me layd in the ground like a man.

“ The mark of WILLIAM

|—| BRIAR.
¢ The mark of

“J. E ‘WILKINSON.

¢ The mark of
¢« JAMES | CRANNE.
¢« 27 Oct. 1689.”

¢In the name of God, Amen, the 23* of April, 1636, I,
William Smith, of Acchawmacke, in Virginia, planter,
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being at this present, blessed be God, sicke and weake in
body, but sound and perfit in mynd and memory, doe insti-
tute, ordayne and make this my last Will and Testament,
vigt: Ffirst, I bequeath my soule unto the hands of Al-
mighty God, my Maker, who gave it me, and my bodye to
the grave from whence it came, being assuredly persuaded
of a joyful resurrection.

“Imp*, I doe give and bequeath to the Church use One
hundred pounds of tobacco. Item. My will is that Mr.
Cotton shall make my funeral sermon, and he to have for
the same 100™ of tobacco.

“Item. That Garrett Andrewes, iff he be please to make
my coffin, shall have for the same 50 pounds of tobacco, or
anie other that shall make it of the best.

“Jte. I give and bequeath to Francis Millesent one of
the best shoates and a small Iron pott.

¢“Jte. I will and bequeath to Elizabeth Harlowe, daughter
to John Harlowe, the best sow there is undisposed of, which
is the great sow bought of Mr. Wilson.

“Tte. I doe give freely unto my servant, Daniel Pighles,
one complete year of his tyme, and one of the best sow
shoates.

“Ite. I doe give and bequeath unto Alex" Wignall one
hundred pounds of tobacco.

¢ Ite. My will is that my servant Daniel shall have all
my wearing cloathes, both Wolling and Linning and my
peece, shotte bag and Horne.

¢ Ite. I doe institute, ordayn and make Nicholas Harwood
& Walter Scott my true & lawful Executors of this my
last Will and Testament, and they equally to have and
enjoye, Debts and legacies being payd and discharged,
my whole Estate. In witness hereof, I, the sy! William
Smith, have hereunto set my hand and seale the daye and
year above written.

(Signed) ¢“ WiLLiaM W. SMITH.
“Ysence:
“ DanieL PreHLES,
“ ALEX’R WIGNALL.”
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The oath taken by Captain William Stone, the first Sheriff
of this Colony, was as follows:

“Ye shall sweare that well and truely y* shall serve the
King’s Magistie in the office of the Sheriff of the County of
Acchawmacke, and doe the King’s yffitt in all things that
belongeth to yo® to doe by way of yo* office as ffar as yo"
can or may.

“Yo" shall truely kepe the King’s Right and all that
belongeth to the Crowne.

Yo" shall truely and rightfully treate the people of the
Sheriffwicke, and do right as well to the poore as to the
Ritch in all that belongeth to yo© office.

“Yo" shall doe noe wrong to anie man for anie guift or
other behest or promise of goods for favour nor hate.

Yo" shall disturbe noe man’s rights. Yo® shall truely
returne and truely serve all the King’s Writts as ftarr forthe
as shall be to yo® cuming.

Yo" shall take noe Bayliffe into yo* serviss but such as
yo® will answere for.

Yo" shall make such of yo* Bayliffes to take such oathe
as yo® make yo'seffe in that belongeth to yor occupation.

“Yo® shall be dwelling in yo* own yyn (proper) ysons
(persons) within yo* Bayliewicke for the tyme that yo*
shall be in the same office, Except yo® are otherwise licensed
by the Governor and Counsell of this Colony. And you
shall diligently and truely doe all of the things apper-
taining to yo* say! office of Sheriffwicke to the uttermost
of y* power. Soe holp* yor God y*.”

On the first day of March, 1641, the first mill was con-
tracted for between Obedyence Robins, Gen*, and John
Wilkins, Gen*, of the first part, and Anthony Linny, Mill-
wright, of the second part. It was a windmill. The con-
tract price was £220 and twenty barrels of corn, and they
were to furnish Linny all the necessary ironwork and
shmgles, and they paid him one hundred pounds sterlmg
in advance.
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The first Vestry of the Church was appointed by the
Court on the 14th of September, 1685. The Vestrymen
were :

William Cotton, Minister, William Andrews,
Captain Thomas Graves, John Wilkins,

Obedyence Robins, Alex’r Mountney,
John Howe, Edward Drew,
William Stone, William Berriman,
William Burdette, Stephen Charlton.

And the first Vestry meeting was held ¢ upon the feast
day of St. Mychael the Arck Angell, being the 29th day
of September, 1635.”

At that meeting the Vestry decided to build a ¢ parsonage
house upon the Glybe land by Christyde next, & that the
sy* house shall be forty foot longe & eighteen foot wyde,
and nyne foot to the wall plates; and that ther shall be a
chimney at each end of the house, & upon each syde of the
chimuneys a room, the one for a study, the other for a
buttery ; alsoe a partition neere the midst of the house with
an entry and tow doors, the one to goe into the kitchinge,
the other into the Chamber.”

These Record Books contain a great many items of
historic value, giving an insight into the daily lives and
occupations of the Colonists, and referring to the most
important events of the period they cover.!

! We understand that these valuable records are to be carefully copied
and preserved. The Legislature of Virginia has passed an act making
the necessary appropriation for that purpose.—ED. PENNA. MAG.
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EXCERPTS FROM ACCOUNT-BOOKS OF WASHINGTON.

BY DR. J. M. TONER, WABHINGTON, D.C.

The cash-books of Colonel George Washington began
October 15, 1754, just after resigning the command of the
Virginia Regiment, and continued until 1775, at the begin- -
ning of the Revolution, reveal, if we read between the lines,
many of the methods, habits, and characteristics of the man.
The data are genuine and ample, and the inferences drawn
are fully warranted.

The first entry in these books shows he had cash on hand
to the amount of £225 6s. 8d. The first charge against him-
gelf is for repairs of his watch, and, it may be said, there
are frequent charges of this kind. He also buys watches
for Mrs. Washington, John Parke and Patey Custis; takes
chances in a raffle for a watch in 1754, and at later dates buys
numerous watch-keys of steel and gold; and in the course
of his accounts notes the purchase of gold lockets and other
jewelry for various members of the family.

His habit of personal neatness may be inferred from his
frequent patronage of barbers when in any place where they
supported establishments, including the French barber in
Williamsburg. Only once, however, does he record the
fact of having his hair cut.

He was often a buyer of powder-bags and puffs; hair
powder, which was occasionally noted as being perfumed,
and ribbons for his hair. He was a frequent customer of
the furnishing stores for silk, thread, and cotton stockings,
shoes, pumps, slippers, moccasins, and boots; breeches made
of buckskin black and yellow, of calfskin leather occasion-
ally tanned at home but often imported; and also of velvet,
silk, and cloth of different colors; double-gilt and gold but-
tons; silver lace for servants’ hats; silver knee- and shoe-
buckles; gloves and mittens, chiefly buckskin, but sometimes
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of woollen yarn; cambric for ruffling his shirts; dimity for
stocks; black stocks; sleeve-buttons; black and striped
knee-garters, lace, etc. Hats in those days were made of
felted wool and fur, and suffered greatly from exposure
before the days of umbrellas, gum coats, and hat-covers, and
Washingtou, because of his out-door life and his numerous
servants, had to purchase many of them. His laundry bills,
too, were large ; the sums expended for combs, hair-brushes,
toilet soaps, and shaving outfits are very considerable; as
was also his outlay for shoe-brushes and blacking.

General Washington, from having defective teeth, was
obliged to patronize dentists; he was from 1754, and pos-
sibly earlier, a frequent buyer of tooth-brushes, tooth-
powder, and washes. The following are the names of some
of his dentists: Drs. Fendall, Spencer, Baker, and John
Greenwood.

He annually bought almanacs, usually two copies. Those
found among his papers have blank leaves for memoranda
bound in with the text, and are filled with observations
on a variety of subjects by Washington. He buys school-
books for John Parke and Patey Custis; music and also
story-books for them; Latin and Greek grammars and
text-books for Jacky; and, later, the same class of books
for G. W. P. Custis, with books for Miss Nellie in music
and French.

Iinfer that Washington did not use tobacco, because he
buys neither chewing nor smoking tobacco, cigars nor
pipes; and he is altogether too minute and exact in his
charges to omit these if he had been in the habit of buying
them. On two occasions he buys snuff-boxes, one a papier-
maché, the other silver; and once or twice he buys small
quantities of snuff; but it should be remembered it was the
custom in those days to keep a snuff-box on the mantel of
sitting-rooms or in some convenient place, for guests to help
themselves at will, and to be occasionally passed around
among the company.

Notwithstanding the occasional statement met with in the
lighter literature on Washington that he played the violin
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and flute, I infer from the fact that his cash-book shows that
he never buys either, and not even fiddle-strings, that he did
not play on the violin, or, indeed, on any musical instru-
ment. He occasionally attends concerts, but it appears more
as a patron or as escort to the ladies than as a lover of music.

He was a firm, though a considerate, master to his ser-
vants; had them well clad, housed, and fed. They were
inoculated as protection against attacks of small-pox ; when
ill, were attended by physicians whom Washington employed
by the year for that purpose; and had two upper rooms in
the servants’ quarters at the mansion house reserved and
furnished as a hospital. He gave them Christmas money
and gifts; allowed them holidays to visit the races; lent
them his seine to haul for fish on their own account; and
records the fact of sending “ Will” to the doctor to have his
tooth drawn; and sent * Tom’ to Lebanon, Pa., to a man
claiming to be able to render harmless the bite of a mad
dog; and another to the eminent Virginia physician, Dr.
Baynam, paying good round fees for the service. At public
houses, in travelling, at ferries, and at gentlemen’s residences
where he visited, he always gave liberally to the servants,
and regularly notes the amount in his cash-book.

His esthetic tastes are shown in his watch-charms and
geals; one with his crest was engraved for him as late as
1798. He had his arms engraved on gold-headed canes,
one in 1785; his cipher put on his pew in Pohick Church,
and his initials engraved on his own guns, and those of
John Parke Custis on his. He bought prints to stamp
the butter for his table use; busts and pictures to decorate
his rooms; and studied the harmony of colors in his house-
furnishings; remodelled his mansion and embellished the
grounds.

I think it may justly be inferred from the frequent charges
for expenses in attending the theatres that he had a taste for
the drama and amusements in general. He also visits con-
certs, microcosms, wax-works, and puppet-shows ; sleight-of-
band ; and pays to see a dancing bear, an elk led through
the country as a show, a tiger and a lioness exhibited
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in Alexandria. He also found relief from fatigue in
games of cards and billiards. It was his habit to play for
small stakes and to keep an exact account of his gains and
losses. In 1775 the sum total of all his gains to that date
foots up £72.0.6, while his losses for the same period stand
at £78.5.9; The only games he mentions are billiards, and
whist and loo under the head of cards. He was a patron of
the race-track, and an annual subscriber to the purse for its
encouragement and support, of one at Alexandria, Williams-
burg, Richmond, and Annapolis. He usunally attended the
respective races and bet moderately, scrupulously charging
or crediting himself with the losses or gains on these wagers
and his other attendant expenses. e also bought lottery
tickets, and generally records the fact that he won nothing
or but a trifle. He was solicited to take chances in raflles
for a great variety of articles,—guns, watches, a necklace,
silver buckles, the British Encyclopedia, Mrs. Dawson’s
coach, etc. These raffles often partook of the character of a
social gathering.

‘Washington gave a great deal of money in charity, from
1754, to soldiers wounded or destitute, to sailors, and often
to widows and begging women ; to a French lady in distress,
a man who had his house burnt, 8 womau who had escaped
from the enemy, etc., etc. His books show that he gave
money liberally to his mother, as well as valuable presents,—
a costly cloak and a chaise in 1774; and made, in advanced
life, generous presents to his sister, Betty Lewis; to his
niece, Harriet; to G. W. Lafayette, son of the general ; and
that he was most liberal in giving pocket-money to his
adopted children; in assisting young men in college, etc.
His philanthropic gifts and subscriptions are numerous.
The following are a few only: For building a market-
house in Fredericksburg in 1757; to the sufferers from fire
in Boston in 1760; for decorating Falls Church; subscrip-
tion to the Society of Useful Knowledge, $100; to James
Blyth, in 1795, towards establishing an academy in Ken-
tucky, $100; a like amount towards an academy in the
‘Western Territory; to the sufferers from yellow fever in
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Charleston in 1796, $300; September 25, 1796, left $100 in
the bands of T. Peter for the sufferers from fire in George-
town, D.C., $90 of which was returned to him as not
expended ; sent $100 to Mrs. Lear, the mother of Tobias
Lear, to bear her expenses to the Federal City in 1796; for
educating the poor children of Alexandria, $50; and for the
poor of the town, $100,—this was an annual donation; to
the distressed in Philadelphia from yellow fever in 1793,
and again in 1798. While he was charitable as well as
philanthropical, he was also economical and thrifty. Some
of the evidences of this are patent in his having his shirts
and other garments made and mended; the mending of a
coffee-pot and a coffee-mill; * putting shoes to his boots,”
footing boots, as we have it; and in the mending of buttons
and buckles, boots, shoes, fans, etc. He had no sentiment
restraining him from selling anything on his plantations not
needed.

His cash-books show that the liquor bought for use at the
mansion house at Mount Vernon was wine, in general
Madeira in butts and pipes, or claret by the box, and occa-
sionally casks of ale, with brandy in kegs or smaller quan-
tities. Jamaica rum was bought by the hogshead for plan-
tation use. It is evident that General Washington’s social
glass was always wine.

These accounts show two occasions before his marriage
when he was so ill as to be obliged to employ a nurse : first,
when he was on the Braddock Expedition, and again in
1756, then in command of the Virginia forces on the west-
ern frontier of Virginia, which are duly recorded, with dates
and amounts paid.

He was more of a reader than is generally supposed, and
especially on agriculture, war, history, politics, travels, etc.,
and collected about him quite & good library. Some of the
books were gifts, but the greater number were purchased.
In his cash-books he does not always give the names of the
books he buys or for which he subscribes. In 1769, Vir-
ginia Justice; in 1772, Boise’s Account of Louisiana,
Churchill’s Sermons, and Byron’s Voyage around the
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World; in 1774, Henley’s Defence against the Charge of
Heresy; August 6, 1774, he buys a copy of Jefferson’s Bill
of Rights; in 1786, two copies of Gordon’s History; and
in 1799, four sets of Belknap’s Biography, etc., etc.

The purchases or bills paid for the ladies of Mount Vernon
do not represent their expenditures, as they generally re-
ceived cash in considerable sums, which alone is shown on
the cash-books, and the articles bought with it rarely appear
by name. In 1772, a hat and silk dress for Patey Custis,
£8.4.0. In 1786, two cushions are bought for Mrs. Wash-
ington, and a pair of black satin shoes, a necklace, ear-
rings, etc.; at various times gowns for Mrs. Washington ;
a dressmaker was employed at Mount Vernon in 1772; a
parrot and canary were bought; two pairs white silk stock-
ings from New York in 1773; a cotton gown; and in 1774
a satin cloak, making and mending a pair of stays for Mrs.
‘Washington, £3.2.0. Mrs. Washington had her own private
purse to draw on, and gave out of it to her mother, Mrs.
Frances Dandridge, an annuity of £85.0.0. It would seem
from an entry in the cash-books in 1766, that Mrs. Wash-
ington was taking music lessons with her children, viz.:
By cash paid Mr. Btedler for teaching Mrs. Washington
and two children music, £38.14.0.”

I must not overlook the charming little romance which
the accounts reveal in the purchase of a ring in Philadelphia,
in May, 1768. A few weeks later the record of expenses
shows Colonel Washington travelling towards Williamsburg
with his servant, Thomas Bishop; his visit to Colonel Bas-
sett’s,and the liberal amounts he bestowed upon the servants.
A day or so after he is at Mr. Clayborn’s and Mr. Chamber-
lain’s, whose families were intermarried with the Dandridges;
and a day or two later he is at Mrs. Custis’s, with his liberal
benefactions to her domestics all duly recorded. The purpose
and destination of the ring may be inferred with certainty.

After his marriage his wife usually spent at least part
of the winters with him in Williamsburg, while he was in
attendance at the House of Burgesses. Winters in Williams-
burg were at this period the fashion of the wealthy, and
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perhaps no city in America had a more charming circle of
the élite than the capital of Virginia.

The following entry, May 80, 1772, relates to one of the
artists who painted his portrait and that of his wife from
life :

By M’ Peale Painter, Draw’g my Pict*! . . .  £184.0
Miniature D° for M™ Washingt® . . .. 18- -
Ditto D for Miss Custis . . . . . 18- -
Ditto Dr for Mr Custis . . . . . 18-~
£57.4.0

January 6' 1774 By 10 Guineas paid M Peale for Drawing
Mr Custis’s Picture . . . . . . . £18.2.6
January 18% 1774 By M’ Peale setting Pictures . . £1.16.0

This was doubtless for Mr. Custis’s wife.

He was also an active promoter of enterprises which
promised benefits to the people, as the relocating, improving,
and regrading of the public roads, the establishing of turn-
pikes and ferries, the building of bridges, and the adoption
of improved methods in agriculture. That his far-seeing
mind, more than any other man’s, realized the coming great-
ness of the Western country, is shown in his advocacy of
settlements there; his taking up land on the Ohio; and his
efforts, pecuniary and otherwise, to have the Potomac River,
above tidewater, rendered, by means of locks, navigable to
small boats well up into the Allegheny Mountains, with a
view that by a short portage to one of the branches of the
Ohio, similarly improved, a nearly continuous navigation to
the Mississippi River might be established.

These cash accounts recall and give testimony of an old
usage in the Colonies at elections, which was that of the
several candidates providing cakes, and possibly small beer,
as a lunch for the voters. The persons attending to the
furnishing of these repasts generally seem to have been
women, and occasionally as many as three or four different
parties. The same custom was common at the election of

1 The study for this portrait has recently been presented to the His-
torical Society.—ED. PENNA, Mag. '

VoL. xvi,—6
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church vestrymen, and it is noted as at both Pohick and
Alexandria; though the expense in this parish rarely reached
a pound. Another custom of the times was for gentlemen
to have a bowl of punch or some mixed drink provided at
public houses, to which their friends were invited to help
themselves. This friendly bowl was then designated as the
“Club.” This name was given to it, whether paid for by
one individual or a proportional share by all who partook.
Washington often put up the “club;” in modern phrase,
he treated the company. In stopping at an ordinary, while
travelling, he records the cost of his “ dinner and club.” In
a few instances the term ‘ punch” is used as synonymous
with ¢ club.” Jonson, in his first folio edition of his dic-
tionary, quotes the following couplet:

‘“ Let sugar, wine, and cream together club, .
To make that gentle viand, syllabub.”

Coffee was in early days a club drink between meals, and
led to the establishment of coffee-houses.

But a saddening cloud casts its shadow on the pages of
this tell-tale cash book. Patey Custis had grown up to be
a beautiful girl, to whom Washington was greatly attached,
but about her fourteenth year she fell into poor health, which
led him and her mother to take the young lady to the differ-
ent Springs and to eminent physicians in adjacent cities. As
time moves on the pages show the coming to Mount Ver-
non of many doctors, the trying of a great variety of popular
medicines, and even some charms. But the end came in 1778,
and for a time cast a deep gloom over the whole house-
hold. Washington’s entries relative to the physicians and
medicines for Patey and her funeral arrangements are
quite pathetic.

These excerpts and inferences, which portray the family
life at Mount Vernon, might be extended, but I apprehend
what has been given will enable all to form as correct an
opinion as this class of testimony can give of the habits and
character of General Washington.
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LETTER OF GENERAL WASHINGTON TO JOSEPH
REED, PRESIDENT OF PENNSYLVANIA, 1779.

CONTRIBUTED BY WILLIAM H. EGLE, M.D.

HEAD QUARTERS, WEST PoINT, 4th October, 1779,
SiR,—

I have the honor to inclose your Excellency the Copy of
a Resolution of Congress of the 26th September, by which
you will perceive they expect the arrival of His Excellency
Count D’Estaing; and that I am directed to pursue meas-
ures for co-operating with him, and to call upon the several
States for such aid as shall appear to me necessary for this
important purpose.

In compliance with these directions, I have made an es-
timate of the force of Militia which will be indispensable,
in conjunction with the Continental Troops; and have ap-
portioned this force to the neighboring States, according
to the best judgment I am able to form from their respec-
tive circumstances and abilities.

The number I have to request of the State of Pennsyl-
vania is Fifteen hundred. I have rated its proportion thus
low from a consideration of the extensive calls upon it for
transportation and other aids, on which our operations must
essentially depend, aund in which all the energy of the State
will be requisite. In forming the estimate of the whole, I
assure your Excellency I have fixed upon the smallest num-
ber which appeared to me adequate to the exigency, ou
account of the scantiness of our supplies, and I think it my
duty explicitly to declare that the co-operation will altogether
depend on a full compliance with these requisitions. If I
am so happy as to obtain the whole number demanded, a
decisive stroke may be attempted against New York with a
reasonable prospect of success. If the supply falls short,
. the disappointment will inevitably produce a failure in the
undertaking. In this case, Congress and my Country must
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excuse & want of enterprise and success of which the want
of means will have been the unfortunate cause. If the honor
and interest of the States suffer from thence, the blame
must not be imputed to me.

I have taken the liberty to dwell on the points to induce
a persuasion that I have not in any degree exaggerated the
number of men really necessary, lest a supposition of this
kind and a regard to the ease of the people should relax the
exertions of the State and occasion a deficiency, which
would certainly be fatal to the views of Congress and to the
expected co-operation.

I am now to add to this request another equally essential
which is that the most effectual and expeditious means be
immediately adopted to have the men drawn out properly
equipped and embodied to serve for the term of three
Months from the time of their joining the army unless the
particular service for which they are drawn out should be
sooner performed. I beg leave to recommend Trenton as a
proper place of rendezvous. If the laws of the State now
in existence or the powers vested in your Excellency are not
competent to these objects, permit me to intreat that the
legislature may be called together without loss of time, and
that you will be pleased to employ your influence to pro-
cure laws for the purpose, framed on such principles as will
secure an instant and certain execution.

There are other objects which I beg leave at the same
time to recommend to the most zealous and serious attention
of the State. These are, making every exertion to promote
the supplies of the army in provisions, particularly in the
article of Flour, and to facilitate the transportation in gen- -
eral of necessaries for the use of the army—our prospects
with respect to Flour are to the last degree embarrassing—
we are already distressed, but when we come to increase the
demand by so large an addition of numbers, we may expect
to be obliged to disband the troops for want of subsistence,
unless the utmost care and energy of the different legisla-
tures are exerted. The difficulties we daily experience on -
the score of transportation justify the equal apprehension
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on that account without a similar attention to this part of
the public service.

These difficulties were sufficient to deter me from the
plan I mean to pursue, were I not convinced that the mag-
" nitude of the object will call forth all the vigor of the States

and inspire the people with a disposition to second the plans
of their Governors, and give efficiency to the measures they
adopt. I doubt not our resources will be found fully ade-

. quate to the undertaking if they are properly exerted, and
when I consider the delicacy of the Crisis—the importance
of the objects to be attained—I cannot doubt that this will be
the case. On one side—the reputation of our Councils and
our arms, and an immediate removal of the War present
themselves: on the other, disgrace and disappointment—an
accumulation of expense—loss of credit with our allies and
with the world—loss of confidence with ourselves, the ex-
hausting of our magazines and resources—the precipitated
decay of our currency and the continuance of the war. Nor
will these evils be confined to ourselves—our allies must
share in them, and suffer the mortification of having accom-
plished nothing to compensate for withdrawing their opera-
tions from a quarter where they had a right to expect
success, and for exposing their own possessions to hazard
in a fruitless attempt to rescue ours.

From the accounts received we are hourly to look for

the appearance of the French Squadron on this Coast—the

- emergency is pressing, and all ouf measures ought to be
attended with suitable expedition. Every moment is of
infinite value. '

With the most perfect confidence on your Excellency’s
exertions and on those of the State. With the greatest
respect and esteem

I have the honor to be
Your Excellency’s
Most obt and hble Servt
G°. WASHINGTON.
His Excell’y, Gov. REED
Penn’a.
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WHERE IS THE ORIGINAL OF THE CHARTER OF
CHARLES THE SECOND TO WILLIAM PENN FOR
THE PROVINCE OF PENNSYLVANIA?.

BY WILLIAM BROOKE RAWLE.

The publication in the last number of the MagazINE of the
letter of Doctor Mease to Governor Snyder, dated Philadel-
phia, January 20, 1812, has suggested the thought that per-
haps some additional information regarding the original of
the Charter of Charles the Second to William Penn for the
Province of Pennsylvania might lead to a discovery of its
present whereabouts. Doctor Mease wrote that ¢ Mr. John
R. Coates, of this city, brought with him two years since from
London the original Charters of Charles the Second and the
Duke of York to William Penn, which upon my suggestion
he was willing to deposit among the archives of the State
upon their removal to the fire-proof offices at Harrisburg,”
under certain conditions.

In his Report of the Pea-Patch Island Case, an arbitra-
tion in 1847 before the Hon. John Sergeant with reference
to the boundary between New Jersey and Delaware, in
which it was decided that the territory of the State of Dela-
ware within ¢ the twelve-miles circle around New Castle,”
extended across the Delaware River to low-water mark on
the Jersey shore, the late John William Wallace, Esquire,
in his usual lucid and explicit manner, furnishes some in-
teresting information concerning the early muniments of
title to the province of Pennsylvania and the Three Lower
Counties upon Delaware, as the present State of Delaware
was called before the Revolution. He is, however, in error
in stating that it was in the year 1834 that Mr. Coates
brought over to this country the original Charter. Mr.
Wallace says:

“ The original of this patent from the King to the Duke
for Delaware, and of the Duke of York’s grant to Penn for
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the twelve-miles circle, were produced before the arbitrator;
having both, with the original charter of Pennsylvania and
two leases of Aug. 24th [1682] to Mr. Penn, mentioned ante,
P. xxxii. n. been brought to Philadelphia, about the year 1834,
by Mr. Coates of that city, an agent of the estates in Penn-
sylvania belonging to Mr. Penn’s descendants in England.
Mr. Coates got possession of them on a visit to his principals
in England. Being at their seat of Stoke Pogis, he was
shewn by them into the Charter-room of their house, where
he was told that he might find some old deeds, &c., that
would interest him as an American, and to which he was
welcome. Happening to find the patents and deeds just
mentioned, he brought them to Philadelphia, where those
relating to Delaware still were, on the hearing of this case.”

That it was in 1810, rather than in 1834, that Mr. Coates
brought to Philadelphia the documents mentioned by Mr.
‘Wallace would seem plain, inasmuch as Mr. Coates was suc-
ceeded in 1815 by General Thomas Cadwalader (of Phila-
delphia) in the agency of the Penn estates in this country.

Upon the death, in 1841, of General Thomas Cadwalader,
he was succeeded in the agency by his son, the late General
George Cadwalader. The late Hon. John Cadwalader acted
as legal adviser for the Penn family and their agents, until
his elevation to the Bench in 1858, when he was succeeded
by the late William Henry Rawle, Esq.

That the original Charter of Pennsylvania was still in the
possession of the representatives of the Penns as late as
1844, and was not handed over to the State authorities, as both
Mr. Coates and Doctor Mease had suggested the propriety
of doing, is made evident by the following letter:

“ PHILADELPHIA, 9 Nov., 1844,
“THOMAS C. HAMBLY, Esq., YORK, PENNA.

“ DEAR SIR:

“To-night I have had the pleasure of seeing Mr. Fisher, your col-
league in the case of Leber v. Kauffelt, and at your request transmit
to you by him the Title papers of Springetsburg Manor in your county,
viz.:

“1681.—Charter to W, Penn.
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“1712.—W. Penn’s Will,

“1725.—Hannah Penn’s Deed of Appointment.

“1746.—3 Exemplifications of the Will of John Penn who died in 1746.

“1751.—Marriage Settlement Thomas Penn, being Lease and Release
14 & 15 Aug. 1761,

‘2 Exemplifications, one on Parchment and one on Paper,
of the Will of Thomas Penn (merely required to prove
pedigree as explained in my former letters).

* 2 Exemplifications, one on Parchment and one on paper,
of the last Will and Probate of Richard Penn, proved in
England with 4 codicils 4 Mar. 1771.

‘ Letters Testamentary and Probate copy of the Will of John
Penn son of Richard (merely to prove pedigree of this
branch of family as heretofore explained) 2 Jany. 1795.

“ Letters of Administration 12 April 1815 of Estate of Rich-
ard Penn son of Richard and father of William (merely
to prove his death).

“ Exemplification Philadelphia County of the letter of Attor-
ney Wm. Penn and wife to Thomas Cadwalader. To make
this evidence on the principle applied to this very paper
in 2 Rawle 18, and previously settled 7 S. & R. 813, I
send you the Office copy of the Survey of Springetsburg
Manor Philadelphia County. For a reason which Mr.
Fisher will explain to you, you will get from Harrisburg
the Commission of Nicholas Scull Surveyor General A. D.
1748 and of his successor John Lukens, December 1761
(see 2 Smiths L. C. 144).

T also send,

“ Deeds recorded in this County (D. 20, 260, D. 19, 561 &c.
D. 42, 497) of Lots in this Manor reserving Ground Rents.
For reasons already explained I send these, although they
appear to me to be superseded by the Survey of the Phil-
adelphia Manor.

I also send,

“Transcripts of the Decrees in Equity of 1824 & 1826, 8
papers.

‘“ An ancient pedigree which Mr, Fisher can prove to have
been found among the original Title papers, and Two
depositions of witnesses since dead, to which is annexed
another Pedigree—some of these papers you may proba-
bly think it unnecessary to use.

“Very Respectfully,
“Yr. Obt. Serv.
“J. CADWALADER,
“per C. H. H.”
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This is the last trace of the important document which
the writer has been able to find.

On September 10, 1869, the Rev. Thomas Gordon Penn
died without issue. He was the last of the descendants of
the Founder to bear his name. As early as 1732 the three
sons of William Penn—John, Thomas, and Richard, the
Joint Proprietaries, as they were termed—executed certain
Articles of Agreement for the purpose of entailing their
estates in Pennsylvania and the Three Lower Counties on
their descendants in tail male, and in default, in tail general.
The male entail having come to an end upon the death of
the Rev. Mr. Penn, it then became necessary to search the
title to ascertain who might be the next tenant in tail gen-
eral. For this purpose the box in which the title-papers
had always been kept was handed over by General Cadwal-
ader to the writer to make the necessary investigation. The
Charter was not among them, but instead of it was found
the letter of 9 November, 1844.

As the ancient documents were found exceedingly diffi-
cult to handle and read, some of them were privately
printed in a pamphlet of 177 pages, entitled ¢ Articles,
Wills and Deeds creating the Entail of Pennsylvania and
Three Lower Counties upon Delaware in The Penn Family.
Philadelphia, 1870.” After much laborious research and
investigation it was ascertained that the entailed estates
vested in tail general in William Stuart, of Aldenham
Abbey, Hertfordshire, and Hill Street, Berkeley Square,
London, the eldest son of William Stuart, Archbishop of
Armagh, by Sophia Margaretta, the eldest daughter of
Thomas Penn, the son of the Founder.

As the last of the name had died, it was thought advisable
for many reasons to ‘“dock the entail.” Accordingly Mr.
Stuart, by deed of August 5, 1870, conveyed all his estate
in Pennsylvania to Mr. William Levi Bull, a student in Mr.
Rawle’s office, acknowledged in proper form for the pur-
pose; and by Deed of September 2, 1870, Mr. Bull recon-
veyed the property to Mr. Stuart in fee simple, free from the
entail. Moreover, in those days—before the era of title-
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insurance companies, and the consequent rapidly-increasing
ignorance of the subject among the profession of the law—
in those days, when there was a class of men at the bar who
were versed in that most interesting, yet most intricate, of
sciences, the law of real property, as doubts were occasion-
ally suggested regarding the regularity of the conveyances
made from time to time by the previous tenants in tail, Mr.
Stuart, on November 11, 1870, executed another deed, the
effect of which was to confirm all previous grants made by
them. ¢ Here,” wrote the late Eli K. Price, Esq., in an arti-
cle in the American Law Register for August, 1871, ¢“is an
act quietly done, and unknown except to a few individuals,
of historical interest, and of great beneficence, and which
fittingly crowns the honorable dealings of all the Penn Pro-
prietaries with their settlers and successors. For more than
a century few, even in the legal profession, have understood
the precise nature of the title and the powers of the Penns
to the soil in Pennsylvania; and they have always been so
honorably represented as to give to settlers and purchasers
entire confidence without inquiry into the wills, articles of
agreement and marriage settlements of the family, few of
which were of record or accessible within the Province or
State, and were first got together and printed in 1870. It
was not known until then what would be the disposition
of the heir coming through a female branch, whether to
attempt to take advantage of defects and omissions, or to
confirm titles made by his predecessors, because he was
wholly unknown to us. The deed above recited sufficiently
proves that to William Stuart, Esq., we owe thanks and
gratitude, and that we should hold his name and memory in
honor, in common with all the Penns in their relations with
the people of Pennsylvania.”

In former times, when titles to land were not as well
established as they now are, the Penn title-papers were
occasionally sent into the back counties of the State for use
as evidence in ejectment or other suits, as in the case in
York County referred to in Judge Cadwalader’s letter to
Mr. Hambly. Can it be that the Charter is still reposing



Original of the Charter of Charles II. to William Penn. 91

quietly among the papers of some old-time lawyer, or in
the dusty files of some prothonotary’s office ?

Some years ago, when the writer became the agent for the
Penn estates in Pennsylvania, the box of title-papers with
its contents was deposited for safe keeping in the fire-proof
vaults of the Historical Society of Pennsylvania, where it
now is. The original of the Charter should be there also.

In 1878 there was published under the authority of the
Commonwealth, in connection with the second series of
“ Pennsylvania Archives,” what purported to be a “Fac-
simile of the Charter granted by Charles the Second to
William Penn for the ¢ Province of Pensilvania,” Engraved
from the Original on file in the Office of the Secretary of
the Commonwealth.” If the wiseacres at Harrisburg had
but shaken their wits together for one moment, they might
have seen at a glance that the beautifully illuminated, illus-
trated, and rubricated document was but & copy made more
than a year after the date of the original Charter. More-
over, it is not a copy of the Charter as it ultimately passed
the Great Seal, but merely a copy of the record of the
Charter as it passed the Privy Seal. And in the eighth
volume of the series there appeared as a frontispiece what
purported to be a ¢ Fac-simile of the remaining portion of
the waxen seal attached to the Charter of the Province of
Pennsylvania granted by Charles II. to William Penn.”
That, however, the seal was actually the G'reat Seal of the
Province of New York during the reign of George the Second was
conclusively shown by the writer in “ Notes and Queries,”
Vol. IV., PENNSYLVANIA MagazINE oF HisTorY AND Broe-
RAPHY, page 518. In a reply thereto, published in Vol. V. of
the MaGAZINE, page 239, Mr. John Blair Linn, oue of the
editors of the ¢ Archives,” stated that they were not respon-
sible for prefacing the volume ¢ with the circus tapestry or
molluscan drawing, purporting to be a copy of the Charter
Seal. In a volume of Marriages, its appearance is so sug-
gestive of idiocy, it might have been suspected there was
some mistake. The editors did not know it was there until
after they received the bound copies. Whether made to
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adorn the geological reports, or for what other purpose, it is
very certain the editors never ordered it for the ¢ Archives,’
and it was flung into vol. viii. without their consent or
knowledge. The only remedy now, for all who have copies,
is to scissor it out.” But the question still remains: How
did it happen that the much-treasured document at Harris-
burg has for so many years been passed off as the original
Charter, and further and finally, to end as we began,
“ WHERE IS THE ORIGINAL CHARTER NOW ?”
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EXTRACTS FROM THE DIARY OF JACOB HILTZ-
HEIMER, OF PHILADELPHIA, 1768-1798.

[Jacob Hiltzheimer, at the age of nineteen, left his native city of Man-
heim, on the Rhine, for Rotterdam, where on the 5th of September,
1748, he embarked on the ship “ Edenburg” for Philadelphia. Soon after
his arrival he was apprenticed to John Nagle, a silversmith, on Front
Street. At the expiration of his term of service, the confinement of the
shop not being congenial to his active disposition, he decided to engage
in farming and the raising of fine stock, and commenced by leasing land
in the suburbs of the city. He took part in the campaign to resist the
encroachments of the French on the river Ohio and on the lakes to the
westward, and for his services was entitled to a portion of * back lands,”
under the king’s proclamation of October, 1763. During the war for
independence he was attached to the First Battalion City Militia, and
connected with the Quartermaster’s Department, in which herendered val-
uable service to the army in the field. He was also a member of the Patri-
otic Society. As Street Commissioner for three years, he discharged the
duties of the office in a manner worthy the emulation of public servants
at the present day. He was elected, in 1786, a representative of the city
in the Assembly, and served for eleven consecutive years, being Chair-
man of the Committee on Claims and other important committees. In
all public movements he took an active interest; was Vice-President of
the German SBociety, a member of the Society for Promoting Agricult-
ure, the Society for the Promotion of Domestic Manufactures, and the
Fire Department. In 1761, he married Hannah Walker, a Friend, and
established his home on the east side of Seventh Street, the first door
below Market. After passing through the epidemics of 1798 and 1797,
he died of the yellow fever in September of 1798. Mr. Hiltzheimer’s
daily record of thirty years affords ample evidence that he enjoyed in
large measure the confidence and esteem of his fellow-citizens, and also
sheds a bright light upon his home-life.

We are indebted to the courtesy of his great-grandson, Mr. Jacob Cox
Parsons, of New York, for the privilege of transcribing the following
extracts from the diary.—Ep. PENNA. MAa.]

1768.

February 22.—Bought a bay horse of George Rossell, four
years old next grass, for our Governor Penn, for £28.

February 27.—Went to a barbecue at Robert Smith’s
country place, and from there to William Jones’s at Green-
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wich Hall, with the following gentlemen: Jos. Fox, Samuel
Morris, Samuel Miles, Samuel Nichols, Robert Smith, John
Smith, Robert Erwin, William Jones, Francis Trimble,
Captain Musket, Captain Jones, and Henry Elwes Sen’.

March 12.—Drank punch with Levi Hollingsworth, who
was married last Thursday, to one of Stephen Paschal’s
daughters.

June 26.—With my two sons went to Joseph Galloway’s
place, to eat Turtle, with Daniel Wister and others.

August 12—Went up Wissahickon road to set up mile
stones. Dined at Leberons with HHugh Roberts, Pearson
Smith, Edward Milner, John Lukens, Surveyor, and —
Chambers, stone cutter. Then went to Christopher Robins’,
and a little beyond his house set up the xiii mile stone.

November 5.—Dined at Greenwich Hall, on beefsteaks,
with Esquire Fox, Esquire Parr, Samuel Morris, Judah
Foulke, Clement Biddle, Robert Erwin, William Jones and
Andrew Bankson.

December 12.—Went to Darby to funeral of John Rudolph.
Israel Morris, Samuel Nichols, Joseph Jones and myself
carried the corps to the grave in Friends ground.

1769.

March 5.—Robert Hopkins’ house at Point no Point was
burned down to the ground yesterday.

April 15.—Dined on Fish at Greenwich Hall, with Joseph
Fox, Samuel Miflin, William Parr, Judah Foulke, Tench
Francis, Reynold Keen, Audrew Bankson, Henry Drinker,
Joseph Wharton Jr., Edward Penington, Capt. Story,
Doctor Cadwalader Evans and others.

May 12.—In the morning took a ride with Joseph Red-
man in a chair; went to Henry Keppelle Jr. to drink punch
and wish him joy on the birth of a son.

September 28.— At noon started for the £100. purse the
following horses: James De Lancey’s bay horse Lath, 6
years old; Mr. Mc@ill’s bay horse Nonparil, 5 years old;
Governor Sharpe’s gray mare Britania, 5 years old ; Richard
Tidmarsh’s horse Northumberland. Lath won.
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1770.

January 7.—This evening I read a sermon delivered by
Morgan Edwards the 1st inst. to a number of hearers at the
Baptist Church in this city, wherein he modestly foretells his
own death.

March 6.—To-day James De Lancey Esq. of New York
and Timothy Matlack had a great cock fight at Joseph Rich-
ardson’s on Germantown road.

March 10.—Members of the Amicable Fire Company met
at the Widow Jenkins; paid 50 shillings towards the new
engine made by Richard Mason, which is the eighth he has
made. It is said Mason made the first fire engine in this
country.

March 15.—Edward Penington and Clement Biddle
called on me with a subscription paper to encourage the
manufacture of silk here. Isubscribed 40 shillings. In the
evening went to hear Mr. Pillmore preach on Fourth street,
for the benefit of prisoners.

April 16.—Went to William Jones’s to drink punch with
his new son-in-law Anthony Morris.

May 8.—DBreakfasted with Alvaro Deornellas, who has
rented the Macpherson place [Mount Pleasant, in Fairmount
Park] for the Summer.

May 24.—At Tench Francis’s vendue, two miles from
town, I bought six acres of land for £88 per acre.! At
same time was sold 34 lots, containing 331 acres, amounting
to £7544.

July 14.—This afternoon went to the State house to con-
sult about the non-importation of goods from Great Britain,
Joseph Fox Chairman.

July 28.—My wife and self spent the day with friends
at Fort St. David [Falls of Schuylkill] and Mr. Alexander
Alair was kind enough to cook for the company.

August 9.—Visited Mr. Deornella’s at Mount Pleasant.
He pays Macpherson £70 rent for the summer season, in-
cluding use of furniture.

! To this little farm Mr. Hiltzheimer gave the name of “ Gravel Hill.”
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August 26.—Went with Thomas Wishard to the Bank
meeting to hear Rebecca Jones, a single woman preach.

1772.

May 22.—Richard Penn, Governor of this Province, was
married to Miss Polly Masters last night, and so was Mr.
Samuel Meredith to one of Doctor Cadwalader’s daughters.

September 19.—With my family weut to see J. Bates per-
form different feats of horsemanship on one, two and three
horses.

1778.

January 17.—Went to the burial of John Biddle’s wife;
walked with Joseph, son of Israel Pemberton; Samuel
Emlen preached.

January 80.—Thomas Miflin, Andrew Hamilton, Norton
Pryor and Mr. Stoneburner called to see me.

February 22.—Very cold. River Delaware frozen over last
night. Atsix o’clock this morning Daniel Wister’s thermom-
eter was 4 below 0, and at seven o’clock 2 below 0, and
Thomas Pryor’s at the same hour 0. So it appears that it
is two degrees colder on Market street than it is on Water
street.

July 9.—On invitation of Robert Roberts, went over
Schuylkill to the Liberty Fishing house, and dined with
thirty gentlemen. After dinner crossed to John Miffiin’s
place to see the windmill pump water for his garden and
meadow.

August 81.—John Penn, who was proclaimed Governor
yesterday, came to my stable to look at his mares, he sent
from England.

October 31.—Went down to Mud Island to see the Fort
which is being built—it was commenced about seventeen
months ago. Dined at Samuel Penrose’s at Schuylkill
Ferry.

1774.

January 22.—Very cold. With my two sons, went with
Charles Massey to Schuylkill to see him skate, as it is
admitted he is one of the very best at that exercise.
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January 26.—In the afternoon went to the funeral of
William Ibison ; body taken from Isaac Howell’s to Friends’
ground.

February 7.—This morning George and David Seckel
killed my big steer Roger, now near six years old.!

May 2.—The effigies of Alexander Widdeburne Esq.,
and of Thomas Hutchinson, Governor of Massachusetts
Bay, after being exposed for several hours in a cart, they
were hung on a gallows erected near the Coffee House,
get in flames by electrio fire and consumed to ashes about six
o’clock in the evening.

August 29.—Thomas Cushing, Samuel Adams, John
Adams and Robert Treat Paine, delegates from Boston, ar-
rived this evening.

September 1.—This morning went to Church to hear Rev.
Mr. Weinberg preach a sermon suitable to the meeting of
the great Congress on next Monday. His text was Proverbs
xvi. 9.

September 5.—The general Congress met at Carpenters’
Hall, forty odd delegates present, who chose Peyton Ran-
dolph, Chairman, and Charles Thomson, (who is not a dele-
gate,) their Secretary.

September 10.—Took supper at the new gaol, opposite the
State house yard—a part of the gaol was raised to-day. Jo-
seph Fox and Edward Duffield, of the managers, gave the
workmen a supper, and afterwards they asked a few of their
friends to the north-east corner room, where something was
provided for them separately: William Fisher, Mayor;
Thomas Lawrence, Sen®.; Reynold Keen; Robert Smith;
James Pearson; Judah Foulke; William Jones; William
Gray, and myself. _

September 11.—Went to the burial of Richard Hockley,
Esq.; he was buried in Baptist ground.

! The following day the diarist, with about twenty friends, repaired to
the slaughter-house of the Seckels, where Timothy Matlack certified to
the net weight being 1678 pounds, and offered the following toast:
“ May the friends of America be fed with such beef, and may her ene-
mies long for it and be disappointed.”

Vor. xvi—7
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September 16.— A number of gentlemen gave a dinner at
the State house, to the delegates from the several Provinces
now sitting in Carpenters’ Hall.

September 18.—Went to Robert Morris’s place, to see the
English cow, lately come over.

[The diaries for the years 1775 and 1776 were borrowed
by a friend, ¢ who failed to return them.””]

1774,

March 9.—Went to Province Island with the following
gentlemen: Col. George Taylor, Col. Paschall, Col. Brod-
head, Col. William Henry; Capt. John Webb and others.
‘Webb has taken the tavern and ferry and eight acres of
land at £90. per annum.

March 18.—Went with the Messrs. Souder to the Schuyl-
kill and laid out the Light Horse stables.

April 17.—Breakfasted at Mr. John Mifflin’s with Gen.
Thomas Mifflin, Major Jonathan Miffiin and Major Ottendorf.
Spent the evening with Mr. John Hancock, president of
Congress, on Chestnut street.

May 22.—In the morning went to Kensington with Gen-
erals Schuyler and Mifflin to see the boats placed on wagons;
and in the evening with Gen. Schuyler, Gen. Mifflin, and
four delegates in Congress, inspected the Schuylkill bridge
and stables.

June 17.—Mrs. Dickinson, Generals Gates and Mifilin and
myself visited the Schuylkill stables.

June 30.—In the afternoon visited the Schuylkill stables,
which are full of light horse, and from thence to Gov.
Penn’s woods to see the camp of North Carolina troops.

July 13.—Called on Gen. Gates in Front street.

July 27.—General Mifflin, who returned from the army
last night, told me that the enemy are coming around to our
Cape, where seventy vessels have already made their ap-
pearance.

July 28.—This afternoon paid Jacob Graff, Jr. for the
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house and lot at the corner of Seventh and High streets,
and received the deed for the same.

July 30.—With Capt. Van Horn went to the [Province]
Island, and from there to the camp at the five mile stone on
Chester road.

July 81.—At 10 o’clock to-night His Excellency Gen.
‘Washington came to town with about 200 Light horse.

August 7.—Visited the camp near and about Germantown.

August 24.—Our army commanded by Gen. Washington
marched through the city; supposed to be about 12,000
strong. They crossed over the bridge at Schuylkill, went
four miles and then returned.

September 7.—This morning Mr. Hancock and his lady set
out for Boston.

September 11.—His Excellency Gen. Washington had an
engagement with Gen. Howe at Brandywine—the English
lost in killed and wounded 1976.

September 14.—Went to Province Island and brought off
the Continental horses, and then by orders of Gen. Wash-
ington put it under water.

September 16.—At 11 o’clock Gen. du Coudray, with nine
French officers, set off for camp over Schuylkill. The Gen-
eral remained mounted in the boat; his horse leaped over-
board and thereby drowned the General. In the evening I
went to the Schuylkill and saw his body taken from the water.

September 19.—News came to town that Gen. Howe’s
army are crossing Schuylkill at the Swedes’ Ford, which
set people moving. Congress and all other public bodies
were off by daylight. I sent George Nelson off with the
money, books and papers belonging to the public, to Mr.
Hunt’s [at Trenton], in Jersey.

September 28.—The city much alarmed and people moving
out.

September 24.—Left the city with my whole family ; dined
at Bristol, and then went to Abraham Hunt’s.

September 26.—This day the English entered Philadelphia.

1 The house in which Jefferson wrote the Declaration of Independence.
The sum paid was £1775.
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October 6.—Set off from Hunt’s with my family for Read-
ing, Penna.

October 11.—8ettled with my family on the farm of Gen.
Mifflin [Angelica], three-miles from Reading.

November 9.—Dined at Gen. Mifflin’s, with his lady,
Miss Mifflin, the Miss Morris’s, Hannah Sherman, Mr.
Searle, Mr. Anspach and Mr. Whitington.

1778.

February 11.—Had Generals Oliver Wolcott and Sam.
Huntingdon to breakfast.

1770.

February 22.—Attended a meeting of the Republican
Club, at Duff’s Tavern, thirty-tvo members present.

February 25.—This evening my horse returned from
camp, which Lady Washington had used in her carriage
gince the 2d inst.

April 4.—Francis Lightfoot Lee and Abraham Hunt took
tea with me.

June 12.—Went to the Commons to see Col. W. White’s
Light horse reviewed by Gen. Wayne.

July 16.—Went to the War Office, and received instruc-
tions to examine horses and wagons bought for the public.

July 29.—John Grau set off with his brigade of twenty
wagons for West Point—thirteen wagons are loaded with
cannons. '

August 6.—My son Boby left for camp with a chestnut
gelding for Major General Knox Q. M. G.

September 21.—Attended the burial of George Bechtel.
The same day arrived the second French Ambassador.
Yesterday was buried Joseph Redman.

November 11.—Went to the burial of Hon. Joseph Hewes,
member of Congress from North Carolina, in Christ Church
yard. Rev. Mr. White took his text from 1 Corinthians
xv. 55.

December 21.—Lady Washington arrived here from Vir-
ginia, with seven horses. [Dec. 27. 8he left for camp.]
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1780.

January 2.—Early this morning a fire broke out in Mr.
Penn’s house on Market street, occupied by Mr. Holker,
the French consul, which destroyed all but the first floor.

February 24.—Visited the Treasury Board and applied
for money to enable me to purchase forage for horses be-
longing to members of Congress, agreeably to a resolve of
Congress 16* inst.

March 10.—Dined near Germantown with Doctors Ship-
pen, Bond, and Craigie, and Thomas Smith and Joseph
Shippen.

March 17.—Took my family to see Mr. Templeman per-
form on the wire and flying down a rope, and many other
surprising performances.

May 14.—Gouverneur Morris Esq., member of Congress
broke his leg by jumping out of a phaeton as the horses
were running away.

May 22.—The militia went to the field and were reviewed
by President Reed and the French Ambassador.

August 1.—Examined eighty horses purchased for the
French army.

August 12.—In the afternoon went over Schuylkill to
Isaac Warner’s fish house, where I met several gentlemen.

August 18.—With Col. Miles went to George Bryan Ksq.
to qualify according to a resolve of Congress to enable us to
act in the Quarter Master’s department.

August 19.—Last night at 12 o’clock a fire broke out
in the Continental smith’s shop on Chestnut strect, and
burned part of the carpenter shop near it.

September 19.—Mr. George Mifflin and myself went to the
burial of the wife of Hon. Joseph Reed.

September 29.—Abraham Hunt came from Trenton and
brought the news that Gen. Arnold went from West Point
in to the enemy.

October 15.—Summers and Karch set off for camp with
loads for His Excellency General Washington.

November 4.—Dined with General Mifflin, Col. Mark Bird,
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and Col. John Patton, at Mrs. Pauls, sign of the Indian
King.

December 1.—Lady Washington came to town last night,
and went on to camp to-day.

1781.

January 1.—This afternoon Timothy Matlack Esq. and
‘Whitehead Humphrey, met in Market street between Fifth
and Bixth Streets, where after some words they got to
blows.

February 8.—Major Edward Giles brought the good news
from the southward of Gen. Morgan beating the British.
Killed, 100; wounded, 200; 500 prisoners, 2 field pieces,
100 Dragoon horses and 85 baggage wagons.

February 26.—Col. Miles called me up at 1 o’clock at
night to send off an express to head of Elk.

February 28.—Accompanied Col. Miles to the ordinance
yard to inspect the cannon being put in wagons to go to
the head of Elk.

May 17.—Colonel Samuel Mifflin’s body was brought
from Reading yesterday and buried here to-day.

June 2—Went to the Assembly and heard Robert Morris
speak concerning finances, and recommend to the House to
take off the Tender Act.

June 27.—Early this morning some cannon were fired off
on the river. A cannon ball of a pound weight, struck my
stable door, passed through it and struck against the wall,
rebounded across the street into Christopher Bierley’s yard,
who picked it up and presented it to me.

August 30.—His Excellency Gen. Washington, who has
not been here since Feb. 2, 1779, arrived about 1 o’clock.
[Washington proceeded southward Sept. 5.]

(To be continued.)
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A LOYALIST'S ACCOUNT OF CERTAIN OCCURRENCES
IN PHILADELPHIA AFTER CORNWALLIS'S SUR-
RENDER AT YORKTOWN.

EXTRACTED FROM THE DIARY OF MISS ANNA RAWLE.

[The writer was the daughter of Francis Rawle, deceased, and Rebecca
(Warner), whose second husband was Samuel Shoemaker, the well-
known Loyalist. The latter had gone to New York City just before the
evacuation of Philadelphia by the British troops. Mrs. Shoemaker was
also in New York at the time of the occurrences related, and the diary
was kept for her entertainment. A short sketch of Mr. S8hoemaker,
with an account of his interview with King George III. is given in
PENNA. MAG,, vol. ii. p. 85. The writer and her sister Margaret (after-
wards the wife of Isaac Wharton) were, during their parents’ absence,
living with their grandmother, Mrs. Edward Warner (né Anna Cole-
man), in Arch Street, between Front and S8econd Streeta. The writer
afterwards married John Clifford, and their only surviving child, Re-
becca, became the wife of John Pemberton. Thompson Westcott gives
the following account of the arrival of the intelligence of Lord Corn-
wallis’s surrender: “About three o’clock on the morning of the 22d
of October, an express-rider, bringing the news of the surrender of
Cornwallis, reached the city and was conducted to the residence of
Thomas McKean, President of Congress, by an old German watchman,
who, after the dispatches had been delivered, proclaimed in a loud,
sonorous tone, ‘ Basht dree o’clock and Qornwallis isht daken.” The
news spread rapidly through the town, and when daylight came
the rejoicing was general. By order of the Executive Council, how-
ever, the public celebration of the victory was delayed until the
arrival of official confirmation of the news. On the 24th, Colonel
Tench Tilghman, aide to General Washington, and a Philadelphian,
arrived with dispatches from the commander-in-chief, announcing
the capitulation. At eleven o’clock, the vice-president of the State
and Executive Council waited upon President McKean, the members
of Congress and the French Minister, in order to exchange congratu-
lations on the great event. The standard of the State was raised,
and at twelve o’clock salutes were fired by the artillery in the
State-House yard and by the vessels in the harbor, which aleo displayed
their colors. In the afternoon, Congress, the State Council, M. de
Luzerne and others, went in procession to the Dutch Lutheran Church,
where a service of thanksgiving was performed by the Rev. Mr. Dufield,
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one of the chaplains to Congress. In the evening there was a general
illumination, and on the following evening a display of fireworks.”—
W.B.R.]

October 22, 1781.—Second day. The first thing I heard
this morning was that Lord Cornwallis had surrendered to
the French and Americans—intelligence as surprizing as
vexatious. People who are so stupidly regardless of their
own interests are undeserving of compassion, but one
cannot help lamenting that the fate of so many worthy per-
sous should be connected with the failure or success of the
British army. Uncle Howell ! came in soon after breakfast,
and tho’ he is neither Whig nor Tory, looked as if he had
sat up all night; he was glad to see all here so cheerful, he
said. When he was gone Ben Shoemaker ? arrived ; he was
told it as he came along, and was astonished. However, as
there is no letter from Washington, we flatter ourselves that
it is not true. . . .

October 24.—Fourth day. I feel in a most unsettled
bhumour. I can neither read, work or give my attention one
moment to anything. It is too true that Cornwallis is
taken. Tilghman is just arrived with dispatches from
Washington which confirm it. B. 8. came here and shewed
us some papers; long conversations we often have together
on the melancholy situation of things.

October 25.—Fifth day. I suppose, dear Mammy, thee
would not have imagined this house to be illuminated last
night, but it was. A mob surrounded it, broke the shutters
and the glass of the windows, and were coming in, none
but forlorn women here. We for a time listened for their
attacks in fear and trembling till, finding them grow more
loud and violent, not knowing what to do, we ran into the
yard. Warm Whigs of one side, and Hartley’s® of the

1 Joshua Howell, who had married Mrs. S8amuel S8hoemaker’s sister
Catharine, daughter of Edward and Anna (Coleman) Warner.

? Benjamin Shoemaker, son of Samuel S8hoemaker by his first wife
Hannah, daughter of Samuel Carpenter the second, by his wife Hannah,
daughter of Samuel Preston. Benjamin Shoemaker married Mrs, S8am-

uel Shoemaker’s sister, Elizabeth Warner.
$ James Hartley, merchant.
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other (who were treated even worse than we), rendered it
impossible for us to escape that way. We had not been
there many minutes before we were drove back by the sight
of two men climbing the fence. We thought the mob were
coming in thro’ there, but it proved to be Coburn and Bob.
Shewell, who called to us not to be frightened, and fixed
lights up at the windows, which pacified the mob, and after
three huzzas they moved off. A number of men came in
afterwards to see us. French and J. B. nailed boards up at
the broken pannels, or it would not have been safe to have
gone to bed. Coburn and Shewell were really very kind ;
had it not been for them I really believe the house would
have been pulled down. Even the firm Uncle Fisher! was
obliged to submit to have his windows illuminated, for they
had pickaxes and iron bars with which they had done con-
giderable injury to his house, and would soon have demol-
ished it had not some of the Hodges? and other people got
in back and acted as they pleased. All Uncle’s sons were
out, but Sammy,® and if they had been at home it was in
vain to oppose them. In short it was the most alarming
scene I ever remember. For two hours we had the disa-
greeable noise of stones banging about, glass crashing, and
the tumultuous voices of a large body of men, as they were
a long time at the different houses in the neighbourhood.
At last thcy were victorious, and it was one general illumi-
nation throughout the town. As we had not the pleasure
of seeing any of thé gentlemen in the house, nor the furni-
ture cut up, and goods stolen, nor been beat, nor pistols
pointed at our breasts, we may count our sufferings slight
compared to many others. Mr. Gibbs was obliged to make

! William Fisher, merchant, who married Mrs. S8amuel Shoemaker’s
aunt, Sarah (Coleman). He also lived in Arch Street between Front and
Second Streets. He was a member of the Common Council of Phila-
delphia from 1767 to 1770, of the Board of Aldermen from 1770 to the
fall of the Charter government in 1776, and Mayor of the City 1778
1774,

? Andrew and Hugh Hodge, merchanta.

$ The late Samuel W. Fisher, President of the Philadelphia Insurance
Company, and President of Select Council 1811-1813.
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his escape over a fence, and while his wife was endeavouring
to shield him from the rage of one of the men, she received
a violent bruise in the breast, and a blow in the face which
made her nose bleed. Ben. Shoemaker was here this morn-
ing; tho’ exceedingly threatened he says he came off with the
loss of four panes of glass. Some Whig friends put candles
in the windows which made his peace with the mob, and
they retired. John Drinker! has lost half the goods out of
his shop and been beat by them; in short the sufferings of
those they pleased to style Tories would fill a volume and
shake the credulity of those who were not here on that
memorable night, and to-day Philadelphia makes an uncom-
mon appearance, which ought to cover the Whigs with
eternal confusion. A neighbour of ours had the effrontery to
tell Mrs. G. that he was sorry for her furniture, but not for
her windows—a ridiculous distinction that many of them
make. J. Head has nothing left whole in his parlour.
Uncle Penington ? lost & good deal of window-glass. Aunt
Burge® preserved hers thro’ the care of some of her neigh-
bours. [The Drinkers and Walns make heavy complaints
of the Carolinians in their neighbourhood. Walns’ pickles
were thrown about the streets and barrells of sugar stolen.
Grandmammy was the most composed of anybody here.

1% Qctober 19. Y* 17th of this month, October, Gen' Cornwallis was
taken, for which we grievously suffered on y* 24th, by way of rejoicing.
A mob assembled about 7 o’clock or before, andcontinued their insults
until near 10, to those whose Houses were not illuminated. Scarcely
one Friend’s House escaped. We had nearly 70 panes of glass broken ;
y° sash lights and two panels of the front Parlor broke in pieces; y*
Door cracked and violently burst open; when they threw stones into y*
House for some time, but did not enter. Some fared better and some
worse. Some Houses, after breaking y* door, they entered, and destroyed
the Furniture, &c. Many women and children were frightened into
fits, and ’tis a mercy no lives were lost.”—Eztract from the Journal of
Elizabeth Drinker, p. 1317.

? Edward Penington, who had married Sarah, the sister of Samuel
Shoemaker.

3 Beulah Burge, a sister of Samuel S8hoemaker, widow of Samuel
Burge. Their daughter Sarah married, in 1783, William Rawle, the
elder, who was a brother of the diarist.
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‘Was I not sure, my dearest Mother, that you would have
very exaggerated accounts of this affair from others, and
would probably be uneasy for the fate of our friends, T would
be entirely silent about it, but as you will hear it from some
one or another, not mentioning it will seem as if we had
suffered exceedingly, and I hope I may depend on the safety
of this opportunity.

People did nothing to-day but condole and enquire into
each others honourable losses. Amongst a greatvariety who
were here was Aunt Rawle ;! next to her sisters this was the
family, she said, whom she felt most interested for ; her visit
was quite unexpected. Uncle and Aunt Howell went from
here to Edgely* this morning. Aunt Betsy to tea. Becky
Fisher and her brother in the evening.

October 26.—8ixth day. Neighbor Waln and Ben. S8hoe-
maker were here in the afternoon. Juliet,® Polly Foulke
and James Fisher* came to see us in the evening; the con-
versation as usual on the late disturbances. It seems
universally agreed that Philadelphia will no longer be that
happy asylum for the Quakers that it once was. Those
joyful days when all was prosperity and peace are gone,
<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>